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NOTICE TO INVESTORS

Our Company has furnished and accepts full responsibility for all of the information contained in this Preliminary
Placement Document and confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, this Preliminary Placement Document contains all information with respect to our Company and its
Subsidiaries and the Equity Shares which our Company considers material in the context of the Issue. The
statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document relating to our Company, its Subsidiaries and the
Equity Shares are, in all material respects, true, accurate and not misleading, and the opinions and intentions
expressed in this Preliminary Placement Document with regard to our Company, its Subsidiaries and the Equity
Shares are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on
reasonable assumptions and information presently available to us. There are no other facts in relation to our
Company, its Subsidiaries and the Equity Shares, the omission of which would, in the context of the Issue, make
any statement in this Preliminary Placement Document misleading in any material respect. Further, our Company
has made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and
statements. Unless otherwise stated, all information in this Preliminary Placement Document is provided as of the
date of this Preliminary Placement Document and neither our Company nor the Book Running Lead Manager (as
defined hereinafter) have any obligation to update such information to a later date.

The information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document has been provided by our Company and from
other sources identified herein. DAM Capital Advisors Limited (the “Book Running Lead Manager”) has not
separately verified all of the information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document (financial, legal or
otherwise). Accordingly, neither the Book Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective shareholders,
employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates or any other affiliates make any express
or implied representation, warranty or undertaking, and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Book
Running Lead Manager or any of its respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors,
representatives, agents, associates or any other affiliates as to the accuracy or completeness of the information
contained in this Preliminary Placement Document or any other information (financial, legal or otherwise)
supplied in connection with the Issue or the distribution of this Preliminary Placement Document. Each person
receiving this Preliminary Placement Document acknowledges that such person has neither relied on the Book
Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors,
representatives, agents, associates or any other affiliates in connection with such person’s investigation of the
accuracy of such information or such person’s investment decision, and each such person must rely on its own
examination of our Company and the merits and risks involved in investing in the Equity Shares issued pursuant
to the Issue.

This Preliminary Placement Document is being furnished on a confidential basis solely for the purpose of enabling
prospective Eligible QIBs to consider subscribing for the particular securities described herein. Distribution of
this Preliminary Placement Document to any person other than the Eligible QIBs, and those persons, if any,
retained to advise such investor with respect thereto, is unauthorised, and any disclosure of its contents, without
prior written consent of our Company, is prohibited. Any reproduction or distribution of this Preliminary
Placement Document, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its contents to any other person is prohibited.
Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery of this Preliminary Placement Document, agrees to observe the
foregoing restrictions and make no copies of this Preliminary Placement Document or any offering material in
connection with the Equity Shares.

No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Preliminary
Placement Document and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having
been authorised by, or on behalf of the Book Running Lead Manager. The delivery of this Preliminary Placement
Document at any time does not imply that the information contained in it is correct as of any time subsequent to
its date.

The Equity Shares offered in the Issue have not been approved, disapproved or recommended by any regulatory
authority in any jurisdiction, including SEBI, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”),
any other federal or state authorities in the United States or the securities authorities of any non-United States
jurisdiction or any other United States or non-United States regulatory authority. No authority has passed on or
endorsed the merits of the Issue or the accuracy or adequacy of this Preliminary Placement Document. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States and may be a criminal offence in other
jurisdictions.



Subscribers and purchasers of the Equity Shares will be deemed to make the representations, warranties,
acknowledgements and agreements set forth in “Representations by Investors”, “Selling Restrictions” and
“Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 4, 193 and 201 respectively of this
Preliminary Placement Document.

The distribution of this Preliminary Placement Document and the issue of the Equity Shares in certain jurisdictions
may be restricted by applicable laws. As such, this Preliminary Placement Document does not constitute, and may
not be used for or in connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or
solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. In
particular, no action has been taken by our Company or the Book Running Lead Manager which would permit an
offering of the Equity Shares or distribution of this Preliminary Placement Document in any jurisdiction other
than India where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Equity Shares may not be offered or sold,
directly or indirectly, and neither this Preliminary Placement Document nor any Issue materials in connection
with the Equity Shares may be distributed or published in or from any country or jurisdiction that would require
registration of the Equity Shares in such country or jurisdiction. The Equity Shares offered in the Issue have not
been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any state securities laws in the United States, and
unless so registered may not be offered or sold within the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from,
or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state
securities laws. Accordingly, such Equity Shares are being offered and sold (i) outside the United States in
offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act and the applicable laws of the
jurisdiction where those offers and sales occur; and (ii) within the United States to “qualified institutional buyers”
(as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act), pursuant to the private placement exemption set out in
Section 4(a)(2) of the U.S. Securities Act.. The Equity Shares are transferable only in accordance with the
restrictions described under the sections titled “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser
Representations” on pages 193 and 201, respectively.

In making an investment decision, the prospective investors must rely on their own examination of our Company,
its Subsidiaries, the Equity Shares and the terms of the Issue, including the merits and risks involved. Prospective
investors should not construe the contents of this Preliminary Placement Document as legal, business, tax,
accounting or investment advice. Prospective investors should consult their own counsel and advisors as to
business, legal, tax, accounting, investment and related matters concerning the Issue. In addition, neither our
Company nor the Book Running Lead Manager are making any representation to any offeree or subscriber of the
Equity Shares regarding the legality of an investment in the Equity Shares by such offeree or subscriber under
applicable laws or regulations. The prospective investors of the Equity Shares should conduct their own due
diligence on the Equity Shares and our Company.

Each Bidder in the Issue is deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it is an Eligible QIB
and is eligible to invest in India and in our Company under Indian laws, including Chapter VI of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations and Section 42 (read with Rule 14 of the PAS Rules) and other applicable provisions of
the Companies Act, 2013, and that it is not prohibited by SEBI or any other regulatory, statutory or judicial
authority from buying, selling or dealing in securities including the Equity Shares or otherwise accessing
the capital markets in India. This Preliminary Placement Document contains summaries of certain terms
of certain documents, which are qualified in their entirety by the terms and conditions of such documents
and disclosures included in the section titled “Risk Factors” on page 47.

Our Company and the Book Running Lead Manager are not liable for any amendment or modification or change
to applicable laws or regulations, which may occur after the date of this Preliminary Placement Document.

The information on our Company’s website at www.aurionpro.com, the websites of any of its Subsidiaries or any
website directly or indirectly linked to our Company’s website or the website of the Book Running Lead Manager,
its respective associates or affiliates, does not constitute or form part of this Preliminary Placement Document.
Prospective investors should not rely on any such information contained in, or available through, any such
websites.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE UNITED STATES

THE EQUITY SHARES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER U.S. FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES
HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS



PRELIMINARY PLACEMENT DOCUMENT OR APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED THE EQUITY SHARES.
ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.
IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION
OF THE COMPANY AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFER, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS
INVOLVED.

THE EQUITY SHARES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S.
SECURITIES ACT OR ANY OTHER APPLICABLE LAW OF THE UNITED STATES AND, UNLESS SO
REGISTERED, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES EXCEPT PURSUANT
TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
ACCORDINGLY, THE EQUITY SHARES ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD (A) IN THE UNITED
STATES ONLY TO U.S. QIBS AND IN TRANSACTIONS EXEMPT FROM THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT AND (B) OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN
“OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS”, AS DEFINED, AND IN RELIANCE ON, REGULATION S UNDER AND
THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE JURISDICTIONS WHERE THOSE OFFERS AND SALES ARE MADE.
THE EQUITY SHARES ARE TRANSFERABLE ONLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS
DESCRIBED UNDER THE SECTIONS “SELLING RESTRICTIONS” AND “TRANSFER RESTRCITIONS AND
PURCHASE REPRESENTATIONS” ON PAGES 193 AND 201, RESPECTIVELY.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN CERTAIN OTHER JURISDICTIONS

This Preliminary Placement Document is not an offer to sell securities and is not soliciting an offer to subscribe
to or buy securities in any jurisdiction where such offer, solicitation, sale or subscription is not permitted. For
information relating to investors in certain other jurisdictions, see the sections titled “Selling Restrictions” and
“Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 193 and 201, respectively.

Any information about our Company available on any website of the Stock Exchanges, our Company or
the Book Running Lead Manager, other than this Preliminary Placement Document, shall not constitute a
part of this Preliminary Placement Document and no investment decision should be made on the basis of
such information.



REPRESENTATIONS BY INVESTORS

All references to “you” and “your” in this section are to the prospective investors in the Issue. By Bidding for
and/or subscribing to any Equity Shares under this Issue, you are deemed to have represented, warranted,
acknowledged and agreed to contents set forth in “Notice to Investors”, “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer
Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 1, 193 and 201, respectively and have represented,
warranted and acknowledged to and agreed to our Company and the Book Running Lead Manager, as follows:

1.

Your decision to subscribe to the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue has not been made based
on any information relating to our Company which is not set forth in this Preliminary Placement Document;

You are a “Qualified Institutional Buyer” as defined in Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations
and not excluded pursuant to Regulation 179(2)(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, having a valid and
existing registration under applicable laws and regulations of India, and undertake to (i) acquire, hold,
manage or dispose of any Equity Shares that are Allotted (hereinafter defined) to you in accordance with
Chapter V1 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable, and all other
applicable laws; and (ii) comply with all requirements under applicable law, including reporting
obligations, requirements/ making necessary filings, if any, in connection with the Issue;

You are eligible to invest in India under applicable law, including the FEMA Rules (as defined hereinafter)
and any notifications, circulars or clarifications issued thereunder, and have not been prohibited by SEBI,
RBI or any other regulatory authority, statutory authority or otherwise, from buying, selling or dealing in
securities or otherwise accessing capital markets in India;

If you are not a resident of India, but are an Eligible QIB, (i) you are a foreign portfolio investor, and you
confirm that you are an Eligible FPI as defined in this Preliminary Placement Document, you have a valid
and existing registration with SEBI under the applicable laws in India and can participate in the Issue only
under Schedule 1l of FEMA Rules, or (ii) a multilateral or bilateral development financial institution. You
will make all necessary filings with appropriate regulatory authorities, including RBI, as required pursuant
to applicable laws. You have not been prohibited by SEBI, RBI or any other regulatory authority, from
buying, selling or dealing in securities including to the Equity Shares or otherwise accessing the capital
markets. You confirm that you are not a FVCI;

You are eligible to invest in and hold the Equity Shares of our Company in accordance with the FDI Policy
and FEMA Rules, read along with the press note no. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020, issued by the
Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Government of India and the related
amendments to the FEMA Rules. You confirm that neither is your investment as an entity from a country
which shares a land border with India nor is the beneficial owner of your investment situated in or is a
citizen of such country (in each which case, investment can only be through the Government approval
route);

You will provide the information as required under the Companies Act, 2013 and the PAS Rules for record
keeping by our Company, including your name, complete address, phone number, e-mail address,
permanent account number and bank account details and such other details as may be prescribed or
otherwise required even after the closure of the Issue;

If you are Allotted Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue, you shall not sell the Equity Shares so acquired,
for a period of one year from the date of Allotment (hereinafter defined), except on the Stock Exchanges.
For further details, see the sections titled “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser
Representations” on pages 193 and 201, respectively;

You are aware that this Preliminary Placement Document has not been, and will not be, filed as a prospectus
with the RoC under the Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI ICDR Regulations or under any other law in force
in India and, no Equity Shares will be offered in India or overseas to the public or any members of the
public in India or any other class of investors other than Eligible QIBs. You acknowledge that this
Preliminary Placement Document has not been reviewed, verified or affirmed by SEBI, the RoC, the Stock
Exchanges or any other regulatory or listing authority and is intended only for use by Eligible QIBs. This
Preliminary Placement Document is filed and the Placement Document shall be filed with the Stock
Exchanges for record purposes only and be displayed on the websites of our Company and the Stock
Exchanges;



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

You are entitled to subscribe for and acquire the Equity Shares under the laws of all relevant jurisdictions
applicable to you and that you have fully observed such laws and you have all necessary capacity and have
obtained all necessary consents and authorities, as may be required and complied with and shall comply
with all necessary formalities to enable you to participate in the Issue and to perform your obligations in
relation thereto (including without limitation, in the case of any person on whose behalf you are acting, all
necessary consents and authorizations to agree to the terms set out or referred to in this Preliminary
Placement Document), and will honour such obligations;

Neither our Company, nor the Book Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective shareholders,
directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates are making any
recommendations to you or advising you regarding the suitability of any transactions it may enter into in
connection with the Issue. Neither the Book Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective shareholders,
directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates has any duty or responsibility
to you for providing the protection afforded to their clients or customers or for providing advice in relation
to the Issue and are not in any way acting in any fiduciary capacity;

All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Preliminary Placement Document,
including, without limitation, those regarding our financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives
of management for future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to our business),
are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors that could cause actual results to be materially different from
future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding our present and future
business strategies and environment in which we will operate in the future. You should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Preliminary Placement
Document. Neither our Company, nor the Book Running Lead Manager or any of its respective
shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates assumes any
responsibility to update any of the forward-looking statements contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document;

You are aware that the Equity Shares are being offered only to Eligible QIBs on a private placement basis
and are not being offered to the general public, or any other category of investors other than the Eligible
QIBs and the Allotment shall be on a discretionary basis at the discretion of our Company in consultation
with the Book Running Lead Manager;

You are able to purchase the Equity Shares in accordance with the restrictions described in “Selling
Restrictions” on page 193 and you have made, or been deemed to have made, as applicable, the
representations, warranties, acknowledgments and undertakings as set out under the sections titled “Selling
Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 193 and 201,
respectively and you warrant that you will comply with such representations, warranties, acknowledgments
and undertakings;

You understand and agree that the Equity Shares are transferable only in accordance with the restrictions
described in “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on page 201 and you have made, or
are deemed to have made, as applicable, the representations, warranties, acknowledgements, undertakings
and agreements in “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on page 201;

You have been provided a serially numbered copy of this Preliminary Placement Document, and have read
it in its entirety, including the section titled “Risk Factors” on page 47;

If you are within the United States, you are a U.S. QIB, who is or are acquiring the Equity Shares for your
own account or for the account of an institutional investor who also meets the definition of a U.S. QIB in
terms of Rule 144A of the U.S. Securities Act, for investment purposes only, and not with a view to, or for
offer or sale in connection with, the distribution (within the meaning of any United States securities laws)
thereof, in whole or in part;

If you are outside the United States, you are purchasing the Equity Shares in an “offshore transaction”
within the meaning of Regulation S of the U.S. Securities Act and in compliance with laws of all
jurisdictions applicable to you;
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You are not acquiring or subscribing for the Equity Shares as a result of any “general solicitation” or
“general advertising” (as those terms are defined in Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act) or
“directed selling efforts” (as defined in Regulation S of the U.S. Securities Act) and you understand and
agree that offers and sales are being made in reliance on an exemption to the registration requirements of
the U.S. Securities Act provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof. You understand and agree that the Equity
Shares are transferable only in accordance with the restrictions described in “Selling Restrictions” and
“Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 193 and 201, respectively;

You understand that the Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Act or any state securities laws of the United States and unless so registered, may not be offered, sold or
delivered within the United States, except in reliance on an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject
to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable U.S. state securities laws;

In making your investment decision, you have (i) relied on your own examination of our Company and its
Subsidiaries and the terms of the Issue, including the merits and risks involved, (ii) made and will continue
to make your own assessment of our Company, its Subsidiaries and the Equity Shares and the terms of the
Issue based on such information as is publicly available, (iii) consulted your own independent counsels
and advisors or otherwise have satisfied yourself concerning, the effects of local laws (including tax laws),
(iv) relied solely on the information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document and no other
disclosure or representation by our Company or any other party, and (v) relied upon your own investigation
and resources in deciding to invest in the Issue;

Neither the Book Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective shareholders, directors, officers,
employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates, has provided you with any tax advice or
otherwise made any representations regarding the tax consequences of purchase, ownership and disposal
of the Equity Shares (including the Issue and the use of proceeds from the Equity Shares). You will obtain
your own independent tax advice and will not rely on the Book Running Lead Manager or any of its
respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates, when
evaluating the tax consequences in relation to the Equity Shares (including, in relation to the Issue and the
use of proceeds from sale of the Equity Shares). You waive, and agree not to assert any claim against,
either of the Book Running Lead Manager or any of its respective shareholders, directors, officers,
employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates, with respect to the tax aspects of the Equity
Shares or as a result of any tax audits by tax authorities, wherever situated,;

You are a sophisticated investor and have such knowledge and experience in financial business and
investment matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in the Equity Shares
and you and any managed accounts for which you are subscribing to the Equity Shares (i) are each able to
bear the economic risk of the investment in the Equity Shares, (ii) will not look to our Company and/or the
Book Running Lead Manager or any of its respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels,
representatives, agents or affiliates, for all or part of any such loss or losses that may be suffered in
connection with the Issue, including losses arising out of non-performance by our Company of any of its
respective obligations or any breach of any representations and warranties by our Company, whether to
you or otherwise, (iii) are able to sustain a complete loss on the investment in the Equity Shares, (iv) have
no need for liquidity with respect to the investment in the Equity Shares, and (v) have no reason to
anticipate any change in your or their circumstances or any accounts for which you are subscribing,
financial or otherwise, which may cause or require any sale or distribution by you or them of all or any
part of the Equity Shares. You are seeking to subscribe to the Equity Shares in the Issue for your own
investment and not with a view to resell or distribute;

If you are acquiring the Equity Shares for one or more managed accounts, you represent and warrant that
you are authorized in writing, by each such managed account to acquire the Equity Shares for each managed
account and make the representations, warranties, acknowledgements, undertakings and agreements herein
for and on behalf of each such account, reading the reference to ‘you’ to include such accounts;

You are not a ‘promoter’ of our Company (as defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulations or the Companies
Act, 2013), and are not a person related to the Promoters (as defined hereinafter), either directly or
indirectly and your Bid (hereinafter defined) does not directly or indirectly represent any Promoters or
members of the Promoter Group (as defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulations) of our Company or persons
or entities related thereto;
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You have no rights under a shareholders’ agreement or voting agreement entered into with the Promoters
or members of the Promoter Group, no veto rights or right to appoint any nominee director on the Board
of Directors of our Company, other than the rights, if any, acquired in the capacity of a lender not holding
any Equity Shares (a QIB who does not hold any Equity Shares and who has acquired the said rights in the
capacity of a lender shall not be deemed to be a person related to our Promoters);

You are eligible to Bid for and hold Equity Shares so Allotted together with any Equity Shares held by you
prior to the Issue. You further confirm that your aggregate holding after the Allotment of the Equity Shares
shall not exceed the levels permissible as per any applicable law;

Your aggregate holding, together with other Eligible QIBs in the Issue that belong to the same group or
are under common control as you, pursuant to the Allotment under the Issue shall not exceed 50% of the
Issue Size (as defined hereinafter). For the purposes of this representation:

(@ Eligible QIBs “belonging to the same group” shall mean entities where (a) any of them controls,
directly or indirectly, through its subsidiary or holding company, not less than 15% of the voting
rights in the other; (b) any of them, directly or indirectly, by itself, or in combination with other
persons, exercise control over the others; or (c) there is a common director, excluding nominee and
independent directors, amongst an Eligible QIBs, its subsidiary or holding company and any other
Eligible QIB; and

(b)  “Control’ shall have the same meaning as is assigned to it under the SEBI Takeover Regulations.

You are aware that (i) applications for in-principle approval, in terms of Regulation 28 of the SEBI Listing
Regulations, for listing and admission of the Equity Shares and for trading on the Stock Exchanges, were
made and approval has been received from each of the Stock Exchanges, and (ii) final applications will be
made for obtaining listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges, and that there can be no
assurance that such approvals will be obtained on time or at all. Neither our Company nor the Book
Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels,
representatives, agents or affiliates shall be responsible for any delay or non-receipt of such final listing
and trading approvals or any loss arising therefrom;

You shall not undertake any trade in the Equity Shares credited to your beneficiary account with the
Depository Participant until such time that the final listing and trading approvals for the Equity Shares are
issued by the Stock Exchanges;

You are aware that in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 upon Allocation, our Company
will be required to disclose names and percentage of post-Issue shareholding of the proposed Allottees in
the Placement Document. However, disclosure of such details in relation to the proposed Allottees in the
Placement Document will not guarantee Allotment to them, as Allotment in the Issue shall continue to be
at the sole discretion of our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager;

You agree in terms of Section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 14 of the PAS Rules, that our
Company shall make necessary filings with the RoC as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013;

You acknowledge that this Preliminary Placement Document does not, and the Placement Document shall
not confer upon or provide you with any right of renunciation of the Equity Shares offered through the
Issue in favour of any person;

You are aware that if you, together with any other Eligible QIBs belonging to the same group or under
common control, are Allotted 5% or more of the Equity Shares in this Issue, our Company shall be required
to disclose the name of such Allottees and the number of Equity Shares Allotted to the Stock Exchanges
and the Stock Exchanges will make the same available on their website and you consent to such disclosures
being made by our Company;

You are aware and understand that the Book Running Lead Manager have entered into a Placement
Agreement with our Company, whereby the Book Running Lead Manager have, subject to the satisfaction
of certain conditions set out therein, severally and not jointly, undertaken to use their reasonable efforts to
seek to procure subscription for the Equity Shares on the terms and conditions set out therein;

The contents of this Preliminary Placement Document are exclusively the responsibility of our Company
and that neither the Book Running Lead Manager nor any person acting on its or their behalf or any of the
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counsels or advisors to the Issue has or shall have any liability for any information, representation or
statement contained in this Preliminary Placement Document or any information previously published by
or on behalf of our Company and will not be liable for your decision to participate in the Issue based on
any information, representation or statement contained in this Preliminary Placement Document or
otherwise. By accepting participation in the Issue, you agree to the same and confirm that the only
information you are entitled to rely on, and on which you have relied in committing yourself to acquire the
Equity Shares is contained in this Preliminary Placement Document, such information being all that you
deem necessary to make an investment decision in respect of the Equity Shares, and you have neither
received nor relied on any other information, representation, warranty or statement made by, or on behalf
of, the Book Running Lead Manager or our Company or any other person and neither the Book Running
Lead Manager nor our Company or any of its respective affiliates, including any view, statement, opinion
or representation expressed in any research published or distributed by them, and the Book Running Lead
Manager and its respective affiliates will not be liable for your decision to accept an invitation to participate
in the Issue based on any other information, representation, warranty, statement or opinion;

Neither the Book Running Lead Manager nor any of its respective affiliates have any obligation to purchase
or acquire all or any part of the Equity Shares purchased by you in the Issue or to support any losses directly
or indirectly sustained or incurred by you for any reason whatsoever in connection with the Issue, including
non-performance by our Company of any of its obligations or any breach of any representations and
warranties by our Company, whether to you or otherwise;

You acknowledge that (i) an investment in the Equity Shares involves a high degree of risk and that the
Equity Shares are, therefore, a speculative investment, (ii) you have sufficient knowledge, sophistication
and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risk of the
purchase of the Equity Shares, and (iii) you are experienced in investing in private placement transactions
of securities of companies in a similar stage of development and in similar jurisdictions and have such
knowledge and experience in financial, business and investments matters that you are capable of evaluating
the merits and risks of your investment in the Equity Shares;

You are subscribing to the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue in accordance with applicable
laws and by participating in this Issue, you are not in violation of any applicable law, including but not
limited to the SEBI Insider Trading Regulations, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition
of Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices relating to Securities Market) Regulations, 2003 and the
Companies Act, 2013;

Either (i) you have not participated in or attended any investor meetings or presentations by our Company
or its agents with regard to our Company or this Issue (“Company Presentations”); or (ii) if you have
participated in or attended any Company Presentations: (a) you understand and acknowledge that the Book
Running Lead Manager may not have the knowledge of the statements that our Company or its agents may
have made at such Company Presentations and are therefore unable to determine whether the information
provided to you at such meetings or presentations included any material misstatements or omissions, and,
accordingly you acknowledge that Book Running Lead Manager have advised you not to rely in any way
on any such information that was provided to you at such meetings or presentations, and (b) you confirm
that, to the best of your knowledge, you have not been provided any material information that was not
publicly available;

Each of the representations, warranties, acknowledgements and agreements set out above shall continue to
be true and accurate at all times up to and including the Allotment, listing and trading of the Equity Shares
in the Issue. You agree to indemnify and hold our Company and the Book Running Lead Manager and its
respective affiliates and its respective directors, officers, employees and controlling persons harmless from
any and all costs, claims, liabilities and expenses (including legal fees and expenses) arising out of or in
connection with any breach of the foregoing representations, warranties, acknowledgements, agreements
and undertakings made by you in this Preliminary Placement Document. You agree that the indemnity set
out in this paragraph shall survive the resale of the Equity Shares by, or on behalf of, the managed accounts;

You acknowledge that our Company, the Book Running Lead Manager, its respective affiliates, directors,
officers, employees and controlling persons and others will rely on the truth and accuracy of the foregoing
representations, warranties, acknowledgements and undertakings, which are given to the Book Running
Lead Manager on their own behalf and on behalf of our Company, and such representations, warranties,
acknowledgements and undertakings are irrevocable;
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You agree that any dispute arising in connection with the Issue will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of Republic of India, and the courts in Mumbai, India shall have sole and
exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Preliminary
Placement Document and the Placement Document;

The Bid made by you would not result in triggering a tender offer under the SEBI Takeover Regulations;
and

You have no right to withdraw your Application Form or revise your Bid downwards after the Issue Closing
Date (as defined hereinafter).



OFFSHORE DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Subject to compliance with all applicable Indian laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, and approvals in terms of
Regulation 21 of the SEBI FPI Regulations and the SEBI circular dated November 5, 2019 on operational
guidelines for FPIs, designated depository participants and eligible foreign investors (the “FPI Operational
Guidelines™), FPlIs, including the affiliates of the Book Running Lead Manager, who are registered as Category
| FPIs may issue, subscribe to or otherwise and deal in offshore derivative instruments (as defined under the SEBI
FPI Regulations, i.e., as any instrument, by whatever name called, which is issued overseas by a FPI against
securities held by it in India, as its underlying) (all such offshore derivative instruments are referred to herein as
“P-Notes”) and persons who are eligible for registration as Category | FPIs can subscribe to or deal in such P-
Notes, provided that in the case of an entity that has an investment manager who is from the Financial Action
Task Force member country, such investment manager shall not be required to be registered as a Category | FPI.
The above-mentioned Category | FPIs may receive compensation from the purchasers of such P-Notes. In terms
of Regulation 21 of SEBI FPI Regulations, P-Notes may be issued only by such persons who are registered as
Category | FPIs and they may be issued only to persons eligible for registration as Category | FPIs, subject to
exceptions provided in the SEBI FPI Regulations and compliance with ‘know your client’ requirements, as
specified by SEBI and subject to compliance with such other conditions as may be specified by SEBI from time
to time. An Eligible FPI shall also ensure that no transfer of any instrument referred to above is made to any
person unless such FPIs are registered as Category | FPIs and such instrument is being transferred only or to
persons eligible for registration as Category | FPIs subject to requisite consents being obtained in terms of
Regulation 21 of SEBI FPI Regulations. P-Notes have not been, and are not being offered, or sold pursuant to this
Preliminary Placement Document. This Preliminary Placement Document does not contain any information
concerning P-Notes or the issuer(s) of any P-Notes, including, without limitation, any information regarding any
risk factors relating thereto.

Subject to certain relaxations provided under Regulation 22(4) of the SEBI FPI Regulations, investment by a
single FPI including its investor group (multiple entities registered as FPIs and directly or indirectly, having
common ownership of more than 50% or common control) is not permitted to be 10% or above of our post-Issue
Equity Share capital on a fully diluted basis. SEBI has issued the FPI Operational Guidelines to facilitate
implementation of the SEBI FPI Regulations. In terms of the FPI Operational Guidelines, the above-mentioned
restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of P-Notes and two or more subscribers of P-Notes having common
ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% or common control shall be considered together as a single
subscriber of the P-Notes. Further, in the event a prospective investor has investments as an FP1 and as a subscriber
of P-Notes, these investment restrictions shall apply on the aggregate of the FPI and P-Note investments held in
the underlying company. Further, in accordance with Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020, read
with the FDI Policy, issued by the Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Government of India,
investments where the entity is of a country which shares land border with India or where the beneficial owner of
the Equity Shares is situated in or is a citizen of a country which shares land border with India, can only be made
through the Government approval route, as prescribed in the FDI Policy and FEMA rules. These investment
restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of P-Notes.

Affiliates of the Book Running Lead Manager which are Eligible FPIs may purchase, to the extent permissible
under law, the Equity Shares in the Issue, and may issue P-Notes in respect thereof. Any P-Notes that may be
issued are not securities of our Company and do not constitute any obligation of, claims on or interests in our
Company. Our Company has not participated in any offer of any P-Notes, or in the establishment of the terms of
any P-Notes, or in the preparation of any disclosure related to any P-Notes. Any P-Notes that may be offered are
issued by and are the sole obligations of third parties that are unrelated to our Company. Our Company, and the
Book Running Lead Manager do not make any recommendation as to any investment in P-Notes and do not accept
any responsibility whatsoever in connection with any P-Notes. Any P-Notes that may be issued are not securities
of the Book Running Lead Manager and does not constitute any obligations of or claims on the Book Running
Lead Manager.

Bidders interested in purchasing any P-Notes have the responsibility to obtain adequate disclosures as to
the issuer(s) of such P-Notes and the terms and conditions of any such P-Notes from the issuer(s) of such P-
Notes. Neither SEBI nor any other regulatory authority has reviewed or approved any P-Notes, or any
disclosure related thereto. Bidders are urged to consult their own financial, legal, accounting and tax
advisors regarding any contemplated investment in P-Notes, including whether P-Notes are issued in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Please also see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 193
and 201, respectively.
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DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGES

As required, a copy of this Preliminary Placement Document has been submitted to each of the Stock Exchanges.
The Stock Exchanges do not in any manner:

(@) warrant, certify or endorse the correctness or completeness of the contents of this Preliminary Placement
Document; or

(b) warrant that the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue will be listed or will continue to be listed
on the Stock Exchanges; or

(c) take any responsibility for the financial or other soundness of our Company, its Promoters, its management
or any scheme or project of our Company;

and it should not for any reason be deemed or construed to mean that this Preliminary Placement Document has
been cleared or approved by the Stock Exchanges. Every person who desires to apply for or otherwise acquires
any Equity Shares may do so pursuant to an independent inquiry, investigation and analysis and shall not have
any claim against the Stock Exchanges whatsoever, by reason of any loss which may be suffered by such person
consequent to or in connection with, such subscription/ acquisition, whether by reason of anything stated or
omitted to be stated herein, or for any other reason whatsoever.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Certain conventions

In this Preliminary Placement Document, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise indicates or implies,
references to “you”, “your”, “offeree”, “purchaser”, “subscriber”, “recipient”, “investors”, “prospective
investors”, “bidders” and “potential investor” are to the Eligible QIBs and references to the “Issuer”, “Aurionpro”,
“the Company”, “our Company” refers to Aurionpro Solutions Limited and references to “we”, “us”, or “our” are
to our Company together with its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Currency and units of presentation

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references in this Preliminary Placement
Document to (i) the ‘US’ or ‘U.S.” or the ‘United States’ or the ‘U.S.A’ are to the United States of America and
its territories and possessions; (ii) ‘India’ are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions; (iii) the
‘Government’ or ‘Gol’ or the ‘Central Government’ or the ‘State Government’ are to the Government of India,
Central or State, as applicable; and (iv) ‘Singapore’ are to the Republic of Singapore

In this Preliminary Placement Document, references to ‘INR’, ‘?*, ‘Rs.’, ‘Indian Rupees’ and ‘Rupees’ are to the
legal currency of India; references to ‘USD’, ‘U.S. Dollars’ and ‘US$’ are to the legal currency of the United
States; references to ‘SGD’ is to the legal currency of Republic of Singapore.

References to the singular also refer to the plural and one gender also refers to any other gender, wherever
applicable. In this Preliminary Placement Document, references to “lakh” represents “100,000”, “million”
represents “1,000,0007, “crore” represents “10,000,000”, and “billion” represents “1,000,000,000”.

Page numbers

Unless otherwise stated, all references to page numbers in this Preliminary Placement Document are to page
numbers of this Preliminary Placement Document.

Financial and other information

The financial year of our Company commences on April 1 of each calendar year and ends on March 31 of the
following calendar year, and, unless otherwise specified or if the context requires otherwise. The terms “Fiscal”,
“Financial Year”, “Fiscals” or “Fiscal Year”, refer to the 12-month period ending March 31 of that particular year
(as the case may be).

As required under the applicable regulations, and for the convenience of prospective investors, we have included
in this Preliminary Placement Document, the following financial statements:

(@ theaudited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its subsidiaries, its joint ventures comprising
of the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2023, the consolidated statement of profit and loss
(including other comprehensive income), the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2023 and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
(“Fiscal 2023 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”);

(b)  the audited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its subsidiaries, its joint ventures comprising
of the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of profit and loss
(including other comprehensive income), the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2022 and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
(“Fiscal 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”);

(c) theaudited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its subsidiaries, its joint ventures comprising
of the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the consolidated statement of profit and loss
(including other comprehensive income), the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2021 and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
(“Fiscal 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”);
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((a@) and (b) are collectively referred to in this Preliminary Placement Document as the “Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements”). The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements should be read
along with the respective audit reports.

In accordance with Regulation 33 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company is required to publish its
quarterly financial results on a consolidated basis, which are subjected to limited review by our Statutory Auditors,
within 45 days from the completion of the relevant quarter. Accordingly, our Company has prepared statements
of unaudited consolidated financial results for nine months ended December 31, 2023 (which includes, among
other things the comparative unaudited financial results for the quarter and nine months ended December 31,
2022) (the “Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements”), on which our Statutory Auditors have
issued a separate auditor’s limited review report dated February 5, 2024. The Interim Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements have been incorporated in the Preliminary Placement Document. Unless stated otherwise
and unless the context requires otherwise, all consolidated financial data in this Preliminary Placement Document
is derived from the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Except as specifically indicated otherwise and
unless the context requires otherwise, all the consolidated financial information for the nine months period ended
December 31, 2023, included in this Preliminary Placement Document has been derived from the Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. Further, the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the full financial year or any future
reporting period and are not comparable with the annual financials.

Our Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Ind AS, Companies Act, and other applicable
statutory and/or regulatory requirements. Our Company publishes its financial statements in Indian Rupees. Ind
AS differs from accounting principles with which prospective investors may be familiar in other countries,
including IFRS and US GAAP and the reconciliation of the financial information to other accounting principles
has not been provided. No attempt has been made to explain those differences or quantify their impact on the
financial data included in this Preliminary Placement Document and investors should consult their own advisors
regarding such differences and their impact on our Company’s financial data. The degree to which the financial
information included in this Preliminary Placement Document will provide meaningful information is entirely
dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies and practices, Ind AS, the
Companies Act and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Ind AS, the Companies
Act, the SEBI ICDR Regulations and practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Preliminary
Placement Document should accordingly be limited.

Our Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are
prepared in lakhs and have been presented in this Preliminary Placement Document in lakhs and have been
rounded off or expressed in two decimals. Certain figures contained in this Preliminary Placement Document,
including financial information, have been subject to rounding adjustments. Any discrepancies in any table
between the totals and the sum of the amounts listed are due to rounding off. In certain instances, (i) the sum or
percentage change of such numbers may not conform exactly to the total figure given, and (ii) the sum of the
figures in a column or row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or
row. Unless otherwise specified, all financial numbers in parenthesis represent negative figures.

Non-GAAP financial measures

Certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other statistical information relating to our operations and
financial performance such as EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, PAT Margin, Return on Equity and Return on Capital
Employed have been included in this Preliminary Placement Document. These may not be computed on the basis
of any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry and therefore may not be comparable to
financial measures and statistical information of similar nomenclature that may be computed and presented by
other companies and are not measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Ind AS and may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

These non-GAAP financial measures are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under Ind
AS, Indian GAAP, IFRS or US GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to
cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the years/ period or any other measure of financial performance or as an indicator of
our operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing
activities and are not required by or presented in accordance with Indian GAAP or Ind AS. We compute and
disclose such non-GAAP financial measures and such other statistical information relating to our operations and
financial performance as we consider such information to be useful measures of our business and financial
performance, and because such measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and others to
evaluate the operational performance of financial services businesses, many of which provide such non-GAAP
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financial measures and other statistical and operational information when reporting their financial results. The
presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for the financial statements included in this Preliminary Placement Document. Prospective investors should read
this information in conjunction with the financial statements included in “Financial Information” on page 225.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

Information regarding market position, growth rates, other industry data and certain industry forecasts pertaining
to our business contained in this Preliminary Placement Document consists of estimates based on data reports
compiled by government bodies, data from other external sources and knowledge of the markets in which we
compete. Our Company has not commissioned any industry report for the purposes of this Preliminary Placement
Document. Unless stated otherwise, the statistical information included in this Preliminary Placement Document
relating to the industry in which we operate has been reproduced from various trade, industry and government
publications and websites more particularly described in the section titled “Industry Overview” on page 128.

Industry sources and publications generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from
sources generally believed to be reliable, but their accuracy, completeness and underlying assumptions are not
guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Industry sources and publications are also prepared based on
information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect current trends. Accordingly, investors
should not place undue reliance on or base their investment decision on this information. In many cases, there is
no readily available external information (whether from trade or industry associations, government bodies or other
organizations) to validate market-related analysis and estimates, so we have relied on internally developed
estimates. Similarly, while we believe its internal estimates to be reasonable, such estimates have not been verified
by any independent sources and neither we nor the Book Running Lead Manager can assure Bidders as to their
accuracy.

The extent to which the market and industry data, used in this Preliminary Placement Document is meaningful
depends on the reader’s familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data.
There are no standard data gathering methodologies in the industry in which we conduct our business, and
methodologies and assumptions may vary widely among different industry sources. Such data involves risks,
uncertainties and numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various factors, including those
discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors — Certain sections of this Preliminary Placement Document disclose
information from the reports titled *““Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape”’, “*Cloud
Infrastructure Market in India 2023 — 2028, “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” and “Global
Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031 and
any reliance on such information for making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks” on
page 67.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document that are not statements of historical fact
constitute “forward-looking statements”. Investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “can”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “expected
to”, “intend”, “is/are likely”, “may”, “objective”, “plan”, “potential”, “project”, “pursue”, “shall”, “should”,
“will”, “will continue”, “will pursue”, “will achieve” “would”, “will likely result”, or any other words or phrases
of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our strategies, objectives, plans or goals are also forward-
looking statements. However, these are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements appear in a number of places throughout this Preliminary Placement Document
and include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of our Company concerning,
among other things, the expected results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies
and dividend policy of our Company and the industry in which we operate. The forward-looking statements also
include statements as to our Company’s planned projects, revenue and profitability (including, without limitation,
any financial or operating projections or forecasts), new business and other matters discussed in this Preliminary
Placement Document that are not historical facts.

These forward-looking statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document (whether made by us or any
third party), are predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors
that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of our Company to be materially different from
any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or other
projections. In addition, even if the result of operations, financial conditions, liquidity and dividend policy of our
Company, and the development of the industry in which we operate, are consistent with the forward-looking
statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document, those results or developments may not be
indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.

Important factors that could cause the actual results, performances and achievements of our Company to be
materially different from any of the forward-looking statements include, among others:

1. Dependence on customers located in Asia Pacific region for our revenue from operations;
2. Dependence on top 10 customers for a significant portion of our revenue;

3. Dependence on limited industry verticals;

4. Risks associated with government institutions and public sector undertakings;

5. Slow market development;

6. Uncertainty of order book;

7. Rapidly evolving industry;

8. Dependence on technology and solution development;

9. Lack of resources due to failure in attracting and retaining IT professionals; and

10. Maintenance of utilisation rates of our employees

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements of our Company to differ
materially include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the sections titled “Risk Factors”, “Industry
Overview”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” on pages 47, 128, 145 and 97 respectively.

By their nature, certain market risk disclosures are only estimates and could be materially different from what
actually occurs in the future. As a result, any future gains, losses or impact on net income and net income could
materially differ from those that have been estimated, expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements
or other projections. The forward-looking statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document are based
on the beliefs of the management, as well as the assumptions made by, and information currently available to, the
management of our Company. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking
statements are reasonable at this time, we cannot assure investors that such expectations will prove to be correct.
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Given these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.
In any event, these statements speak only as on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document or the respective
dates indicated in this Preliminary Placement Document, and neither we, nor the Book Running Lead Manager or
any of its respective affiliates undertake any obligation to update or revise any of them, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. If any of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or if any of our
Company’s underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, the actual results of operations or financial condition
of our Company could differ materially from that described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected.
All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference
to these cautionary statements.
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ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

Our Company is a public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of India. Except Paresh Chandulal
Zaveri, Chairperson and Managing Director of our Company and Frank Osusky, Independent Director of our
Company, all our other Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management named in this Preliminary
Placement Document are residents of India and a substantial portion of the assets of our Company and such
persons are located in India. As a result, it may be difficult or may not be possible for prospective investors outside
India to effect service of process upon our Company or such persons in India, or to enforce judgments obtained
against such parties outside India predicated upon civil liabilities of our Company or such directors and executive
officers under laws other than Indian laws, including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of
the federal 18ecurityies laws of the United States.

India is not a signatory to any international treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of foreign
judgments. However, recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments is provided for under Section 13 and
Section 44A of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, as amended (the “Civil Procedure Code”), on a statutory
basis. Section 13 of the Civil Procedure Code provides that a foreign judgment shall be conclusive regarding any
matter directly adjudicated upon between the same parties or parties litigating under the same title, except: (i)
where the judgment has not been pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction; (ii) where the judgment has
not been given on the merits of the case; (iii) where it appears on the face of the proceedings that the judgment is
founded on an incorrect view of international law or a refusal to recognise the law of India in cases in which such
law is applicable; (iv) where the proceedings in which the judgment was obtained were opposed to natural justice;
(v) where the judgment has been obtained by fraud; or (vi) where the judgment sustains a claim founded on a
breach of any law then in force in India. Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code provides that a foreign judgment
rendered by a superior court (within the meaning of that section) in any jurisdiction outside India which the
Government has by notification declared to be a reciprocating territory, may be enforced in India by proceedings
in execution as if the judgment had been rendered by a competent court in India. Under Section 14 of the Civil
Procedure Code, a court in India will, upon the production of any document purporting to be a certified copy of a
foreign judgment, presume that the foreign judgment was pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction, unless
the contrary appears on record but such presumption may be displaced by proving want of jurisdiction. However,
Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code is applicable only to monetary decrees not being in the nature of any
amounts payable in respect of taxes or other charges of a like nature or in respect of a fine or other penalties and
does not include arbitration awards.

Among other jurisdictions, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Republic of Singapore,
United Arab Emirates and Hong Kong have been declared by the Government to be reciprocating territories for
the purposes of Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code, but the United States of America has not been so
declared. A judgment of a court in a jurisdiction which is not a reciprocating territory may be enforced only by a
fresh suit upon the judgment and not by proceedings in execution. The suit must be brought in India within three
years from the date of the foreign judgment in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability
in India. Accordingly, a judgment of a court in the United States may be enforced only by a fresh suit upon the
foreign judgment and not by proceedings in execution.

It is unlikely that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action were
brought in India. Furthermore, it is unlikely that an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments if it viewed the
amount of damages awarded as excessive or inconsistent with public policy of India or would contravene or
violate the Indian law. Further, any judgment or award in a foreign currency would be converted into Rupees on
the date of such judgment or award and not on the date of payment. A party seeking to enforce a foreign judgment
in India is required to obtain approval from the RBI to repatriate outside India any amount recovered, and any
such amount may be subject to income tax in accordance with applicable laws. We cannot assure that such
approval will be forthcoming within a reasonable period of time, or at all, or that conditions of such approvals
would be acceptable. Our Company and the Book Running Lead Manager cannot predict whether a suit brought
in an Indian court will be disposed of in a timely manner or be subject to considerable delays.
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EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Rupee and foreign currencies will affect the foreign currency
equivalent of the Rupee price of the Equity Shares traded on the Stock Exchanges. These fluctuations will also
affect the conversion into foreign currencies of any cash dividends paid in Rupees on the Equity Shares.

The following table sets forth information, for or as of the end of the period indicated with respect to the exchange
rates between the Rupee and the U.S. dollar (in X per US$), the Singapore Dollar (in X per SGD), the Kenyan
Shilling (in T per KES) and United Arab Emirates Dirham (in X per AED) for the periods indicated. The exchange
rates are based on the reference rates released by the RBI and Financial Benchmark India Private Limited
(“FBIL”), which are available on the websites of RBI and FBIL. No representation is made that any Rupee
amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S. dollars at any particular rate, the rates stated below, or
at all.

1. US$
@ per USS)
Periodend ® | Average © | High @ | Low ®
Financial Year*:
2024@ 83.38 82.79 83.60 81.69
2023* 82.22 80.39 83.20 75.39
2022% 75.81 74.51 76.92 72.48
Month ended*:
March 31, 2024@ 83.38 83.07 83.60 82.75
February 29, 2024@ 82.92 82.97 83.08 82.82
January 31, 2024* 83.08 83.12 83.33 82.85
December 31, 2023* 83.12 77.12 82.92 73.05
November 30, 2023* 83.35 77.01 82.88 73.80
October 31, 2023 83.27 76.75 83.20 73.14
Source:

Awww.rbi.org.in and www.fbil.org.in

@www.currency-converter.org.uk

® The price for the period end refers to the price as on the last trading day of the respective fiscal year or quarterly or monthly periods.

@ Average of the official rate for each Working Day of the relevant period.

@ Maximum of the official rate for each Working Day of the relevant period.

© Minimum of the official rate for each Working Day of the relevant period.

* In the event that the RBI reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous Working
Day have been considered. The reference rates are rounded off to two decimal places.

2. SGD
(Z per SGD)
Periodend ® | Average © | High @ | Low ®
Financial Year:
2024 61.81 61.56 63.10 60.45
2023 61.75 58.50 62.61 55.22
2022 56.02 55.24 56.77 54.28
Month ended:
March 31, 2024 61.81 61.93 62.21 61.61
February 29, 2024 61.61 61.68 62.05 61.49
January 31, 2024 62.01 62.22 63.05 61.88
December 31, 2023 63.08 58.53 63.10 54.77
November 30, 2023 62.34 57.66 62.67 54.47
October 31, 2023 60.80 57.04 61.14 53.73

(Source: www.currency-converter.org.uk)

® The price for the period end refers to the price as on the last trading day of the respective fiscal year or quarterly or monthly periods.

@ Average of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

@ Maximum of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

GMinimum of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

* In the event that the reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous Working Day
have been considered. The reference rates are rounded off to two decimal places.

3. KES
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(% per KES)
Periodend® |  Average® | High @ | Low @

Financial Year:
2024 0.63 0.57 0.63 0.51
2023 0.62 0.66 0.69 0.62
2022 0.66 0.67 0.70
Month ended:
March 31, 2024 0.63 0.60 0.63 0.56
February 29, 2024 0.57 0.55 0.58 0.51
January 31, 2024 0.52 0.52 0.53 0.51
December 31, 2023 0.53 0.54 0.55 0.53
November 30, 2023 0.55 0.55 0.56 0.54
October 31, 2023 0.55 0.56 0.57 0.55

(Source: www.currency-converter.org.uk)

® The price for the period end refers to the price as on the last trading day of the respective fiscal year or quarterly or monthly periods.

@ Average of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

@ Maximum of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

® Minimum of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

* In the event that the reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous Working Day
have been considered. The reference rates are rounded off to two decimal places.

4. AED
(Z per AED)
Periodend ® | Average O | High @ | Low ®
Financial Year:
2024 22.72 22.55 22.77 22.25
2023 22.38 21.88 22.62 20.54
2022 20.68 20.30 21.00 19.71
Month ended:
March 31, 2024 22.72 22.62 22.77 22.53
February 29, 2024 22.58 22.60 22.63 22.56
January 31, 2024 22.65 22.64 22.68 22.56
December 31, 2023 22.66 22.67 22.73 22.57
November 30, 2023 22.70 22.68 22.72 22.63
October 31, 2023 22.69 22.67 22.73 22.60

(Source: www.currency-converter.org.uk)

® The price for the period end refers to the price as on the last trading day of the respective fiscal year or quarterly or monthly periods.

@ Average of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

@ Maximum of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

©® Minimum of the official rate for each Day of the relevant period.

* In the event that the reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous Working Day
have been considered. The reference rates are rounded off to two decimal places.
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DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Preliminary Placement Document uses the definitions and abbreviations set forth below, which you should
consider when reading the information contained herein.

The following list of certain capitalised terms used in this Preliminary Placement Document is intended for the
convenience of the reader/ prospective investor only and is not exhaustive.

Unless otherwise specified, the capitalised terms used in this Preliminary Placement Document shall have the
meaning as defined hereunder. Further any references to any agreement, document, statute, rules, guidelines,
regulations or policies shall include amendments made thereto, from time to time.

The words and expressions used in this Preliminary Placement Document but not defined herein, shall have, to
the extent applicable, the meaning ascribed to such terms under the Companies Act, the SEBI ICDR Regulations,
the SCRA, the Depositories Act or the rules and regulations framed thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
terms used in the sections titled “Taxation”, “Industry Overview”, “Capital Structure”, “‘Financial Information”
and “Legal Proceedings” on pages 212, 128, 90, 225 and 220, respectively, shall have the meaning given to such
terms in such sections.

General Terms

Term Description

“Our Company”, “the Company”, | Aurionpro Solutions Limited, a public limited company incorporated under the
“the Issuer”, “Aurionpro” provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and having its registered and corporate office
at Synergia IT Park, Plot No. R-270 T.T.C. Industrial Estate, Near Rabale Police
Station, Navi Mumbai, Thane — 400 701 Maharashtra, India

“We”, “Our”, or “Us” Unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, refers to our Company along with its
Subsidiaries and joint ventures, on a consolidated basis

Company Related Terms

Term Description
Articles or Articles of Association | The Articles of Association of our Company, as amended from time to time
ASL ESPS 2022 Aurionpro Solutions Limited — Employee Stock Purchase Scheme 2022
Audit Committee The Audit Committee of our Board, as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior

Management — Committees of our Board of Directors” on page 166

Audited Consolidated Financial | Collectively, the Fiscal 2021 Audited Financial Statements, the Fiscal 2022 Audited
Statements Consolidated Financial Statements and the Fiscal 2023 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements

Auditors or Statutory Auditors The current statutory auditors of our Company namely, C K S P AND CO LLP,
Chartered Accountants

Board of Directors or Board The board of directors of our Company, including any duly constituted committee
thereof, as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management” on page 159
Chairman and Managing Director | The chairman and managing director of our Company being Paresh Chandulal Zaveri
Chief Financial Officer The chief financial officer of our Company being Vipul Parmar

Company Secretary and | The company secretary and compliance officer of our Company being Ninad Kelkar
Compliance Officer
Corporate Social Responsibility | The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of our Board, as disclosed in “Board

Committee of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board of Directors” on page
166

Director(s) The directors on the Board of our Company, as may be appointed from time to time

Equity Shares The equity shares of face value of 10 each of our Company

Executive Director(s) Executive directors of our Company, unless otherwise specified

Fiscal 2021 Audited Consolidated | Audited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its subsidiaries, its joint

Financial Statements ventures comprising of the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the

consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended March 31, 2021 and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information
Fiscal 2022 Audited Consolidated | Audited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its subsidiaries, its joint
Financial Statements ventures comprising of the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2022, the

consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
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Term

Description

consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended March 31, 2022 and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information

Fiscal 2023 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements

Audited consolidated financial statements of our Company, its subsidiaries, its joint
ventures comprising of the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2023, the
consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended March 31, 2023 and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information along with the report dated May 16, 2023 issued thereon by Chokshi &
Chokshi LLP, Chartered Accountants

Independent Director(s)

Independent directors of our Company, unless otherwise specified

Interim Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements

Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of our Company, and its
Subsidiaries as at and for the nine months period ended December 31, 2023 (which
includes, among other things the comparative unaudited financial results for the quarter
and nine months ended December 31, 2022) comprising of the interim condensed
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2023, interim condensed consolidated
statement of profit and loss, interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in
equity and interim condensed consolidated cash flow statement for the period then
ended and others selected explanatory notes, prepared in accordance with the
recognition and measurement principles laid down in the Indian Accounting Standards
34 “Interim Financial Reporting” as prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies
Act read with the relevant rules thereunder and other accounting principles generally
accepted in India, and in compliance with Regulation 33 of the SEBI Listing
Regulations and on which our Statutory Auditors have issued a separate auditor’s
limited review report dated February 5, 2024

Key Managerial Personnel/ KMP

The key managerial personnel of our Company in accordance with Regulation 2(1)(bb)
of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, 2013 and as
disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Key Managerial
Personnel” on page 164

Memorandum or Memorandum of
Association

The Memorandum of Association of our Company, as amended from time to time

Nomination and Remuneration

Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of our Company as
disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board
of Directors” on page 166

Non-Executive Director(s)

Non-executive directors of our Company, unless otherwise specified

Non-Executive Director, designated
as Vice Chairman & President; and
Chief Executive Officer

The non-executive director, designated as vice chairman & president; and chief
executive officer of our Company being Ashish Rai

Promoter Group

The individuals and entities forming part of the promoter group of our Company in
accordance with Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Promoters

The promoters of our Company, namely Amit Rameshchandra Sheth and Paresh
Chandulal Zaveri

Registered and Corporate Office

The registered and corporate office of our Company, situated at Synergia IT Park, Plot
No. R-270 T.T.C. Industrial Estate, Near Rabale Police Station, Navi Mumbai, Thane
— 400 701 Maharashtra, India.

Registrar of Companies / RoC

Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai

Senior Management

The members of the senior management of our Company in accordance with
Regulation 2 (1) (bbbb) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations as disclosed in the section titled
“Board of Directors and Senior Management — Members of Senior Management” on
page 164

Shareholders

Shareholders’ of our Company from time to time

Stakeholders Relationship | The Stakeholders Relationship Committee of our Board as disclosed in the section

Committee titled “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Committees of our Board of
Directors” on page 166

Subsidiaries The subsidiaries of our Company (including step-down subsidiaries) in accordance

with the Companies Act, 2013 as on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document,
as described in the section titled “Organisational structure of our Company” on page
168. The term “Subsidiary/Subsidiaries” shall be construed accordingly
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Issue related terms

Term

Description

Allocated or Allocation

The allocation of Equity Shares, by our Company in consultation with the Book
Running Lead Manager, following the determination of the Issue Price to Eligible QIBs
on the basis of the Application Form submitted by them and in compliance with Chapter
VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Allot/ Allotment/ Allotted

Allotment and issue of Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue

Allottees

Eligible QIBs to whom Equity Shares are issued pursuant to the Issue

Application Amount

The aggregate amount paid by a Bidder at the time of submitting a Bid in the Issue

Application Form

Form (including any revisions thereof) which will be submitted by the Eligible QIBs
for registering a Bid in the Issue

Bid Amount

The amount determined by multiplying the price per Equity Share indicated in the Bid
by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by a Bidder and payable by the Bidder in the
Issue at the time of submission of the Application Form

Bid(s)

Indication of an Eligible QIB’s interest, including all revisions and modifications of
interest, as provided in the Application Form, to subscribe for the Equity Shares
pursuant to the Issue. The term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly

Bidder(s)

Any prospective investor, being an Eligible QIB, who makes a Bid pursuant to the terms
of this Preliminary Placement Document and the Application Form

Book Running Lead Manager

DAM Capital Advisors Limited

CAN/ Confirmation of Allocation
Note

Note, advice or intimation confirming Allocation of Equity Shares to successful
Bidders after determination of the Issue Price

Closing Date

The date on which Allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue shall be made, i.e.,
on or about [e]

Designated Date

The date on which the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue, are listed on the Stock
Exchanges pursuant to receipt of the final listing and trading approvals for the Equity
Shares from the Stock Exchanges or the date on which Form PAS-3 is filed by our
Company with the RoC, whichever is later

Eligible FPIs

FPIs that are eligible to participate in this Issue in terms of applicable laws, other than
individuals, corporate bodies and family offices

Eligible QIBs

QIBs, as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations that are
eligible to participate in the Issue and which are not excluded pursuant to Regulation
179(2)(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and are not restricted from participating in
the Issue under the applicable laws. Further, FVVCls are not permitted to participate in
the Issue and accordingly, are not Eligible QIBs. For further details, see “Issue
Procedure”, “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser
Representations” on pages 176, 193 and 201, respectively.

Escrow Account

Special non-interest bearing, no-lien, current bank account without any cheques or
overdraft facilities, to be opened in the name and style “Aurionpro Solutions Limited-
QIP Escrow A/c” with the Escrow Bank, subject to the terms of the Escrow Agreement
into which the Application Amount in connection with the subscription to the Equity
Shares pursuant to the Issue shall be deposited by the Bidders

Escrow Agreement

Agreement dated March 4, 2024, and amendment agreement dated April 3, 2024 to the
Escrow Agreement, entered into by and amongst our Company, the Escrow Bank and
the Book Running Lead Manager for collection of the Application Amounts and
remitting refunds, if any, of the amounts collected, to the Bidders

Escrow Bank

ICICI Bank Limited

Floor Price

Floor price of % 2,103.68 for each Equity Share, calculated in accordance with Chapter
VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Our Company may offer a discount on the Floor
Price in accordance with the approval of our Board dated January 10, 2024 and the
Shareholders dated February 7, 2024 and in terms of Regulation 176(1) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations.

Gross Proceeds

The gross proceeds of the Issue that will be available to our Company

Issue

The issue and Allotment of [e] Equity Shares each at a price of % [e] per Equity Share,
including a premium of  [e] per Equity Share, aggregating up to  [e] lakhs to Eligible
QIBs, pursuant to Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder

Issue Closing Date

[e], the date after which our Company (or Book Running Lead Manager on behalf of
our Company) shall cease acceptance of Application Forms and the Application
Amount

Issue Opening Date

April 3, 2024, the date on which our Company (or the Book Running Lead Manager on
behalf of our Company) shall commence acceptance of the Application Forms and the
Application Amount

23




Term

Description

Issue Period Period between the Issue Opening Date and the Issue Closing Date, inclusive of both
days during which Eligible QIBs can submit their Bids along with the Application
Amount

Issue Price A price per Equity Share of X [e] including a premium of X [e] per Equity Share. Issue
Price being at a discount of [#]% on the Floor Price.

Issue Size Aggregate size of the Issue, [ o]

Monitoring Agency

CRISIL Ratings Limited, being a credit rating agency registered with SEBI, appointed
by our Company in accordance with the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Monitoring Agency Agreement

Monitoring agency agreement dated February 24, 2024, entered into between our
Company and the Monitoring Agency

Mutual Fund

A mutual fund registered with the SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

Net Proceeds

The net proceeds from the Issue, after deducting fees, commissions and expenses of the
Issue

Placement Agreement

The agreement dated April 3, 2024 between our Company and the Book Running Lead
Manager

Placement Document

The placement document to be issued in accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations and the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules prescribed
thereunder

Preliminary Placement Document

This Preliminary Placement Document along with the Application Form dated April 3,
2024 issued in accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules prescribed thereunder

QIBs or Qualified Institutional | Qualified institutional buyers, as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR
Buyers Regulations
QIP Qualified institutions placement under Chapter V1 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and

applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Prospectus
and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014

Refund Amount

The aggregate amount to be returned to the Bidders who have not been Allocated Equity
Shares for all, or part, of the Application Amount submitted by such Bidder pursuant
to the Issue

Refund Intimation

The intimation from our Company to relevant Bidders confirming refund of the Refund
Amount to their respective bank accounts

Regulation D

Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act

Regulation S

Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act

Relevant Date

April 3, 2024, which is the date of the meeting in which our Fund Raising Committee
decided to open the Issue

Stock Exchanges

BSE and NSE

Successful Bidders

The Bidders who have Bid at or above the Issue Price, duly paid the Application
Amount with the Application Form and who are Allocated Equity Shares pursuant to
the Issue

U.S. / United States

The United States of America

Working Day

Any day other than second and fourth Saturday of the relevant month or a Sunday or a
public holiday or a day on which scheduled commercial banks are authorized or
obligated by law to remain closed in Mumbai, India

Conventional and General Terms/Abbreviations

Term

Description

AGM

Annual General Meeting

AIF(s)

Alternative investment funds, as defined and registered with SEBI under the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012, as
amended

AS or Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

BSE

BSE Limited

CAGR Compound annual growth rate

Calendar Year Year ending on December 31

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CESTAT Customs, Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal
CFO Chief Financial Officer

CIN Corporate Identification Number

Civil Procedure Code

The Code of Civil Procedure, 1908
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Term

Description

Companies Act

The Companies Act, 2013 and applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956

The Companies Act, 1956 along with the relevant rules made thereunder

Companies Act, 2013

The Companies Act, 2013, along with the relevant rules made and clarifications issued
thereunder

Consolidated FDI Policy

Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the DPIIT by way of circular
bearing number DPIIT file number 5(2)/2020-FDI Policy dated October 15, 2020
effective from October 15, 2020

Control

As defined under Regulation 2(i)! of the Takeover Regulations

CrPC

The Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973

Depositories

CDSL and NSDL

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996

Depository Participant or DP

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DP ID Number Depository participant identification number

DPIIT Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade

EBIT Net profit for the year/ period plus provision for tax plus finance costs plus , where
applicable, exceptional items

EBITDA Profit for the year/ period plus total tax expense plus depreciation and amortisation
expense plus finance costs less other income

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

FBIL Financial Benchmarks India Limited

FCTR Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

FDI Foreign Direct Investment

FEMA The Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with rules and regulations issued

thereunder

FEMA Regulations

Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer of Issue of Security by a Person Resident
outside India) Regulations, 2017

FEMA Rules

The Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019

Financial Year or Fiscal

The period of 12 months ended March 31 of that particular year, unless otherwise stated

FIR

First information report

Form PAS-4 Form PAS-4 as prescribed under the Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of
Securities) Rules, 2014
FPIs Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations and includes a

person who has been registered under the SEBI FPI Regulations

Fugitive Economic Offender

An individual who is declared a fugitive economic offender under Section 12 of the
Fugitive Economic Offenders Act, 2018

FVCI Foreign Venture Capital Investor, as defined under the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors) Regulations, 2000, registered with SEBI

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GDP Gross Domestic Product

General Meeting

AGM or EGM

Gol or Government

Government of India

GST Goods and Services Tax

HNI High net-worth individual

HUF Hindu Undivided Family

I.T. Act The Income-tax Act, 1961

ICAI Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Ind AS Indian accounting standards, as per the roadmap issued by the Ministry of Corporate
Affairs, Government of India, notified by the MCA under section 133 of the Companies
Act, 2013, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015

Indian GAAP Indian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) as notified under Section
133 of the Companies Act read with Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

IRDAI Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India

KES Kenyan Shillong

MAT Minimum Alternate Tax

MCA Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Gol

MoF Ministry of Finance, Gol

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

Mutual Funds

Mutual funds registered under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996

NEFT

National Electronic Fund Transfer

Non-Resident Indian or NRI

An individual resident outside India who is citizen of India

Non-Resident or NR

A person resident outside India, as defined under the FEMA
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Term Description
NSDL National Securities Depository Limited
NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited
P.A.orp.a. Per annum
PAN Permanent Account Number allotted under the I.T. Act
PAS Rules The Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014
RBI Reserve Bank of India
RoC or Registrar Registrar of Companies, Karnataka at Bengaluru
Rule 144A Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act

SCR (SECC) Regulations

The Securities Contracts (Regulation) (Stock Exchanges and Clearing Corporations),
Regulations, 2018

SCRA The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956

SCRR The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957

SEBI The Securities and Exchange Board of India established under the SEBI Act
SEBI Act The Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI FPI Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations,
2019

SEBI ICDR Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2018

SEBI Insider Trading Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading)
Regulations, 2015

SEBI Listing Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

SEBI Mutual Fund Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

SEBI SBEB Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and
Sweat Equity) Regulations, 2021

SEBI Takeover Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011

SGD Singapore Dollar
U.S. The United States of America and its territories and possessions
U.S. GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America

Securities Act / U.S. Securities Act
/ United States Securities Act

The United States Securities Act of 1933

VCF

Venture capital fund as defined and registered with SEBI under the erstwhile Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Fund) Regulations, 1996 or the SEBI
AIF Regulations, as the case may be.

Wilful Defaulter
Borrower

or Fraudulent

Wilful defaulter or fraudulent borrower as defined under Regulation 2(1)(lll) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations

Business, technical and industry related terms

Term Description
AFC Automated Fare Collection
Al Artificial Intelligence

Current Ratio

Current assets divided by current liabilities

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

Net profit after tax plus non-cash operating expenses (depreciation & amortization),
finance cost and exceptional loss divided by total of interest and principal payments
(including lease)

Debt to Equity Ratio

Debt to Equity Ratio is calculated as total debt divided by net worth. Total debt is
calculated as non-current borrowings plus current borrowing. Net worth is calculated
as total equity attributable to equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and
restructuring reserves

EBITDA Margin

EBITDA margin is calculated as EBITDA divided by revenue from operations.
EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA is calculated as profit/ (loss) for the year/ period
plus total tax expense, depreciation and amortization expense plus finance cost plus
exceptional items less other income.

FCTR Foreign currency translation reserves

laaS Infrastructure-as-a-Service

Interest Coverage ratio EBIT divided by interest cost

LMICs Low and middle-income countries

ML Machine Learning

Net Worth Equity attributable to Equity Shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and restructuring

reserves
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Term Description

PaaS Platform-as-a-Service

PAT Profit after tax

PAT Margin Profit after tax margin is calculated as profit/ (loss) for the year/ period divided by
revenue from operations

ROCE EBIT divided by capital employed. EBIT is calculated as profit/ (loss) for the year/
period plus total tax expense, finance costs and exceptional item. Capital employed is
calculated as a total of net worth (excluding non-controlling interest), borrowings for
ROCE and deferred tax

ROE Profit/ (loss) for the year/ period divided by average net worth. Average net worth is
calculated as average of net worth as of the first day of the relevant period and as of the
last day of the relevant period. Net worth is calculated as total equity attributable to
equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and restructuring reserves.

SaaS Software-as-a-Service

SMEs Small and medium-sized enterprises
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SUMMARY OF BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We are an IT transformation services player in the Asian banking and fintech industry with around 25 years of
experience. With a diversified portfolio of solutions, our focus is on improving operational processes and
automating manual activities to enable enterprises to build better customer experiences. Our solutions cater to
retail and wholesale banking, treasury and capital markets, and payments. In addition, we focus on other areas of
technology innovation including smart mobility and data centre solutions, hybrid cloud services and smart city
initiatives. In Fiscal 2023, our revenue from operations from banking and fintech accounted for 52.13% of our
total revenue from operations, while our revenue from technology innovation accounted for 47.87% of our total
revenue from operations.

Our Subsidiary, Integro Technologies Pte Ltd., has been recognized as a category leader in the Chartis’s RiskTech
Quadrant for loan origination solutions, collateral management solutions, limits management solutions for 2022
in the report titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued by
Chartis Research. Further, we have received numerous awards over the years, including “Best Transaction
Banking Implementation” at the 5" IBS Intelligence Global FinTech Innovation Awards in 2023, “Best
Technology Brand” by Economic Times under the Best Tech Brands category in 2022, and “Technology
Excellence Award” in the digital technology category at the Asian Technology Excellence Awards 2022 for our
automatic fare collection system.

We cater to a diverse customer base, spanning various industries such as banking and financial services,
telecommunications, IT, data centers, capital markets, public sector units, government undertakings and transit.
As of December 31, 2023, we have served more than 200 customers and have long-standing relationships with
our top 10 customers (in terms of revenue from operations in the nine months ended December 31, 2023),
averaging over eight years. Further, our revenue base is geographically diversified. As of December 31, 2023, we
have served customers in over 30 countries including Singapore, USA, Thailand and UAE. In Fiscal 2021, 2022
and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from operations from customers
located outside India was X 21,453.06 lakhs, % 25,255.19 lakhs, ¥ 28,546.67 lakhs, X 21,995.36 lakhs and X
27,777.59 lakhs, respectively, representing 57.36%, 50.01%, 43.30%, 46.93% and 43.36% of our revenue from
operations during such years/ periods, respectively.

Over the years, we have expanded our presence and capabilities through strategic partnerships. For instance, in
the banking space, we have formed a partnership to offer our “SmartLender” trade limits solution alongside our
partner’s trade innovation solution. Similarly in the transit business, we have formed strategic partnerships with
technology companies to develop contactless smart transit solution for transit agencies and operators and open-
loop ticketing and payments systems for transport operators across India. In addition to the partnerships in the
transit space, we have also developed capabilities to cater to customers in the data centre industry.

We prioritise innovation and research and development (“R&D”) through multiple initiatives, through a
combination of solutions we design as responses to customer requests, as well as proactive efforts to identify
marketable solutions. In the past, we launched several solutions as a result of our R&D activities. For instance,
we launched EMV Card Type Payment Terminal (ECR-one), which is capable of accepting both RuPay open loop
cards and EMV global payment cards. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31,
2022 and 2023, our total expenditure on R&D activities amounted to X 1,904.22 lakhs, X 2,758.17 lakhs, X 4,534.48
lakhs, ¥ 2,944.35 lakhs, and % 4,643.30 lakhs, respectively, representing 5.09%, 5.46%, 6.88%, 6.28% and 7.25%
of our revenue from operations, respectively.

We have strong execution capabilities, encompassing our ability to effectively plan, implement, and deliver
solutions to our customers. Our execution capabilities are led by team of professionals, comprising 2,295
employees and 57 consultants, as of December 31, 2023, who possess domain expertise, technical skills, and
industry knowledge, enabling us to understand customer requirements and execute projects efficiently. We
prioritize innovation in our execution processes, constantly adapting to changing customer needs and market
dynamics. As of December 31, 2023, we had 2,295 employees, with varied levels of experience. We place a strong
emphasis on fostering a positive and inclusive work culture and we have been certified as a Great Place to Work
organization.

We are led by our Promoter and Chairman and Managing Director, Paresh Chandulal Zaveri who has several
years of experience in general management and strategic planning. Our other Promoter and Co-Chairman and the

28



Non-executive Non Independent Director, Amit Rameshchandra Sheth has experience in the technology industry.
We believe that the strength of our Board and management team and their experience has enabled us to take
advantage of market opportunities and to better serve our customers.

We believe that we have established operational drivers that have helped deliver us growth in terms of revenue
and profitability. Our revenue from operations has increased from X 37,401.77 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to % 65,933.16
lakhs in Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 32.77% whereas our EBITDA has increased from X 8,376.50 lakhs in Fiscal
2021 to X 14,461.07 lakhs in Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 31.39%. Further, our diversified offerings and customer
base built over the years, have led to our order book growing from X 72,601.00 lakhs as of March 31, 2021 to
91,122.31 lakhs, as of March 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we had an order book of ¥ 87,185.64
lakhs and % 92,604.13 lakhs. This demonstrates our ability to meet customer demands and the scalable nature of
our business.

Strengths

IT transformation services player in the Asian banking and fintech industry with a diversified portfolio of
solutions

We offer advanced technology solutions that enable enterprises to drive digital innovation securely and efficiently.
Our solutions are designed to improve operational processes and automate manual activities, helping enterprises
build better experiences for their customers. Our solutions cater to retail and wholesale banking, treasury and
capital markets, and payments. Our Subsidiary, Integro Technologies Pte Ltd., has been recognized as a category
leader in the Chartis’s RiskTech Quadrant for loan orgination solutions, collateral management solutions, limits
management solutions for 2022 in the report titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor
Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis Research. In addition to our offerings for the banking and fintech
sectors, we focus on other areas of technology innovation including smart mobility and data centre solutions,
hybrid cloud services and smart city initiatives.

The following tables set forth our revenue from operations from our solutions for the banking and fintech sector
and technology innovation group for the years/ periods indicated:

Particulars Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023
Amount R Percentage of Amount % Percentage of Amount % Percentage of
lakhs) Revenue from lakhs) Revenue from lakhs) Revenue from
Operations Operations Operations
Banking and 27,121.25 7251% | 30,156.15 59.71% | 34,372.76 52.13%
Fintech
Technology 10,280.52 27.49% | 20,345.07 40.29% | 31,560.40 47.87%
Innovation
Group
Particulars Nine months ended December 31, 2022 Nine months ended December 31, 2023
Amount % Percentage of Amount % Percentage of Revenue
lakhs) Revenue from lakhs) from Operations
Operations
Banking and Fintech 26,736.72 57.05% 33,665.00 52.55%
Technology  Innovation 20,131.41 42.95% 30,395.07 47.45%
Group

Well diversified, longstanding and marquee customers across key target industries

We have leveraged our diverse portfolio of offerings to develop longstanding relationships with a marquee
customer base. As of December 31, 2023, we served more than 200 customers across industries including such as
banking and financial services, telecommunications, IT, data centers, capital markets, public sector units,
government undertakings and transit.
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We have long-standing relationships of more than eight years on average with our top 10 customers (in terms of
revenue from operations in the nine months ended December 31, 2023). The table below sets forth the details of
our top 10 customers (in terms of revenue from operations in the nine months ended December 31, 2023) of as
December 31, 2023:

S. No. Customer Commencement of Number of Years of
Relationship Customer Relationship

1. Singaporean regional bank Fiscal Year 2008 16 years
e P -

3. Lgtrj\i?gesrrltélrtri]r;ztrilgnal banking and financial Fiscal Year 2008 16 years

4. United Arab Emirates based bank Fiscal Year 2012 12 years

5. Indian government IT solutions provider Fiscal Year 2015 9 years

6. Metro Rail Operator Fiscal Year 2017 7 years

7. Data center services provider Fiscal Year 2021 3 years

8. Payment solutions provider. Fiscal Year 2021 3 years

9. Data center services provider Fiscal Year 2021 3 years

10. National bank of Philippine Fiscal Year 2024 1 year

We believe that sustaining long-term relationships and building on our existing relationships has contributed
significantly to the growth of our revenues. Our ability to provide quality products and solutions that meet our
customers’ requirement has enabled us to maintain long-term relationships with our customers. The tables below
set forth certain details of revenues generated from our customers based on the length of our relationships with
such customers for the years/ periods indicated:

Particulars Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023
Amount R Percentage of | Amount X Percentage Amount (X | Percentage
lakhs) Revenue lakhs) of Revenue lakhs) of Revenue
from from from
Operations Operations Operations
More than 5 years 20,181.67 53.96% 27,282.49 54.02% 26,714.33 40.52%
Less than 5 years 17,220.10 46.04% 23,218.73 45.98% 39,218.83 59.48%

Particulars Nine months ended December 31, 2022 Nine months ended December 31, 2023
Amount (Z lakhs) Percentage of Amount (% lakhs) Percentage of
Revenue from Revenue from
Operations Operations
More than 5 years 20,251.93 43.21% 22,757.90 35.53%
Less than 5 years 26,615.43 56.79% 41,302.18 64.47%

Ability to service a large addressable market across geographies
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We have a geographically diversified revenue base. As of December 31, 2023, we served customers in over 30
countries including Singapore, USA, Thailand and UAE. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the nine months
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from operations from customers located outside India was
21,453.06 lakhs, X 25,255.19 lakhs, X 28,546.67 lakhs, X 21,995.36 lakhs and X 27,777.59 lakhs, respectively,
representing 57.36%, 50.01%, 43.30%, 46.93% and 43.36% of our revenue from operations during such years/
periods, respectively. The following tables set forth our revenues from customers based on the location of our
customers for the years/ periods indicated:

Particulars Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023
Amount R Percentage of | Amount R Percentage of | Amount R Percentage of
lakhs) Revenue from lakhs) Revenue from lakhs) Revenue from
Operations Operations Operations
India 15,948.70 42.64% 25,246.03 49.99% 37,386.49 56.70%
Asia Pacific 13,849.22 37.03% 14,440.29 28.59% 20,041.59 30.40%
Region  (other
than India)
USA 2,812.03 7.52% 4,190.71 8.30% 3,428.52 5.20%
Middle East & 4,791.82 12.81% 6,624.19 13.12% 5,076.56 7.70%
Africa Region
Total 37,401.77 100.00% | 50,501.22 100.00% | 65,933.16 100.00%
Particulars Nine months ended December 31, 2022 Nine months ended December 31, 2023
Amount R Percentage of Revenue Amount (% Percentage of Revenue
lakhs) from Operations lakhs) from Operations
India 24,872.01 53.07% 36,282.49 56.64%
Asia  Pacific  Region 15,090.16 32.20% 19,036.92 29.72%
(other than India)
USA 3,148.26 6.72% 4,881.36 7.62%
Middle East & Africa 3,756.94 8.02% 3,859.31 6.02%
Region
Total 46,867.36 100.00% 64,060.08 100.00%

As evidenced by industry reports, the sectors we operate in have a long demand runway and significant growth
potential. For example, as per the report issued on “Global Credit Risk Management Market” by Coherent Market
Insights, the global credit risk management market was valued at USD 7,176.9 million in 2023 and is expected to
grow ata CAGR of 9.3% during 2024 and 2031 to reach USD 14,415.1 million in 203 1. Further, as per the “Global
Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” issued by Global Mass Transit Research, the automated fare
collection market is projected to increase from USD 11.19 billon in 2022 to nearly USD 17.87 billion in 2029.
Further, as per the “Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 20-3 - 2028 issued by Netscribes (India) Private
Limited, the cloud infrastructure in India was valued at ¥ 356.19 billion in 2022 and is expected to reach ¥ 1,621.10
billion by 2028, expanding at a CAGR of 27.49% during the 2023-2028 period.

We have strategically expanded our reach and capabilities to effectively serve this large addressable market. We
have sales channel partners which enable us expand our reach in Europe and Middle-East and as of December 31,
2023, we have 21 employees primarily located in India, Thailand, Singapore and Malaysia who are responsible
for spearheading our sales efforts. We currently operate in 11 countries including India, Singapore, Malaysia,
Thailand, USA and UAE through our offices and primarily in geographies where our key customers are located
to ensure efficient execution, timely delivery and faster resolution of service issues. In addition, we focus on
increasing our capabilities through strategic partnerships. For instance, in the banking space, we have formed a
partnership to offer our “SmartLender” trade limits solution alongside our partner’s trade innovation solution.
Similarly in the transit business, we have formed strategic partnerships with technology companies to develop
contactless smart transit solution for transit agencies and operators and open-loop ticketing and payments systems
for transport operators across India. In addition to the partnerships in the transit space, we have also developed
capabilities to cater to customers in the data centre industry.

With our combination of a strong sales team, on-ground presence and strategic partnerships, we believe we are
well-positioned to cater to the large addressable market in different geographies.

Strong execution capabilities

We have strong execution capabilities, encompassing our ability to effectively plan, implement, and deliver
solutions to our customers. Our execution capabilities are led by team of professionals, comprising 2,295
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employees and 57 consultants, as of December 31, 2023, who possess domain expertise, technical skills, and
industry knowledge, enabling us to understand customer requirements and execute projects efficiently. We follow
a systematic and well-structured project management approach to ensure the successful implementation of our
offerings. We emphasize on innovation in our execution processes where we seek to adapt to changing customer
needs and market dynamics, ensuring that our solutions align with the latest industry trends and technologies. The
following are some notable projects undertake in the past which demonstrate our execution capabilities:

e supply, license, and implementation of automated fare collection system for one of the state metro rail
corporations in India

o supply, implementation, and maintenance of an open loop automated ticketing system for transport buses for
one of the state road transport corporations in India; and

e supply, implementation, and maintenance of transaction banking solutions for one of the Indian public sector
banks.

We have received numerous awards over the years, including “Best Transaction Banking Implementation” at the
51 IBS Intelligence Global FinTech Innovation Awards in 2023, “Best Technology Brand” by Economic Times
under the Best Tech Brands category in 2022, “Technology Excellence Award” in the digital technology category
at the Asian Technology Excellence Awards 2022 for our automatic fare collection system, “Best Enterprise of
the Year” award in the IT sector for Aurobees, a platform focussed on SMEs by SME Chamber of India and
“iCashpro+”, and our transaction banking solution received “Technoviti Award” for “Most Innovative Banking
Technology Platform” for three consecutive years in 2020, 2021 and 2022.

We believe that our strong execution capabilities, talented team, and industry recognition position us as a trusted
partner for our customers.

Consistent focus on research and development

We prioritise innovation and research and development (“R&D”) through multiple initiatives, through a
combination of solutions we design as responses to customer requests, as well as proactive efforts to identify
marketable solutions. Our emphasis on R&D has been critical to our success and we believe, sets us apart from
our competitors. We focus on conducting dedicated R&D in our existing products and in areas with significant
growth potential. To support our R&D efforts, we have skilled professionals dedicated to R&D activities. Their
expertise enables us to consistently launch a range of new solutions. In the past, we launched certain solutions as
a result of our R&D activities. For instance, we launched AuroDigi and Aurobees in Fiscal 2023 and EMV Card
Type Payment Terminal (ECR-one) in Fiscal 2024, which is capable of accepting both RuPay open loop cards
and EMV global payment cards.

In Fiscal 2021, 2022, and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our total expenditure on
R&D activities amounted to % 1,904.22 lakhs, % 2,758.17 lakhs, % 4,534.48 lakhs, X 2,944.35 lakhs and % 4,643.30
lakhs, respectively, representing 5.09%, 5.46%, 6.88%, 6.28% and 7.25% of our revenue from operations,
respectively.

We are committed to allocating our capital towards the enhancement of our R&D efforts which we believe will
enable us to continuously launch new solutions, drive technical innovation, and stay up-to-date with the latest
industry trends. Our continued investment in R&D will help us to further improve our intellectual capital and
solidify our competitive position.

Experienced Promoters and management team

We have a professional and experienced management team with experience in the IT services industry. We are
led by our Promoter and Chairman and Managing Director, Paresh Chandulal Zaveri who has several years of
experience in general management and strategic planning. Our other Promoter and Co-Chairman and the Non-
executive Non Independent Director, Amit Rameshchandra Sheth has experience in the technology industry.

In addition, we have an experienced Board of Directors, that includes our Non Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer, Ashish Rai and Non Executive Non Independent Director Ajay Dilkhush Sarupria and
Independent Directors which include Mahendra Singh Mehta, Frank Paul Osusky 111, Rajeev Uberoi and Sudha
Bhushan. Further, our Senior Management include our President — Banking and Fintech, Shekhar Mullati, our
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President — Tech Innovation Group, Sanjay Bharat Bali and our Global Head — Human Resource, Juveri
Mukherjee and our Key Management Personnel include our Chief Financial Officer, Vipul Parmar, our Company
Secretary & Compliance Officer, Ninad Prabhakar Kelkar.

We believe that the strength of our Board and management team and their experience has enabled us to take
advantage of market opportunities and to better serve our customers. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, we
had 2,295 employees, with varied levels of experience. We place a strong emphasis on fostering a positive and
inclusive work culture and we have been certified as a Great Place to Work organization.

Scalable and attractive financial profile

We believe that we have established operational drivers that have helped deliver us growth in terms of revenue
and profitability. Our revenue from operations has increased from Fiscal 2021 to Fiscal 2023 ata CAGR of 32.77%
whereas our EBITDA has increased from Fiscal 2021 to Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 31.39%. The following table
sets forth certain financial information for the years/ periods indicated:

Particulars For the year ended March 31, For the nine months ended
December 31,
2021 2022 2023 2022 2023
Revenue  from 37,401.77 50,501.22 65,933.16 46,867.36 64,060.08
Operations R
lakhs)
EBITDA R 8,376.50 11,158.56 14,461.07 10,417.49 14,083.84
lakhs)®
EBITDA Margin 22.40% 22.10% 21.93% 22.23% 21.99%
(%)
Profit/ (loss) for (11,756.55) 7,557.38 10,188.57 7,528.33 10,346.34
the period/ year
(Z lakhs)
PAT Margin (31.43)% 14.96% 15.45% 16.06% 16.15%
(%)®
Return on Equity (18.56)% 13.34% 15.71% 11.85% 13.00%
(%)@
Return on Capital (8.77)% 16.02% 18.10% 13.23% 14.45%
Employed (%)®
Net Worth (R 53,145.95 60,160.98 69,512.02 66,908.17 89,612.54
lakhs)®
Current Ratio (in 1.89 2.18 1.95 1.95 1.87
times)™
Debt to Equity 0.21 0.10 0.11 0.14 0.12
Ratio (in times)®
Debt Service 241 2.38 3.59 3.92 4.69
Coverage Ratio
(in times)®
Interest Coverage (3.91) 16.32 15.91 17.28 18.16
Ratio (in
times)?)

(M EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA is calculated as profit / (loss) for the year/ period plus total tax expense, depreciation and
amortization expense plus finance cost plus exceptional items less other income.

2 EBITDA Margin is calculated as EBITDA margin is calculated as EBITDA divided by revenue from operations.

@ PAT Margin is calculated as profit/ (loss) for the year/ period divided by revenue from operations.

@) Return on Equity is calculated is calculated as profit/ (loss) for the year/ period divided by average net worth. Average net
worth is calculated as average of net worth as of the first day of the relevant period and as of the last day of the relevant
period. Net worth is calculated as total equity attributable to equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and restructuring
reserves.

® Return on Capital Employed is calculated as EBIT divided by capital employed. EBIT is calculated as profit/ (loss) for the
year/ period plus total tax expense, finance costs and exceptional item. Total capital employed is calculated as a total of net
worth (excluding non-controlling interest), borrowings for ROCE and deferred tax. Net worth is calculated as total equity
attributable to equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and restructuring reserves.

®) Net worth is calculated as equity attributable to equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and restructuring reserves.
(™ Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities.

@ Debt to Equity Ratio is calculated as total debt divided by net worth. Total debt is calculated as non-current borrowings
plus current borrowing. Net worth is calculated as total equity attributable to equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR
and restructuring reserves.
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© Debt service coverage ratio is calculated as net profit after tax plus non-cash operating expenses (depreciation &
amortization), finance cost and exceptional loss divided by total of interest and principal payments (including lease).
(19) Interest coverage ratio is calculated as EBIT divided by interest cost.

Further, our diversified offerings and customer base built over the years, have led to our order book growing from
% 72,601.00 lakhs as of March 31, 2021 to ¥ 91,122.31 lakhs, as of March 31, 2023. This demonstrates our ability
to meet customer demands and the scalable nature of our business. As of December 31, 2023, we had an order
book of ¥ 92,604.13 lakhs, with orders from several customers and includes the following key projects:

1. received an order in the Philippines market for license, implementation and maintenance of a smart lender
commercial loan originating system from one of the largest banks in the Philippines;

2. received orders for the upgrade and enhancement of iCashpro+ from existing customers;
3. engaged with a non-bank financial company in Philippines to provide our SmartLender solution;

4. received an order from a bank in the Middle-East for the enhancement of the existing transaction banking
solution;

5. received an order for the rapid transit bus project in Merida, Mexico;

6. received new orders in data centre segment from a telecom company in Bhutan, a premier public research
university and technical institute in India and expansion of an existing data center in Odisha

7. implementation of phase 2 of building data centres in Bangalore and Hyderabad; and

8. multiple projects to enable various digital and automation initiatives of the Central and State governments
in India.

Further, recently, we have received an order from the Government of Haryana for the issuance of open loop
National Common Mobility Cards. Similarly, we have received an order from an Indian public sector bank for the
license, implementation and support of our transaction banking platform, iCashpro+. The license and
implementation will be delivered in phases over 12 months, followed by maintenance and support for six years.

Strategies
Expand our portfolio of solutions

We recognise the significance of customizing our offerings to cater to the unique needs and preferences of
different markets. To gain a competitive edge, we intend to launch region-specific customized solutions. By
tailoring our products and services to specific market requirements, we aim to better serve our customers and
establish a strong market presence.

Further, we intend to continue to establish selective strategic partnerships to further enhance our offerings and
their reach. We believe such strategic partnerships will enable us to leverage our partners’ expertise, market
knowledge, and technology to enrich our solutions. In markets where we currently do not have a presence, we
intend to seek partnerships as they can be instrumental in driving our expansion and establishing a strong foothold
in new markets.

Strengthen our presence in the APAC region while focusing on our core business

We intend to strengthen our footprint in the APAC region while maintaining focus on our core business areas
which include lending and transaction banking solutions, transit solutions, and data centers and cloud services. As
of December 31, 2023, we have served over 200 customers in nine countries within the APAC region, including
countries such as Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the nine months ended
December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from operations from the APAC region (excluding India) was
13,849.22 lakhs, % 14,440.29 lakhs, % 20,041.59 lakhs, % 15,090.16 lakhs and % 19,036.92 lakhs, respectively,
representing 37.03%, 28.59%, 30.40%, 32.20% and 29.72% of our revenue from operations, respectively. Further,
in Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, we acquired one, two,
four, four and ten new customers in the APAC region (excluding India), respectively.
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With a focus on our core business areas which include lending and transaction banking solutions, transit solutions,
and data centers and cloud services, we plan to increase our customer base and solidify our position in the APAC
region. Furthermore, we will focus on cross-selling our offerings to existing customers in the APAC region.

Expand our geographic presence

Over the years, we have increased our geographic presence and as of December 31, 2023, we were present in over
14 countries and served customers in over 30 countries including Singapore, USA, UAE, Philippines and
Malaysia. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue
from operations from customers located outside India was X 21,453.06 lakhs, X 25,255.19 lakhs, % 28,546.67
lakhs, % 21,995.36 lakhs and X 27,777.59 lakhs, respectively, representing 57.36%, 50.01%, 43.30%, 46.93% and
43.36% of our revenue from operations during such years/ periods, respectively.

We intend to grow our customer base in the Middle-east and Africa regions and developed markets such as Europe
and USA. We intend to leverage our existing capabilities to offer customized solutions that meet the unique
requirements of customers in these markets. Further, to penetrate these markets, we intend to establish strategic
partnerships with local technology players to access a wider customer base, and opportunities for joint innovation,
which we believe will enable us to establish a strong presence in the targeted markets. In addition, we intend to
build a systematic sales channel to solidify our foothold in these targeted markets. Further, as part of the expansion
strategy, we intend to invest in talent acquisition, ensuring the availability of skilled professionals with expertise
in the target regions.

Pursue strategic acquisitions and investments

We will evaluate inorganic growth opportunities, in keeping with our strategy to grow and develop our market
share or to add new product and service offerings. We may consider opportunities for inorganic growth, such as
through mergers and acquisitions or business transfer, to acquire new customers, enter new markets, strengthen
our position in the existing offerings and current markets, diversify our offerings, improve operational efficiency,
and enhance our expertise and knowledge. We intend to maintain a disciplined approach to acquisitions and
consider various selection criteria such as skills of the management team, operation scale, technological capability,
product portfolio, customer base and end market exposures. In line with this strategy, in the past, we have
completed the following acquisitions:

1. In September 2022, we acquired 51% shareholding in Toshi Automatic System Private Limited to
strengthen our presence in the mass transit market;

2. In August 2022, we, through our Subsidiary, Aurionpro Fintech Inc., acquired 100% shareholding of
Real Patient Solutions Inc based in United States, to acquire new customers and strengthen our existing
payment business in the United States;

3. In 2023, we, through our Subsidiary SC Soft Pte. Ltd. acquired 100% shareholding in SC Soft Americas
LLC to strengthen our presence in the automated fare collection and integrated transport management
system business in the North American market;

4. In September 2023, we acquired the interactive communication business from Trejhara Solutions Limited
pursuant to a business transfer agreement to complement our digital banking solutions and extend our
reach in newer customer segments and enhance our offerings; and

5. In October 2023, we acquired Omnifin business from A S Software Services Private Limited pursuant to
a business transfer agreement which we believe will strengthen our Lending Suite solutions and will
enable us to cater to the wide range of customers in banking and financial space.

Our focus is on augmenting our existing offerings in the areas of lending and transaction banking solutions, transit
solutions, and data centres and cloud services and increase our geographic reach in the Middle East and Africa
regions and developed markets such as Europe and USA. In particular, we are currently exploring and may
consider, inter-alia, acquisition of businesses/ entities involved in the Al cloud solutions for banks, insurers and
financial services with a view to strengthen our transaction banking solutions and enhance our solutions in the
banking and fintech sectors. We may consider a mix of equity and/or cash consideration to fund such proposed
acquisitions. To pursue our strategy towards acquisitions and investments, we intend 35tilizeise a portion from
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the Net Proceeds. For more information, see “Use of Proceeds — Pursuing inorganic growth initiatives through
acquisitions” on page 82.
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SUMMARY OF THE ISSUE

The following is a general summary of the terms of the Issue. This summary should be read in conjunction with,
and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Preliminary Placement
Document, including the sections titled “Risk Factors”, “Use of Proceeds”, “Placement”, “Issue Procedure” and
“Description of the Equity Shares” on pages 47, 81, 189, 176 and 208, respectively.

Issuer Aurionpro Solutions Limited
Face Value %10 per Equity Share
Issue Size Issue of up to [@] Equity Shares at a premium of [e] per Equity Share, aggregating up

to Z[e] lakhs

A minimum of 10% of the Issue Size i.e. at least [®] Equity Shares, shall be made
available for Allocation to Mutual Funds only and the balance [®] Equity Shares shall be
made available for Allocation to all QIBs, including Mutual Funds. In case of under-
subscription in the portion available for Allocation to Mutual Funds, such
undersubscribed portion or part thereof may be Allotted to other Eligible QIBs.

Date of Board Resolution

January 10, 2024

Date of Shareholders’ | February 7, 2024

Resolution

Floor Price ¥2,103.68 per Equity Share, calculated in accordance with Regulation 176 of Chapter VI
of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
Our Company may offer a discount of not more than 5% on the Floor Price in accordance
with the approval of the Shareholders accorded through their special resolution passed in
their extraordinary general meeting held on February 7, 2024 and in terms of Regulation
176(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Issue Price Z[ @] per Equity Share of our Company (including a premium of X[ e] per Equity Share)

Eligible Investors

Eligible QIBs, to whom this Preliminary Placement Document and the Application Form
are delivered and who are eligible to bid and participate in the Issue. For further details,
see the sections titled “Issue Procedure — Eligible Qualified Institutional Buyers” and
“Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on pages 181 and 201,
respectively.

The list of Eligible QIBs to whom this Preliminary Placement Document and the
Application Form is delivered shall be determined by the Book Running Lead Manager
in consultation with our Company, at their sole discretion.

Equity Shares issued and
outstanding immediately prior
to the Issue

2,57,18,100" Equity Shares of face value of 10 each, being fully paid-up

*We are still awaiting listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges for the preferential
issue of 9,02,935 Equity Shares

Subscribed and paid-up Equity
Share capital prior to the Issue

%2,571.81 lakhs

Equity Shares issued and
outstanding immediately after
the Issue

[e] Equity Shares

Issue Procedure

The Issue is being made only to Eligible QIBs in reliance on Section 42 of the Companies
Act read with Rule 14 of the PAS Rules, and all other applicable provisions of the
Companies Act, read with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. For further details,
see “Issue Procedure” on page 176

Listing and Trading

Our Company has received in-principle approvals, each dated March 13, 2024 from BSE
and NSE respectively in terms of Regulation 28(1)(a) of the SEBI Listing Regulations
for listing of the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue.

Our Company will make applications to each of the Stock Exchanges to obtain final
listing and trading approval for the Equity Shares after the Allotment and after the credit
of the Equity Shares to the beneficiary account of the Depository Participant.

The trading of the Equity Shares would be in dematerialized form and only in the cash
segment of each of the Stock Exchanges.

Lock-up

See “Placement — Lock-up” on page 189 for a description of restrictions on our Company,
Promoters, Promoter Group and Directors in relation to Equity Shares.

Transferability Restrictions

The Equity Shares being Allotted pursuant to this Issue shall not be sold for a period of
one year from the date of Allotment, except on the floor of the Stock Exchanges. For
further details, see “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on page 201

Use of Proceeds

The Gross Proceeds from the Issue aggregate to X[e] lakhs
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For additional information on the use of the Net Proceeds from the Issue, see “Use of
Proceeds” on page 81. The Net Proceeds from the Issue, after deducting Issue related
expenses aggregate to X [e] lakhs

Risk Factors

See “Risk Factors” on page 47 for a discussion of risks you should consider before
deciding whether to subscribe for the Equity Shares

Dividend See “Description of the Equity Shares” and “Dividends” on pages 208 and 96,
respectively

Taxation See “Taxation” on page 212

Closing Date The Allotment is expected to be made on or about [e]

Status, Ranking and dividends

The Equity Shares being issued pursuant to the Issue shall be subject to the provisions of
the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association and shall rank pari passu
in all respects with the existing Equity Shares, including rights in respect of dividends.
Our Shareholders’ (as on record date) will be entitled to participate in dividends and other
corporate benefits, if any, declared by our Company after the Closing Date, in compliance
with the Companies Act, the SEBI Listing Regulations and other applicable laws and
regulations. Our Shareholders may attend and vote in shareholders’ meetings on the basis
of one vote for every Equity Share held.

For further details, see “Description of the Equity Shares” and “Dividends” on pages 208
and 96

Voting Rights

See “Description of the Equity Shares — Voting Rights” on page 208

Security Codes for the Equity
Shares

ISIN: INE132H01018
BSE code: 532668
NSE symbol: AURIONPRO
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set out selected financial information as extracted from our Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements and Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements presented in “Financial Information” on
page 225. The selected financial information presented below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Financial Information”, on
pages 97 and 225 respectively, for further details.
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Summary of audited consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2023 and Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021

(< in lakhs)
. As at As at As at
Particulars
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 8,255.50 8,146.26 8,515.96 5,748.87 5,467.28
Capital Work-in-Progress 776.80 57.23 326.11 1,008.91 1,340.66
Right-of-Use Assets 1,217.91 515.76 1,297.97 405.86 906.78
Goodwill 28,466.93 8,464.72 8,498.09 6,731.11 6,588.57
Other Intangible Assets 3,250.39 1,465.68 2,962.60 1,563.60 1,348.27
Intangible Assets under Developments 1,576.98 802.56 297.87 108.17 -
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 18.42 3,591.32 3,591.54 4,041.20 3,5691.97
(ii) Other Financials Assets 660.95 867.64 945.43 922.25 1,241.27
Income Tax Assets (net) 681.60 294.76 596.76 891.19 812.01
Deferred Tax Assets (net) 639.42 804.00 853.23 696.97 817.59
Other Non-Current Assets 1,343.66 765.13 1,299.80 55.83 71.58
46,888.56 25,775.06 29,185.36 22,173.96 22,185.98
Current Assets
Inventories 2,230.62 3,362.13 2,797.52 2,372.72 2,600.35
Financial Assets
(i) Trade Receivables 25,576.50 21,702.04 19,939.50 13,900.45 10,305.44
(ii) Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,144.44 1,656.24 2,402.12 4,044.12 2,217.04
(iii) Bank Balance other than (ii) 2,355.72 1,875.57 1,879.31 1,726.15 1,639.80
above
(iv) Other Financial Assets 16,462.69 10,870.00 11,140.82 7,316.72 6,324.39
Other current assets 12,999.37 19,218.17 17,520.08 12,987.94 11,029.65
Assets held for sale - - - - 5,200.70
62,769.34 58,684.15 55,679.35 42,348.10 39,317.37
TOTAL 1,09,657.90 84,459.21 84,864.71 64,522.06 61,503.35
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity Share Capital 2,381.52 2,280.02 2,280.02 2,280.02 2,280.02
Other Equity 66,331.27 45,803.11 47,492.40 37,406.85 31,366.70
Equity attributable to Equity Shareholders 68,712.79 48,083.13 49,772.42 39,686.87 33,646.72
Non Controlling Interest 1,826.08 1,024.27 1,732.71 668.47 311.82
Total Equity 70,538.87 49,107.40 51,505.13 40,355.34 33,958.54
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(< in lakhs)

Particulars

As at

As at

As at

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

March 31, 2023

March 31, 2022

March 31, 2021

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

(i) Borrowings 1,622.63 3,033.99 2,899.71 3,216.33 4,956.87
(ii) Lease Liability 668.46 316.04 812.04 7151 402.57
(iii) Other financial liabilities 2,000.00 - - - -
Other Non Current Liabilities 593.57 885.28 702.95 974.47 994.67
Provisions 577.93 486.36 450.91 515.71 440.58
5,462.59 4,721.67 4,865.61 4,778.02 6,794.69
Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 9,129.43 6,609.14 4,564.01 2,058.90 3,696.08
(ii) Lease Liability 618.21 266.14 554.99 334.48 630.37
(iii) Trade Payables
Total Outstanding dues of Micro 1,992.23 2,621.89 3,383.81 441.88 60.75
enterprises and Small Enterprises
Total outstanding dues of creditors other 8,354.71 11,591.37 8,572.78 7,360.53 5,351.99
than micro enterprises and small
enterprise
(iv) Other Financial Liabilities 7,597.51 3,283.51 4,692.23 3,260.73 5,964.01
Other Current Liabilities 4,474.48 5,063.60 5,136.58 4,730.14 4,070.23
Provisions 1,063.99 784.26 767.87 533.31 455.20
Current Tax Liabilities(net) 425.88 410.23 821.70 668.73 521.49
33,656.44 30,630.14 28,493.97 19,388.70 20,750.12
TOTAL 1,09,657.90 84,459.21 84,864.71 64,522.06 61,503.35
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Summary consolidated statement of profit and loss for the nine months period ended December 31, 2023 and Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021

(< in lakhs)

For the nine months period

For the nine months

Audited) For the year ended

. period ended
Particulars ended(ggﬁzr:::erdil, 2028 December 31, 2022 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
(Condensed)
Income
Revenue from Operations 64,060.08 46,867.36 65,933.16 50,501.22 37,401.77
Other Income 764.85 135.65 433.19 531.43 297.45
Total Income 64,824.93 47,003.01 66,366.35 51,032.65 37,699.22
Expenses
Operating Expenses 21,348.20 18,324.26 25,490.11 18,260.24 10,791.45
Change in Inventories of Raw Material, Finished 566.90 (970.73) (697.06) 227.63 63.70
Goods and Stock-in-Trade
Employee Benefits Expense 23,839.00 15,840.37 21,953.81 17,595.03 14,978.15
Finance Costs 953.80 693.06 1,077.06 826.39 1,579.78
Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses 1,505.75 1,151.31 1,585.00 1,397.91 13,939.06
Other Expenses 4,222.14 3,212.49 4,681.75 3,259.76 3,191.97
Total Expenses 52,435.79 38,250.76 54,090.67 41,566.96 44,544.11
Profit/(Loss) before Share of Profit of 12,389.14 8,752.25 12,275.68 9,465.69 (6,844.89)
Associates, Exceptional Items and Tax
Share of Profit/ (Loss) of Associates - (43.48) (43.48) - -
Profit/(Loss) before Exceptional Items and Tax 12,389.14 8,708.77 12,232.20 9,465.69 (6,844.89)
Exceptional Items - - - - 4,618.37
Profit/(Loss) before Tax 12,389.14 8,708.77 12,232.20 9,465.69 (11,463.26)
Tax Expense:
Current Tax 1,834.87 1,134.16 2,269.66 1,818.56 738.95
Deferred Tax Charge/(Credit) 207.93 46.28 (226.03) 89.75 (445.66)
Total Tax Expenses 2,042.80 1,180.44 2,043.63 1,908.31 293.29
Profit/(Loss) after Tax 10,346.34 7,528.33 10,188.57 7,557.38 (11,756.55)
Profit/(Loss) before Tax from Discontinued - - - - (7,443.82)
Operations
Tax Expenses of Discontinued Operations - - - - -
Profit/(Loss) after Tax from Discontinued - - - - (7,443.82)
Operations
Profit/(Loss) after tax from continuing 10,346.34 7,528.33 10,188.57 7,557.38 (19,200.37)

operations & discontinued operations

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit and loss
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(< in lakhs)

For the nine months period

For the nine months

Audited) For the year ended

. period ended
Particulars e"dEd(ggﬁzr::seegl’ 2023 December 31,2022 | March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
(Condensed)
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on defined (51.73) (69.59) (82.85) (83.70) 226.74
benefit plans (net of tax)
Foreign Exchange gain on translation of 58.13 159.41 268.25 30.61 47.55
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries/joint
venture
Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)for the year 6.40 89.82 185.40 (53.09) 274.29
Total Comprehensive Income/ (Loss) 10,352.74 7,618.15 10,373.97 7,504.29 (18,926.08)
Earnings per equity share (for continuing
operation)
-Basic (in %) 4431 31.69 42.69 31.00 (43.69)
-Diluted (in %) 4271 31.69 42.69 31.00 (43.69)
Earnings per equity share (for discontinued
operation)
-Basic and Diluted (in %) - - - - (9.79)
Earnings per equity share (for continuing and
discontinuing operation)
-Basic (in %) 4431 31.69 42.69 31.00 (53.48)
-Diluted (in %) 4271 31.69 42.69 31.00 (53.48)
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Summary consolidated cash flow statement for the nine months period ended December 31, 2023 Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021

(3in lakhs)

Particulars

For the nine months period
ended December 31, 2023

For the nine months
period ended
December 31, 2022

For the Year ended

March 31, 2023

March 31, 2022

March 31, 2021"

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net Profit / (loss) before Tax 12,389.14 8,708.77 12,232.20 9,465.69 (18,907.08)
Adjustments:
Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 1,505.75 1,151.31 1,585.00 1,397.91 13,939.06
Interest Income (199.92) (60.15) (292.09) (146.44) (155.04)
Interest Expenses 721.82 534.93 820.58 617.72 1,395.45
Bad debts 29.64 59.01 462.50 5.93 632.36
Provision for doubtful debts 53.31 56.74 (160.03) (40.40) 188.32
Stock based compensation cost 719.28 - - - -
(Profit) / Loss on sale of Property, Plant and (25.65) - - 8.66 28.69
Equipment (PPE)
Other non-cash exceptional items - - - - 4,618.37
Foreign exchange differences (Gain)/Loss(net) (480.60) 430.28 651.62 (391.62) 978.07
Operating profit before working capital changes 14,712.77 10,880.89 15,299.78 10,917.46 2,718.20
Movements in Working Capital
Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories 566.90 (659.56) (697.06) 227.63 (8.56)
Decrease/(Increase) in Trade Receivables and Other (4,470.47) (17,795.13) (15,218.29) (6,313.54) 5,074.92
Assets
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables, Other (2,732.13) 7,663.69 6,770.04 3,386.65 (2,160.56)
Liabilities

(6,635.70) (10,791.00) (9,145.31) (2,699.26) 2,905.80
Cash Generated from Operations 8,077.07 89.89 6,154.47 8,218.20 5,624.00
Income taxes paid (net of refunds) (2,309.62) (426.24) (2,065.92) (2,014.08) (708.29)
Net cash Generated / (used in) from Operating 5,767.45 (336.35) 4,088.55 6,204.12 4,915.71
Activities
Cash flow from Investing Activities
Sale/(Purchase) of PPE and Other Intangible Assets (2,378.85) (2,542.81) (4,593.32) (1,301.54) (966.66)
(net)
Purchases of Business (17,468.59) - - - -
Sale/(Purchase) of Investment(net) 3,582.15 (1,505.20) (1,166.57) 3,951.47 130.03
Interest received 164.71 45.50 281.88 146.04 143.83
Proceeds from/ (Used in) Fixed deposits with Banks (191.16) (58.27) (91.11) 285.97 (301.13)
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(3in lakhs)

bartioulare For the nine months period For [}in :éneenr;:dnths For the Year ended -
ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Net cash generated / (used in) from Investing (16,291.74) (4,060.78) (5,569.12) 3,081.93 (993.93)
Activities
Cash flow from financing Activities
Proceeds/(Repayment) Long-Term Borrowings(net) (1,516.78) 105.56 59.34 (2,881.60) (1,240.91)
Proceeds/(Repayment) of Short-Term 4,805.11 3,486.76 1,674.73 (3,218.24) (343.10)
Borrowings(net)
Dividend paid (602.50) (570.00) (570.00)
Proceeds from issue of Equity Shares 9,727.51 - - - -
Repayment of Lease Liabilities (502.33) (448.62) (608.71) (558.48) (863.32)
Interest paid (644.40) (564.45) (716.79) (802.91) (1,256.62)
Net cash Generated / (used in) from Financing 11,266.61 2,009.25 (161.43) (7,461.23) (3,703.95)
Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) In Cash and Cash 742.32 (2,387.88) (1,642.00) 1,824.81 217.83
Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of year 2,402.12 4,044.12 4,044.12 2,219.31 2,001.48
Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of year 3,144.44 1,656.24 2,402.12 4,044.12 2,219.31

*Regrouped/reclassified figures
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For details of the related party transactions during the nine months ended December 31, 2023 and the Financial
Years ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 as per the requirements under Indian Accounting
Standard (“Ind AS 24 ") notified under the Ind AS Rules read with Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, see

“Financial Information ”, beginning on page 225.
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RISK FACTORS

This Issue and an investment in the Equity Shares involve a certain degree of risk. You should carefully consider all
the risks and uncertainties described below as well as other information contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document before making an investment in the Equity Shares. If any particular risk or some combination of the risks
described below actually occurs, our business, results of operation, financial condition and cash flows could be
adversely affected, the trading price of the Equity Shares could decline and you may lose all or part of your
investment. Unless specified in the risk factors below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial implications
of any of the risks mentioned below. We have described the risks and uncertainties that we currently believe to be
material, but the risks set out in this Preliminary Placement Document may not be exhaustive or complete, and
additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or which we currently deem to be immaterial, may
arise or become material in the future. This section should be read together with “Industry Overview”, “Our
Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on
pages 128, 145 and 97, respectively, as well as the financial statements, including the notes thereto, and other
financial information included in “Financial Information” on page 225.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year. Accordingly, references to a “Fiscal” year are to the 12-month
period ended March 31 of the relevant year. Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, the
financial information included in this section for Fiscal 2021, Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2023 has been derived from
our Audited Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-38. The financial information included in this
section for the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 has been derived from our Interim Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1. See, “Financial Information” on page 225. The Interim
Condensed Financial Statements of our Company are not indicative of our Company’s annual performance and are
not comparable with the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Unless otherwise stated or the content
otherwise requires, references in this section to “our Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our” (including in the context of
any financial or operational information) are to us, our Subsidiaries and our joint venture on a consolidated basis.

This Preliminary Placement Document contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Our results could differ from such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the
considerations described below and elsewhere in this Preliminary Placement Document. For further details, see
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 16. Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this
section has been derived from the industry report titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor
Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis Research, report titled “Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 2023 -
2028 prepared and issued by Netscribes (India) Private Limited, report titled “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare
Collection Report” prepared and issued by Global Mass Transit Research and report titled “Global Credit Risk
Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031” prepared and
issued by Coherent Market Insights to enable the investors to understand the industry in which we operate in
connection with the Issue. Unless otherwise indicated, financial, operational, industry and other related information
derived from the aforesaid reports and included herein with respect to any particular calendar year or Fiscal refers
to such information for the relevant calendar year or Fiscal. For more details, see “Industry Overview” on page
128.

INTERNAL RISK FACTORS

1. Our revenues from operations are substantially dependent on customers located in the Asia Pacific
(“APAC?”) region and any adverse developments in the APAC region could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from operations from customers located in the APAC region. In
Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the nine months period ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from
operations from the customers located in the APAC region was % 29,797.92 lakhs, ¥ 39,686.32 lakhs,
57,428.08 lakhs, % 39,962.17 lakhs and X 55,319.41 lakhs, respectively, representing 79.67%, 78.58%, 87.10%,
85.27% and 86.36% of our revenue from operations, respectively.

Existing and potential competitors to our businesses may increase their focus on the APAC market, which could
reduce our market share. The concentration of our revenues from operations from the APAC heightens our
exposure to adverse developments related to competition, as well as economic, political, regulatory and other
changes. Political campaigns and any related transitions may also bring a degree of political and social
uncertainty in the Asia Pacific region which may cause capital flows and domestic investment to become more
volatile. Any adverse development that affects the overall economy of the APAC or sectors or industries in
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which our competitors operate, could have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition
and results of operations.

Further, the deterioration of the financial condition or business prospects of our customers located in the APAC
region could reduce their requirement for our services and result in a significant decrease in the revenues we
derive from these customers. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the nine months period ended December 31,
2022 and 2023, our revenue from operations from the top 10 customers located in the Asia Pacific region was
216,921.87 lakhs, ¥ 21,763.41 lakhs, ¥ 33,187.18 lakhs, X 23,856.18 lakhs and ¥ 29,627.89 lakhs, respectively,
representing 45.24 %, 43.09%, 50.33%, 50.90% and 46.25% of our revenue from operations, respectively. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain historic levels of business from our customers located in the
Asia Pacific region, or that we will be able to significantly reduce customer concentration in the future.

We generate a significant portion of our revenues from our top 10 customers, and any loss or reduction of
business from these customers could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our business, cash flows,
financial condition and results of operations.

We have derived a significant portion of our revenues from our top 10 customers which may not be the same
every year.

In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from
operations from our top 10 customers was X 17,329.24 lakhs, X 23,626.12 lakhs, % 35,211.46 lakhs, % 25,135.97
lakhs and % 32,472.76 lakhs, representing 46.33%, 46.78%, 53.40%, 53.63% and 50.69% of our revenue from
operations, respectively.

Our ability to maintain close relationships with these and other customers is essential to the growth and
profitability of our business. However, the volume and nature of work performed for a specific customer is
likely to vary from year to year. A major customer in one year may not provide the same level of revenues for
us in any subsequent year. The IT services we provide to our customers, and the revenues and net income from
those services, may decline or vary as the type and quantity of IT services the customers require changes over
time. Furthermore, our reliance on any individual customer for a significant portion of our revenues may give
that customer a certain degree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating contracts and terms of service.

In addition, a number of factors other than our performance could cause the loss of or reduction in business or
revenues from a customer, and these factors are not predictable. For example, a customer may decide to reduce
spending on technology services or sourcing from us due to a challenging economic environment or other
factors, both internal and external, relating to its business, may be involved in a litigation or may wind up.
Further, factors which are not in our or our customers’ control such as the socio-political situation in a particular
country or the outbreak of a contagious disease may also impact our business adversely. These factors, among
others, may include customers pursuing a corporate restructuring, facing pricing pressure, changing outsourcing
strategy, switching to another IT services provider or returning work in-house. The loss of any of our major
customers, or a significant decrease in the volume of work they outsource to us or the price at which we sell
our services to them, could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our revenues are highly dependent on a limited number of industry verticals, and any decrease in demand
for services in these industry verticals could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our business, cash
flows, financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of our customers are concentrated in a few specific industry verticals such as banking and
financial services, telecommunications, IT, data centers, capital markets, public sector units, government
undertakings and transit. The following table sets forth details of our industry wise revenue for the years/ periods
indicated:

Fiscal
2021 2022 2023
Industry Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
A':;‘)I:lh"st) R Revenue from AT;kuhI;t) R Revenue from AT:I:lhnst) R Revenue from
Operations (%) Operations (%) Operations (%)
BFSI 21,765.04 58.19% | 22,472.53 4450%| 26,352.00 39.97%
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Fiscal
2021 2022 2023
Industry Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
ATaOI:lhnst) R Revenue from AT;kuhI;t) R Revenue from ATat)I:lhnst) R Revenue from
Operations (%) Operations (%) Operations (%)

PSU, Government 9,686.06 25.90% | 17,685.82 35.02% | 22,218.01 33.70%
Undertakings and

Transit

Data Centre 595.24 1.59% 2,658.19 5.26% 9,344.30 14.17%
Capital Markets 137.73 0.37% 192.06 0.38% 997.68 1.51%
Telecom 1,783.66 4.77% 3,055.68 6.05% 1,542.23 2.34%
IT and other 3,434.03 9.18% 4,436.71 8.79% 5,478.95 8.31%
Industries

Total 37,401.77 100.009%| 50,501.22 100.00% | 65,933.16 100.00%

Nine months ended December 31,
Industry 2(F)’if'centage of Revenue 2IOD%e?;centage of Revenue
cairmuii e B from Operations (%) sairmuti e (B from Operations (%)

BFSI 21,251.09 45.34% 29,256.14 45.67%
PSU, Government

Undertakings and Transit 15,491.45 33.05% 18,165.25 28.36%
Data Centre 4,639.96 9.90% 12,229.82 19.09%
Capital Markets 743.93 1.59% 555.65 0.87%
Telecom 1,213.77 2.59% 332.46 0.52%
IT and other Industries 3,527.15 7.53% 3,520.75 5.50%
[otal 46,867.36 100.00% 64,060.08 100.00%

Our business growth largely depends on continued demand for our services from customers in these industry
verticals. A downturn in any of our targeted industry verticals, a slowdown or reversal of the trend of IT services
in any of these industries or the introduction of regulations that restrict or discourage companies from
outsourcing could result in a decrease in the demand for our services and adversely affect our business, cash
flows, financial condition and results of operations.

Other developments in these industries may also lead to a decline in the demand for our services in these
industry verticals. For example, consolidation in any of these industries or acquisitions may decrease the
potential number of buyers of our services. External risks such as global pandemics could also adversely affect
the industry verticals that we operate in. Further, our customers may experience rapid changes in their prospects,
substantial price competition and pressure on their profitability. This, in turn, may result in increasing pressure
on us from customers in these key industries to lower our prices, which could adversely affect our business,
cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to additional risks associated with engaging with government institutions and public sector
undertakings including delayed payments that could adversely affect our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

We generate a portion of our revenue from government institutions and public sector undertakings (including
banks and enterprises). There can be no assurance that such enterprises will continue to place emphasis on
digital transformation. In the event of an adverse change in budgetary allocations for such services resulting
from a change in government policies or priorities, our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows may be adversely affected. Further, contracts with government institutions and public sector
undertakings may be subject to extensive internal processes, policy changes, and insufficiency of funds which
may lead to lower number of contracts available for bidding or increase in the time gap between invitation for
bids and award of the contract. Due to these and other factors, certain terms of such contracts, such as pricing
terms, contract period, and use of vendors, are also less flexible than contracts with private companies.

Further, payments from government entities may be subject to delays due to regulatory scrutiny and procedural
formalities including with respect to determination on achievement of certain service milestones. To the extent
that payments under our contracts with government entities are delayed, our cash flows may be impacted. See
“— If we are unable to collect our receivables from, or bill our unbilled services to, our customers, our results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected.” on page 53.
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In addition, selection as service provider for these projects is undertaken through a tender process, and many of
the bids in which we participate are subject to the satisfaction of certain eligibility conditions and performance
standards. These include reputation, experience and sufficiency of financial resources, and quality
accreditations and certifications associated with the services. We cannot assure you that we will be able to meet
such criteria to bid for these and other similar projects in the future.

In addition, such tender processes may be challenged even after contracts have been awarded to us which may
result in reputational damage and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position and
cash flows due to loss of opportunities. Our ongoing projects have been awarded to us for a definite term and
the relevant authorities may float tenders for such projects after expiry of the current term. There can be no
assurance that we will be awarded such projects at the end of the tender process. Further, in situations where
our bids have been successful, there may be delays in award of the projects, which may result in us having to
retain resources which remain unallocated, thereby adversely affecting our results of operations, financial
condition, and cash flows.

If the market for our solutions develops more slowly than we expect, it may hamper our ability to grow as
anticipated, and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely
affected.

Our solutions are designed to improve operational processes and automate manual activities, helping enterprises
build better experiences for their customers. Our solutions cater to retail and wholesale banking, treasury and
capital markets, and payments. In addition, we focus on other areas of technology innovation including smart
mobility and data centre solutions, hybrid cloud services and smart city initiatives. Our future success will
depend in large part on the growth and expansion of these solutions, which is difficult to predict and relies on
a number of factors, including customer adoption, customer demand, changing customer needs, the entry of
competitive solutions and the success of existing competitive solutions. The estimates and assumptions that are
used to calculate our market opportunity are subject to change over time, and there is no guarantee that the
organizations covered by our market opportunity estimates will pay for our solutions at all or generate any
particular level of revenue for us. If solutions for the challenges that we address does not achieve widespread
adoption, or there is a reduction in demand caused by a lack of customer acceptance, technological challenges,
weakening economic conditions, security or privacy concerns, competing technologies and products, decreases
in corporate spending, or otherwise, or, alternatively, if the market develops but we are unable to continue to
penetrate it due to the cost, performance, or other factors, it could result in decreased revenue and our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our current order book may not necessarily translate into future income in its entirety or could be delayed.
Some of our current orders may be modified, cancelled, delayed, put on hold or not fully paid for by our
customers, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

The profitability of a contract in our order book and our cash flows may be affected due to, amongst others,
withholding of payments by customers or mismatch between our internal cost milestones and the payment
milestones under our contracts; and cancellation or termination of existing contracts or non-payment by our
customers. As any of the aforesaid occurrences may adversely impact and reduce the order book position, we
cannot assure you that the income anticipated in our order book will be realised, or, if realised, will be realised
on time or result in profits. In addition, our order book during a particular future period depends on continued
growth of our sector and our ability to remain competitive and we cannot assure you that our order book will
be consistent in the future. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that our customers will not rescind their contracts
with us if there is a delay in delivery beyond the time stipulated in the contract or that we may not need to
renegotiate some of our contracts in future. Our customers may refuse to renegotiate our contracts which could
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We operate in a rapidly evolving industry, which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and may
increase the risk that we will not continue to be successful. If we are not successful, it could adversely affect
our business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The technology services industry is competitive and continuously evolving, subject to rapidly changing
demands and constant technological developments. Because services and technologies are rapidly evolving and
each company within the industry can vary greatly in terms of the services it provides, its business model, and
its results of operations, it can be difficult to predict how any company’s services, including ours, will be
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received in the market. Our revenues, operating results and profitability have varied in the past and are likely
to vary in the future. Factors that are likely to cause these variations include:

e the number, timing, scope and contractual terms of IT projects in which we are engaged,;

e delays in project commencement or staffing delays due to difficulty in assigning appropriately skilled or
experienced IT professionals;

e the accuracy of estimates of resources, time and fees required to complete projects and costs incurred in

the performance of each project;

changes in pricing in response to customer demand and competitive pressures;

the business decisions of our customers regarding the use of our services;

the ability to further grow revenues from existing customers;

seasonal trends, primarily our hiring cycle and the budget and work cycles of our customers;

unexpected changes in the utilisation rate of our IT professionals;

unanticipated contract or project terminations;

the timing of collection of accounts receivable;

e the continuing financial stability of our customers; and

e general economic conditions

One or any combination of the above factors may cause our customers’ demand for our services to decline as a
result of which our business may suffer and our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition may
be adversely affected.

Further, given that the technology services industry is subject to rapidly changing demands and constant
technological developments, our failure to promptly upgrade our technology may result in disruptions to or
lower quality of our services and our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition may be
adversely affected.

Our business depends on our ability to remain updated with new technologies and continue to develop
solutions to address the needs of our customers, failing which our business and results of operations could
suffer.

We spend substantial amounts of time and money researching and developing ways to use evolving
technologies to meet our customers’ and potential customers’ rapidly evolving needs. If our services do not
deliver reliable results, or if we fail to introduce services that meet customer preferences in a timely and cost-
effective manner, we may fail to retain our existing customers or increase demand for our services.

The introduction of new services by competitors or the development of entirely new technologies to replace
existing offerings or development of certain processes internally by customers could make our offerings
obsolete which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We
may experience difficulties with solution design, or marketing that delay or prevent introduction or
implementation of new offerings, features, or capabilities. The design and development of new offerings or new
features and capabilities to our existing offerings may require substantial investment, and we have no assurance
that such investments will be successful. If customers do not widely adopt our new services, experiences,
features, and capabilities, we may not be able to realize a return on our investment and our business, financial
condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our new offerings may fail to attain sufficient market acceptance for many reasons, including: defects, errors,
or failures or our inability to satisfy customer service level requirements; negative publicity or negative private
statements about the security, performance, or effectiveness of our offerings; introduction or anticipated
introduction of competing services or functionalities by our competitors; inability of our services to scale and
perform to meet client demands; receiving qualified or adverse opinions in connection with security or
penetration testing, certifications or audits, such as those related to IT controls and security standards and
frameworks or compliance; poor business conditions for our customers, causing them to delay use of our
services; and reluctance of customers to outsource data and analytics functions as compared to carrying these
out internally.

If we are not able to continue to identify challenges faced by our customers and develop or acquire new features
and capabilities in a timely and cost-effective manner, or if our services do not achieve market acceptance, our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may suffer and our anticipated revenue growth
may not be achieved.
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11.

If we fail to attract and retain IT professionals, we may not have the necessary resources to properly staff
projects, and failure to successfully compete for such IT professionals could adversely affect our business,
cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends largely on the contributions of our IT professionals and our ability to attract and retain
qualified IT professionals. A significant increase in the attrition rate among IT professionals with specialised
skills could decrease our operating efficiency and productivity and could lead to a decline in demand for our
services. The following table sets forth the attrition rate of our IT professionals in the years/ periods indicated:

Nine months Nine months
Particulars Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2023 ended December | ended December
31, 2022 31, 2023
Number of IT 224 336 323 253 248
Professionals
Resigned
Attrition Rate™ 20.50% 28.82% 22.49% 18.09% 13.94%

“Attrition rate is calculated as overall exits including retired IT professionals divided by average number of IT professionals in the relevant
year/ period.

Our ability to maintain and renew existing engagements and obtain new business will depend, in large part, on
our ability to attract, train and retain IT professionals. If we are unable to attract and retain the IT professionals
we need, we may have to forgo projects for lack of resources or be unable to staff projects optimally. Our failure
to attract, train and retain IT professionals with the qualifications necessary to fulfil the needs of our existing
and future customers or to assimilate new IT professionals successfully could adversely affect our business,
cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

Increased hiring by technology companies and increasing worldwide competition for IT professionals may lead
to a shortage in the availability of suitable personnel in the locations where we operate and hire. Failure to hire,
train and retain IT professionals in sufficient numbers could have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows,
results of operations and financial condition. We compete for such talented individuals not only with other
companies in our industry but also with companies in other industries, such as software services, engineering
services, financial services and technology generally, among others. The competition for IT professionals may
require us to increase salaries, and we may be unable to pass on these increased costs to our customers. This
would increase our operational costs which may adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations
and financial condition.

Our profitability will suffer if we are not able to maintain utilisation rates of our employees.

Our profitability and the cost of providing our services are affected by the utilisation rates of our employees. If
we are not able to maintain appropriate utilisation rates for our employees involved in delivery of our services,
our profit margin and our profitability may suffer. Our utilisation rates are affected by a number of factors,
including:

e our ability to promptly transition our employees from completed projects to new assignments;

e our ability to forecast demand for our services and thereby maintain an appropriate number of employees
in each of our delivery locations;

e  our ability to deploy employees with appropriate skills and seniority to projects;

e our ability to manage the attrition of our employees and to hire and integrate new employees; and

e ourneed to devote time and resources to training, professional development and other activities that cannot
be billed to our customers.

Further, to the extent that we lack sufficient employees with lower levels of seniority and daily or hourly rates,
we may be required to deploy more senior employees with higher rates on projects without the ability to pass
such higher rates to our customers, which could adversely affect our profit margin and profitability.

The implementation process of solutions may in some cases be time consuming, and any failure to satisfy
our customers or perform as desired could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Solution designing is a complex and lengthy process since we often customize our services for a client’s

requirements and environment. Inability to meet these requirements of our customers may result in client
dissatisfaction and/or damage to our reputation, which could harm our business. In addition, if our customers
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do not use our services as intended, inadequate performance or outcomes may result. As our customers rely on
our services to address important business goals and challenges, the incorrect or improper use or configuration
of our services, or failure to properly provide implementation or analytical or maintenance services to our
customers may result in contract terminations or non-renewals, reduced client payments, negative publicity, or
legal claims against us.

If we are unable to collect our receivables from, or bill our unbilled services to, our customers, our results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our customers of the amounts they
owe us for work performed. The following table sets forth below details of our credit cycle, as well as our trade
receivables, in the corresponding years/ periods:

Particular For the Year Ended March 31,
2021 2022 2023
Average Credit Cycle (Number of Days) 101 100 110
Trade Receivables (R lakhs) 10,305.44 13,900.45 19,939.50
Trade Recelvables, as a Percentage of Revenue from 27 55% 27 5206 30.24%
Operations (%)

_ As of/ For the nine months ended December 31,
Particular
2022 2023
Average Credit Cycle (Number of Days) 126 109
Trade Receivables (X lakhs) 21,702.04 25,576.50
Trade Recel\_/ables, as a Percentage of Revenue 4631% 39.93%
from Operations (%)

There is no guarantee that we will accurately assess the creditworthiness of our customers. Weak
macroeconomic conditions and related turmoil in the global financial system could also result in financial
difficulties, including limited access to the credit markets, insolvency, or bankruptcy for our customers, and, as
a result, could cause customers to delay payments to us, request modifications to their payment arrangements
that could increase our receivables balance, or default on their payment obligations to us. Timely collection of
customer balances also depends on our ability to complete our contractual commitments and bill and collect
our contracted revenues. If we are unable to meet our contractual requirements, we might experience delays in
collection of and/or be unable to collect our customer balances, and if this occurs, our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected. Moreover, in the event of delays in payment
from our governmental and quasi-governmental customers, we may have difficulty collecting on receivables
owed. In addition, if we experience an increase in the time to bill and collect for our services, our cash flows,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We face strong competition from onshore and offshore IT services companies. Increased competition, our
inability to compete successfully against competitors, pricing pressures or loss of market share could
adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

The market for IT services that we operate in is highly competitive, and we expect competition to persist and
intensify. We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets are reputation and track record,
industry expertise, breadth and depth of service offerings, quality of the services offered, language, marketing
and selling skills, scalability of infrastructure, ability to address customers’ timing requirements and price.

We face competition from offshore IT services providers in emerging outsourcing destinations with low wage
costs as well as competition from large, global consulting and outsourcing firms. Customers tend to engage
multiple IT services providers instead of using an exclusive IT services provider, which could reduce our
revenues to the extent that customers obtain services from other competing IT services providers.

Our ability to compete successfully also depends in part on a number of factors beyond our control, including
the ability of our competitors to recruit and retain highly-skilled IT professionals, the price at which our
competitors offer comparable services and our competitors’ responsiveness to customer needs. Some of our
present and potential competitors may have substantially greater financial, marketing or technical resources. If
our competitors develop and implement methodologies that yield greater efficiency and productivity, they may
be able to offer similar services at lower prices than we do without adversely affecting their profit margins. Our
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current and potential competitors may also be able to respond more quickly to new technologies or processes
and changes in customer demands; may be able to devote greater resources towards the development, promotion
and sale of their services than we can; and may also make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties that increase their ability to address the needs of our
customers. Buying patterns may change if customers become more price sensitive and accepting of low-cost
suppliers. Therefore, we cannot assure you that we will be able to retain our customers while competing against
such competitors. Increased competition, our inability to compete successfully, pricing pressures or loss of
market share could have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations.

We may not derive the anticipated benefits from strategic investments and acquisitions that we may enter
into and we may not be successful in pursuing future investments and acquisitions.

As part of our growth strategy, we may invest in or collaborate with and acquire stake in companies that are
complementary to our business and offerings. In line with this strategy, we have completed certain acquisitions
in the past. For details regarding the acquisitions, see “Our Business - Pursue strategic acquisitions and
investments” on page 152. Further, our focus is on augmenting our existing offerings in the areas of lending
and transaction banking solutions, transit solutions, and data centres and cloud services and increase our
geographic reach in the Middle East and Africa regions and developed markets such as Europe and USA. In
particular, we are currently exploring and may consider, inter-alia, acquisition of businesses/ entities involved
in the Al cloud solutions for banks, insurers and financial services with a view to strengthen our transaction
banking solutions and enhance our solutions in the banking and fintech sectors. We cannot assure you that such
investments and acquisitions will achieve their anticipated benefits. We may not be able to integrate acquired
operations, personnel and technologies successfully or effectively manage our combined business following
such acquisitions. Acquisitions, investments, and strategic partnerships typically involve uncertainties and
risks, which are applicable to and would impact our ability to grow through acquisitions and/or consolidation
of businesses and entities, including: accurately evaluating potential acquisition targets and identifying
acquisition targets with operations complementary to our existing operations; potential ongoing financial
obligations and unforeseen or hidden liabilities; possible cash flow interruption or loss of revenue as a result of
transitional matters; integrating personnel from different corporate cultures while maintaining focus on
providing consistent, high quality service; retaining key employees, particularly those of the acquired
operations, and maintaining the key business relationships with consumers of the businesses we acquire; failure
to achieve the intended objectives, benefits or revenue enhancement; the costs of integrating an acquired
business with our existing business particular in relation to supporting legacy products and hosting
infrastructure of the acquired business and retaining suppliers and customers of the acquired business; entering
into unfamiliar markets; and diversion of resources and management attention.

Our failure to address these or other risks successfully may have an adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows. In addition, any such acquisition or investment may require a significant
amount of capital investment, or we may incur costs in respect of any future liabilities, including in respect of
any indemnity claims for such acquired or investee entities, which would decrease the amount of cash available
for working capital or capital expenditures. If we borrow funds to finance acquisitions, such debt instruments
may contain restrictive covenants that could, among other things, restrict us from distributing dividends. In
addition, our acquisition led strategy may adversely impact our return on capital employed in future. We may
also not succeed in implementing our strategy of growth through strategic investments and acquisitions in the
future as it is subject to many factors which are beyond our control, including our ability to identify, attract and
successfully execute suitable acquisition opportunities and partnerships. Any failure to achieve the anticipated
benefits of any proposed investments and acquisitions or to consummate new investments and acquisitions in
the future could have an adverse effect on our business.

Our success depends substantially on the continuing services of our Promoters, Senior Management and
Key Managerial Personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain such personnel, we may not be able to
maintain client relationships and grow effectively, which may adversely affect our business, cash flows,
results of operations and financial condition.

Our future success heavily depends upon the continued services of our Promoters, Senior Management and Key
Managerial Personnel. If one or more of our Senior Management, Key Managerial Personnel are unable or
unwilling to continue in their present positions, it could disrupt our business operations, and we may not be
able to replace them easily or at all. In addition, we may be unable to retain our Senior Management and Key
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Managerial Personnel in the future, in which case our business may be adversely disrupted, which could
adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

If any of our Senior Management and Key Managerial Personnel joins a competitor or forms a competing
company, we may lose customers, know-how and key IT professionals and staff members to them which may
adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. Also, if any of our
business development managers, who generally keep a close relationship with our customers, joins a competitor
or forms a competing company, we may lose customers, and our revenues may be adversely affected.
Additionally, there could be unauthorised disclosure or use of our technical knowledge, practices or procedures
by such personnel. If any dispute arises between our Senior Management and Key Managerial Personnel and
us, any non-competition, non-solicitation and non-disclosure provisions in our employment agreements we
have with our Senior Management and Key Managerial Personnel might not provide effective protection to us.

We propose to utilize a portion of the Net Proceeds to undertake inorganic growth through acquisitions for
which the target(s) ae yet to be identified, and may not be identified, and which acquisitions may not be
successfully concluded. If Net Proceeds to be utilised towards funding inorganic growth through acquisitions
are insufficient for the cost of our proposed acquisitions and other strategic initiative, we may have to seek
alternative forms of funding.

We propose to utilize X 15,000.00 lakhs from the Net Proceeds towards funding inorganic growth through
acquisitions as set forth in “Use of Proceeds — Details of the Objects — Pursuing inorganic growth initiatives
through acquisitions” on page 82. As on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, we have not
acquisition or entered into any definitive agreements towards any future acquisitions or strategic initiatives.
Our focus is on augmenting our existing offerings in the areas of lending and transaction banking solutions,
transit solutions, and data centres and cloud services and increase our geographic reach in the Middle East and
Africa regions and developed markets such as Europe and USA. In particular, we are currently exploring and
may consider, inter-alia, acquisition of businesses/ entities involved in the Al cloud solutions for banks, insurers
and financial services with a view to strengthen our transaction banking solutions and enhance our solutions in
the banking and fintech sectors. We may consider a mix of equity and/or cash consideration to fund such
proposed acquisitions.

Further, it is also possible that we may not be able to identify suitable targets, or that if we do identify suitable
targets, we may not be able to complete those transactions on terms commercially acceptable to us or at all
and/or be able to complete all aspects of the acquisition process and/or receive relevant regulatory clearances
(as applicable) in a timely manner or at all. The inability to identify suitable targets or investments and the
inability to complete such transactions may adversely affect our competitiveness and growth prospects. Further,
we will from time to time continue to seek attractive inorganic opportunities that will fit well with our strategic
business objectives and growth strategies, and the amount of Net Proceeds to be used for acquisitions will be
based on our management’s decision. The amounts deployed towards such initiatives may not be the total value
or cost of such acquisitions or investments, resulting in a shortfall in raising requisite capital from the Net
Proceeds towards such acquisitions or investments. Consequently, we may be required to explore a range of
options to raise requisite capital, including internal accruals or debt financing from third party lenders or
institutions.

The objects of the Issue include funding working capital requirements of our Company, which are based on
certain assumptions and estimates.

We intend to utilize ¥ 20,000.00 lakhs towards funding the working capital requirements of our Company,
which are based on management estimates and certain assumptions in relation to inter alia, the holding periods
of inventory days, trade receivables days, other current assets, trade payables days, other current liabilities and
raw material days. Our business is working capital intensive and our Company avails working capital facilities
in the ordinary course of business from various lenders. Our Company requires additional working capital for
executing its outstanding order book and any future orders that may be received, for funding future growth
requirements of our Company and for other strategic, business, and corporate purposes. Our working capital
requirements may be subject to change due to factors beyond our control including force majeure conditions,
an increase in defaults by our customers, availability of funding from banks or financial institutions.
Accordingly, such working capital requirements may not be indicative of the actual requirements of our
Company in the future and investors are advised to not place undue reliance on such estimates of future working
capital requirements.
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Our funding requirements and the proposed deployment of Net Proceeds have not been appraised by any
bank or financial institution or any other independent agency.

We propose to utilise the Net Proceeds for the purposes described in “Use of Proceeds” on page 81. The
funding requirements are based on internal management estimates and current conditions which are subject to
changes due to external circumstances, costs, other financial conditions or business strategies. As a consequence
of any increased costs, our actual deployment of funds may be higher than our management estimates and may
place a burden on our finance plans. We may also face delays or incur additional costs due to failure to receive
regulatory approvals, technical difficulties, human resource, technological or other resource constraints, or for
other unforeseen reasons, events or circumstances. We may also use funds for future businesses which may
have risks significantly different from what we currently face or may expect. Our proposed deployment of Net
Proceeds has not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other independent agency and is
based on management estimates. Various risks and uncertainties, including those set forth in this section, may
limit or delay our efforts to use the Net Proceeds. Based on the competitive nature of our industry, we may have
to revise our business plan and/ or management estimates from time to time and consequently our funding
requirements may also change. Our internal management estimates may differ from the value that would have
been determined by third party appraisals, which may require us to reschedule or reallocate our expenditure,
subject to applicable laws. In case of increase in actual expenses or shortfall in requisite funds, additional funds
for a particular activity will be met by any means available to us, including internal accruals and additional
equity and/or debt arrangements, and may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows. Further, the application of the Net Proceeds in our business may not lead to an
increase in the value of your investment. Various risks and uncertainties, including those set forth in this section,
may limit or delay our efforts to use the Net Proceeds to achieve profitable growth in our business.

An inability to effectively manage our growth and expansion may have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our revenue from operations increased from X 37,401.77 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 65,933.16 lakhs in Fiscal
2023 at a CAGR of 32.77%. Further, our revenue from operations increased by 36.68%, from X 46,867.36 lakhs
during nine months ended December 31, 2022 to % 64,060.08 lakhs during nine months ended December 31,
2023. However, we cannot assure that our growth strategy will be successful or that we will be able to continue
to expand further, or at the same rate. The success of our business will depend greatly on our ability to
effectively implement our business and growth strategy. Our growth strategies, include, strengthening our
presence in the APAC region while focusing on our core business, expanding our geographic presence, expand
our portfolio of solutions and pursue strategic acquisitions and investments. For further information, see “Our
Business —Strategies” on page 152.

Our ability to achieve our growth strategies will be subject to a range of factors, including our ability to identify
trends and demands in the industry, compete with existing companies in our markets, consistently exercise
effective quality control, hire and train qualified personnel and undertake complex chemistries. Many of these
factors are beyond our control and we cannot assure that we will succeed in implementing our strategy. Our
ability to manage future growth will depend on our ability to continue to implement and improve operational,
financial and management information systems on a timely basis and to expand, train, motivate and manage
our workforce. We cannot assure that our personnel, systems, procedures and controls will be adequate to
support our future growth. Failure to effectively manage our expansion may lead to increased costs and reduced
profitability and may adversely affect our growth prospects. Our inability to manage our business and
implement our growth strategy could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Our customers may terminate contracts before completion, negotiate adverse terms of the contract or choose
not to renew contracts, which could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results
of operations.

A substantial portion of our revenues is generated from repeat business, which we define as revenues from a
customer who also contributed to our revenues during the prior Fiscal. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, 2023 and the nine
months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, revenue from our repeat customers was I 31,232.74 lakhs, %
42,578.31 lakhs, X 56,280.61 lakhs, ¥ 39,775.88 lakhs and % 54,211.39 lakhs, respectively, representing 83.51%,
84.31%, 85.36%, 84.87% and 84.63% of our revenue from operations, respectively. In addition, our customers
can terminate many of our master services agreements and work orders with or without cause, and we cannot
assure you that we will be able to recover the investments incurred up to the point of termination. In addition,
large and complex projects may involve multiple engagements or stages, and a customer may choose not to
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retain us for additional stages or may cancel or delay additional planned engagements. We may not be able to
renew our contracts on favourable terms, or to replace any customer that elects to terminate or not renew its
contract with us, which could adversely affect our revenue and thus our cash flows, financial condition and
results of operations.

Further, our failure to perform or observe any contractual obligations could result in cancellation or non-renewal
of a contract, which could cause us to experience a higher than expected number of unassigned employees and
an increase in our expenses as a percentage of revenues, until we are able to reduce or reallocate our headcount
and may adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition. For example,
some of our customer agreements require us to maintain insurances including workers’ compensation insurance,
professional liability insurance and commercial general liability insurance throughout the term of such
agreements. Some of our customer contracts also require us to have non-solicitation and non exclusivity
arrangements. In addition, some of our customer agreements specify that if a change of control of our Company
occurs during the term of the agreement, the customer has the right to terminate the agreement. If we fail to
comply with such contractual obligations in the future, our customers may terminate agreements with us. If any
future event triggers any change of control provision in our customer contracts, these agreements may be
terminated, which would result in loss of business and revenues.

We incorporate third-party open source software into our customer deliverables and our failure to comply
with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could adversely impact our customers and
create potential liability on us.

Our solutions may contain software licensed by third parties under so-called “open source” licenses. Our
customers could be subject to suits by third parties claiming that what we believe to be licensed open source
software infringes such third parties’ intellectual property rights, and we are generally required to contractually
indemnify our customers against such claims.

Use of open source software may entail greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open
source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement
claims or the quality of the code. In addition, certain open source licenses require that source code for software
programs that are subject to the license be made available to the public and that any modifications or derivative
works to such open source software continue to be licensed under the same terms.

Although we monitor our use of open source software in an effort both to comply with the terms of the
applicable open source licenses and to avoid subjecting our customer deliverables to conditions we do not
intend, the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by courts in relevant jurisdictions, and
there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or
restrictions on our customers’ ability to use the software that we develop for them and operate their businesses
as they intend. The terms of certain open source licenses may require us or our customers to release the source
code of the software we develop for our customers and to make such software available under the applicable
open source licenses. In the event that portions of customer deliverables are determined to be subject to an open
source license, we or our customers could be required to publicly release the affected portions of source code
or re-engineer all, or a portion of, the applicable software. Disclosing our proprietary source code could allow
our customers’ competitors to create similar products with lower development effort and time and ultimately
could result in a loss of sales for our customers. Any of these events could create liability for us to our customers
and damage our reputation, which could have an adverse effect on our revenue, business, cash flows, results of
operations and financial condition and the market price of our Equity Shares.

We may face intellectual property infringement claims that could be time-consuming and costly to defend.
If we fail to defend ourselves against such claims, we may lose significant intellectual property rights and
may be unable to continue providing our existing services.

Our success largely depends on our ability to use and develop our technological solutions without infringing
the intellectual property rights of third parties, including patents, copyrights, trade secrets and trademarks. We
may be subject to litigation involving claims of patent infringement or violation of other intellectual property
rights of third parties. We typically indemnify customers who purchase our services and solutions against
potential infringement of intellectual property rights, which subjects us to the risk of indemnification claims.
These claims may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on behalf of our customers,
regardless of the merits of these claims and are often not subject to liability limits or exclusion of consequential,
indirect or punitive damages. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our
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customers, redesign or cease offering our infringing services or solutions, or obtain licenses for the intellectual
property such services or solutions infringe. If we cannot obtain all necessary licenses on commercially
reasonable terms, our customers may be forced to stop using our services or solutions.

The holders of patents and other intellectual property rights potentially relevant to our service offerings may
make it difficult for us to acquire a license on commercially acceptable terms or at all, which could have an
adverse impact on our ability to deliver the relevant service offerings and hence on our business. Also, we may
be unaware of intellectual property registrations or applications relating to our services that may give rise to
potential infringement claims against us. There may also be technologies licensed to and relied on by us that
are subject to infringement or other corresponding allegations or claims by third parties which may damage our
ability to rely on such technologies.

Further, our current and former employees could challenge our exclusive rights in the software they have
developed in the course of their employment. We cannot assure that we would be successful in defending
against any claim by our current or former employees challenging our exclusive rights over the use and transfer
of works those employees created or requesting additional compensation for such works.

We are subject to additional risks as a result of our recent and possible future acquisitions and the hiring of new
employees who may misappropriate intellectual property from their former employers. The developers of the
technology that we have acquired or may acquire may not have appropriately created, maintained or enforced
intellectual property rights in such technology. Indemnification and other rights under acquisition documents
may be limited in term and scope and may therefore provide little or no protection from these risks. Parties
making infringement claims may be able to obtain an injunction to prevent us from delivering our services or
using technology involving the allegedly infringing intellectual property. Intellectual property litigation is
expensive and time-consuming and could divert management’s attention from our business. A successful
infringement claim against us, whether with or without merit, could, among others things, require us to pay
substantial damages, develop non-infringing technology, or rebrand our name or enter into royalty or license
agreements that may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all, and would require us to cease making,
licensing or using products that have infringed a third party’s intellectual property rights. Protracted litigation
could also result in existing or potential customers deferring or limiting their purchase or use of our software
product development services or solutions until resolution of such litigation, or could require us to indemnify
our customers against infringement claims in certain instances. Any intellectual property claim or litigation in
this area, whether we ultimately win or lose, could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business,
cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

We are unable to trace certain of our corporate filings for certain allotments of equity shares of our
Company. We cannot assure you that no legal proceedings or regulatory actions will be initiated against our
Company in the future in relation to such matters, which may adversely impact our financial condition and
reputation.

We have been unable to trace form filings, board and shareholders resolutions and challans for certain
allotments of equity shares of our Company as the relevant information was not available in the records
maintained by our Company or on the online portal of the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA Portal”) or in
the physical records available at the RoC premises. Despite conducting internal searches and engaging an
independent practicing company secretary, i.e., Kavita Raju Joshi, to conduct a physical search of our records
at the RoC, we have not been able to trace the following documents:

1. Shareholders resolution for approval of scheme of amalgamation and allotment of 1,04,000 equity shares
pursuant to scheme of amalgamation on March 31, 2003;

2. Shareholders resolution for allotment of 30,00,247 equity shares pursuant to initial public offering on
October 17, 2005;

3. Form 23 and challan in relation to the allotment of 2,25,000 equity shares on preferential basis pursuant
to swap of shares dated February 19, 2008; and

4. Form 23 and challan in relation to the allotment of 10,81,961 equity shares pursuant to scheme of
amalgamation dated August 8, 2011

Accordingly, we have relied upon the ROC search certificate dated March 11, 2024 prepared by Kavita Raju
Joshi for the disclosures in relation to the abovementioned allotments in this Preliminary Placement Document.
While the information in relation to the corporate actions has been disclosed in the “Capital Structure” and
“Board of Directors and Senior Management” sections on pages 90 and 157, respectively, based on the
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available records including the RoC search certificate, board and shareholders resolutions and minutes of our
Board, to the extent available, we may not be able to furnish any further documents evidencing such allotments
or transfers. We cannot assure you that the form filings which we have not been able to locate will be available
in the future or that the information gathered through other available documents is correct. Further, we cannot
assure you that the filing was done, at all or in timely manner, and that we shall not be subject to penalties on
this account.

Additionally, while no legal proceedings or regulatory action has been initiated against our Company in relation
to the aforementioned matter as of the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, we cannot assure you that
such proceedings or regulatory actions will not be initiated against our Company in the future in relation to the
aforesaid missing statutory filings.

Our Statutory Auditors have included an emphasis of matter in their audit report on the audited consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2021. Further, our Statutory Auditors have
included certain remarks in their audit reports and certain qualifications in the annexure to their audit
reports on the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 / Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020, for
the years ended March 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023.

Our Statutory Auditors have included the following emphasis of matter in their audit reports on the audited
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2021.

“We draw attention to note 4.02 to the consolidated financial statements, in respect of accelerated depreciation
charged by the Group on intangible assets held by certain overseas subsidiaries in accordance with the
management estimates. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. ”

“*Note 4.02 The Company has built robust IP based products which have now matured and surpassed the
phase requiring heavy investments, costs incurred on R&D and product development were expensed out as a
part to implement a uniform policy of accounting for the product development costs across all the group
companies. Accordingly, intangibles assets have been expensed out and depleted from carrying and
accumulated value of Computer Software block.”

For further information, see, “Financial Information” and “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations - Reservations, qualifications or adverse remarks by Statutory Auditors”
on pages 225 and 122, respectively.

Further, our Statutory Auditors have included the following remarks in their audit reports and qualifications in
the annexure to their audit reports on the Companies (Auditors Report) Order, 2016/ Companies (Auditor’s
Report) Order, 2020 (“CARO”) for Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023:

Fiscal 2023

CARO - Standalone financial statements

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
generally been regular in depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident fund,
employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax, wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of
excise, value added tax, cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities during the year. As
regards reporting on balances in arrears as at the last day of the financial year for a period exceeding six
months from the date they become due, there was GST input tax credit (ITC) reversal amounting to Rs. 28.99
lakhs. Also, there was interest thereon amounting to Rs.6.28 lakhs, which has been paid after 31st March 2023.”

CARO - Consolidated financial statements

“In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Holding Company and the books of account
and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our knowledge and belief, and based on the
consideration of reports of auditors in respect of subsidiaries, we state that the qualification or adverse remarks by the
respective auditors in their reports on Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 of the companies included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements as under
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Sr. Nature of Clause number of
No. Name el Relationship the CARO Report
1 | Aurionpro  Toshi  Automatic | U31903DL2011PTC218013 Subsidiary xvii
Systems Private Limited
2 | Aurofidel Outsourcing Limited U72900MH2008PLC179836 Subsidiary xvii
3. | Aurionpro  Payment Solutions | U72900MH2021PTC364601 Subsidiary xvii
Private Limited

Fiscal 2022

CARO - Standalone financial statements

“(vii)(@): In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
generally been regular in depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident fund,
employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax, wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of
excise, value added tax, cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities during the year. As
regards reporting on balances in arrears as at the last day of the financial year for a period exceeding six
months from the date they become due, there was GST input tax credit (ITC) reversal amounting to Rs.38.41
lakhs. Also, there was interest thereon amounting to Rs.8.43 lakhs, which has been paid after 31/03/2022.”

Fiscal 2021

CARO - Standalone financial statements

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
generally been regular in depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident fund,
employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax, wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of
excise, value added tax, cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities during the year. The
following balances remained in arrears as at the last day of the financial year for a period exceeding six months
from the date they become due-

Name of the Nature of Dues Amount | Period to which the Due Date Date of Remarks, if
Statute ® amount relates Payment any

Goods  and | GST input credit Reversal | 60,73,612/- | FY 2018-21 Various Due | Nil Nil

Service Tax |and Interest on GST Dates*

(GST)

“GST due date — 20th of the subsequent months.”

Remark in the audit reports on the standalone financial statements

“10(g)(iii) There has been no delay in transferring amounts required to be transferred, to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company, except for Rs.2,350/- pertaining to financial year 2011-12 is
yet to be transferred to IEPF. The Company has initiated necessary procedure in this regard for completion of
the same.”

Remark in the audit reports on the consolidated financial statements

“11(h)(iii) There has been no delay in transferring amounts required to be transferred, to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies incorporated in India,
except for Rs.2,350/- pertaining to the Holding Company for the financial year 2011-12 is yet to be transferred
to IEPF. The Holding Company has initiated necessary procedure in this regard for completion of the same.”

There can be no assurance that any similar emphasis of matters, remarks or other matters prescribed under the
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020, will not form part of our financial statements for the future fiscal
periods, which could subject us to additional liabilities due to which our reputation and financial condition may
be adversely affected.

Our insurance coverage may not be adequate or we may incur uninsured losses or losses in excess of our
insurance coverage which may impact on our financial condition, cash flows and results in operations.

We maintain standard insurance policies for our assets and our employees. Our insurance policies includes: (i)
standard cover policy; (ii) electronic equipment policy; (iii) public liability insurance; (iv) burglary insurance
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policy; (v) consequential loss (fire) insurance; (vi) marine cargo open policy; and (vii) mediclaim policy. For
further information, see “Our Business — Insurance” on page 157. The following tables set forth details of
coverage of our insurance policies against the total insurable assets in the years/ periods indicated:

As of / For the Year Fiscal 2021 | As of / For the Year Fiscal 2022 | As of / For the Year Fiscal 2023
Percentage of the Percentage of the Percentage of the

e éTaOI:lhT) Total Insu[able ér}waokuhr;t) Total Insu[able érr:;hr; Total Insu[able
Assets Assets Assets

Coverage of|38,565.00 100% | 33,656.00 100% | 36,671.00 100%

Insurance

Policies

“Insurable Assets include plant and machinery, building, hardware, servers, computers, printers and crockeries.

As of / For the nine months ended December | As of / For the nine months ended December
Particulars 31, 2022 31, 2023
Amount | Percentage of the Total Insurable | Amount | Percentage of the Total Insurable
(Z lakhs) Assets” (Z lakhs) Assets”
Coverage of Insurance | 31,995.00 100% | 44,859.00 100%
Policies

“Insurable Assets include plant and machinery, building, hardware, servers, computers, printers and crockeries.

While we believe that the insurance coverage which we maintain would be reasonably adequate to cover the
normal risks associated with the operation of our business, we cannot assure you that any claim under the
insurance policies maintained by us will be honoured fully, in part or on time, or that we have taken out
sufficient insurance to cover all our losses. We are also required to maintain certain insurance policies under
our customer agreements, such as professional liability insurance and commercial liability insurance under our
customer agreements. Our insurance policies may not provide adequate coverage in certain circumstances and
are subject to certain deductibles, exclusions and limits on coverage. In addition, our insurance coverage expires
from time to time. We apply for the renewal of our insurance coverage in the normal course of our business,
but we cannot assure you that such renewals will be granted in a timely manner, at acceptable cost or at all. To
the extent that we suffer loss or damage for which we did not obtain or maintain insurance, and which is not
covered by insurance or exceeds our insurance coverage or where our insurance claims are rejected, the loss
would have to be borne by us and our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition may be adversely
affected. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, 2023 and in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, we received
insurance amount of X 6.92 lakhs, X 13.51 lakhs, X 7.18 lakhs, X 3.66 lakhs and X 1.47 lakhs, respectively.

We have certain contingent liabilities that have been disclosed in our Unaudited Interim Condensed
Financial Statements, which if they materialize, may adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows
and financial condition.

As of December 31, 2023, our contingent liabilities that have been disclosed in our Unaudited interim
Condensed Financial Statements, were as follows:

Particulars Amount (X lakhs)
Guarantees given by the Company on behalf of its Subsidiaries 4,046.21
Disputed Liabilities not provided for Taxation matters and legal cases 1,157.21

If a significant portion of these liabilities materialize, it could have an adverse effect on our business, cash
flows, financial condition and results of operations. For further information, see “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Condition and Results of Operation” and “Financial Information” on page 97 and 225,
respectively.

We have in the past entered into related party transactions and may continue to do so in the future, which
may potentially involve conflicts of interest.

We have entered into transactions with related parties in the past and from, time to time, we may enter into
related party transactions in the future. These transactions include, among other things, remuneration to Non-
executive Directors, Independent Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and loans to Subsidiaries. While all
such transactions have been conducted on an arm’s length basis, in accordance with the Companies Act and
other applicable regulations pertaining to the evaluation and approval of such transactions, we cannot assure
you that we could not have achieved more favorable terms had such transactions been entered into with
unrelated parties. Further, it is likely that we may enter into additional related party transactions in the future.
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Such future related party transactions may potentially involve conflicts of interest. The tables below provide
details of absolute sum of all related party transactions and the percentage of such related party transactions to
our revenue from operations in the years/ periods indicated:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Nine months Nine months
Particulars 2021 2022 2023 e”degfzeggg‘ber e“desfjl?;gggnber
(% lakhs, except percentages)

Absolute sum of all Revenue Related 760.69 1011.86 808.78 539.84 1688.31
Party Transactions
Revenue from Operations 37401.77 | 50501.22 | 65933.16 46867.36 64060.08
Absolute sum of all Revenue Related 2.03% 2.00% 1.23% 1.15% 2.64%
Party Transactions as a Percentage of
Revenue from Operations

Particulars Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal | Nine months ended | Nine months ended

2021 2022 2023 December 31, 2022 | December 31, 2023
(% lakhs, except percentages)

Absolute sum of all Expenses Related Party 1797.8| 1878.93| 1763.34 1,429.54 1,284.68
Transactions”

Total Expense 44544.11| 41566.96 | 54090.67 38250.76 52435.79
Absolute sum of all Expenses Related Party 4.04% 4.52% 3.26% 3.74% 2.45%

Transactions as a Percentage of Revenue
from Operations

“Net of recovery of Expenses. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, 2023 and in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the net of recovery of
expenses was X 413.24 lakhs, ¥ 421.50 lakhs, X 566.64 lakhs, ¥ 316.59 lakhs and X nil.

For further information on our related party transactions, see “Related Party Transactions” on page 46.

28. Our Company and Subsidiaries are involved in certain legal and tax proceedings. Any adverse decision in
such proceedings or in any future proceedings may have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows and results of operations.

There are outstanding legal and tax proceedings involving our Company and certain Subsidiaries which are
pending at different levels of adjudication. The amounts claimed in these proceedings have been disclosed to
the extent that such amounts are ascertainable and quantifiable and include amounts claimed jointly and
severally, as applicable. The summary of such outstanding material legal and regulatory proceedings as on
the date of this Preliminary Placement Document is set out below:

Types of Proceedings |  NumberofCases | Amount (in  lakhs)*
Litigation against our Company and Subsidiaries

Material civil litigation against our Company 1 730.21
Direct and indirect tax proceedings against our Company 3 386.77
Direct and indirect tax proceedings against our Subsidiaries 2 40.23
Total 6 1,157.21

*To the extent ascertainable and quantifiable.

We cannot assure you that any of these matters will be settled in favour of our Company, or that no additional
liability will arise out of these proceedings. An adverse outcome in any of these proceedings or any future
proceedings may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects, cash flows, results of
operations and our reputation. For further information, see “Legal Proceedings” on page 220.

We may also be exposed to disciplinary action taken by SEBI and Stock Exchanges with respect to, among
others, our failure to comply with our obligations as a listed company under applicable law. For instance, in
November 2022 and subsequently in February 2023, our Company received notices from the BSE and NSE
noting ongoing non-compliance with Regulation 17(1) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, as the number of
independent directors on the board of directors constituted less than half of the total number of directors of
the Company. Pursuant to the notices, our Company paid a total fine of X 4.37 lakhs each, to the BSE and
NSE, respectively, including GST. As of date of this Preliminary Placement Agreement, our Company is
compliant with Regulation 17(1) of the SEBI Listing Regulations. We cannot assure you that we will not be
exposed to any disciplinary action (including penalties imposed) by SEBI or Stock Exchanges in the future,
which risk if it materialises, may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects, cash
flows, results of operations and our reputation.
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Our Promoters and members of the Promoter Group have encumbered their Equity Shares by way of pledge.
Any exercise of such encumbrance could dilute the shareholding of our Promoters and consequently dilute
the aggregate shareholding of our Promoters, which may materially and adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

As of the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, our Promoters and members of the Promoter Group
hold 7,423,368 Equity Shares constituting 29.91% of our pre-Issue equity share capital of our Company of
which 1,576,000 Equity Shares, aggregating to 6.35% of the pre-Issue equity share capital of our Company
are pledged in favour of SBICAP Trustee Company Limited for a loan availed by our Company. Any default
under the agreements pursuant to which these Equity Shares have been pledged will entitle the pledgee to
enforce the pledge over these Equity Shares and may result in invocation of pledge. If this happens, the
aggregate shareholding of the Promoters may be diluted. As a result, we may not be able to conduct our
business or implement our strategies, and as currently planned, which may materially and adversely affect
our business and financial condition.

We may be unable to maintain or renew our statutory and regulatory permits, licences, lease deeds and
approvals required to operate our business.

We require certain statutory and regulatory permits and approvals to operate our business. These include
export certification from Software Technology Park of India, Ministry of Electronic and Information
Technology, Government of India, import export code by Directorate of Foreign Trade, registration with the
Employee State Insurance Corporation, Legal Entity Identifier code, registration under the Maharashtra Shops
and Establishments (Regulation of Employment and Conditions of Service) Act, 2017, and other tax related
approvals. For example, the export certification of our Subsidiary, SC Soft Private Limited, has expired and
the renewal is under process. We may not, at all points of time, have all approvals required for our business.
In addition, the Company has entered into several lease deeds in order to lease the property where their offices
are situated. These may expire in the ordinary course. In the event that we are unable to comply with any or
all of these terms and conditions or seek waivers or extensions of time for complying with these terms and
conditions, it is possible that the license providers may revoke this license or may place stringent restrictions
on our operations. This may result in the interruption of all or some of our operations. If we fail to obtain,
renew or maintain the required permits, licences, lease deeds or approvals, including those set out above, we
could be subjected to penalties by the relevant regulatory authorities, which may result in the interruption of
our operations or delay or prevent our expansion plans and may have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Data networks are vulnerable to attacks, unauthorised access and disruptions. Losses or liabilities that are
incurred as a result of any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our computer networks may be vulnerable to unauthorised access, computer hackers, computer viruses,
worms, malicious applications and other security problems caused by unauthorised access to, or improper use
of, systems by third parties or employees. Although we have not experienced such attacks in the past, we
cannot assure you that our security systems in place can prevent any such attacks in the future or that we will
be able to handle such attacks effectively. A hacker who circumvents security measures could misappropriate
proprietary information, including personally identifiable information, or cause interruptions or malfunctions
in our operations. Further, computer attacks or disruptions may jeopardise the security of information stored
in and transmitted through our computer systems.

The services we provide are often critical to our customers’ businesses. Certain of our customer contracts
require us to comply with security obligations including maintaining network security and backup data,
ensuring our network is virus-free, maintaining business continuity planning procedures, and verifying the
integrity of employees that work with our customers by conducting background checks. Any failure in a
customer’s system or breach of security relating to the services we provide to the customer could damage our
reputation or result in a claim for substantial damages against us. Any significant failure of our equipment or
systems, or any major disruption to basic infrastructure like power and telecommunications in the locations
in which we operate, could impede our ability to provide services to our customers, have a negative impact
on our reputation, cause us to lose customers, and adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Due to security considerations, access to our servers and the services of third parties is typically controlled by
multifactor authentication. Failure to access these servers and services including due to loss of any certificate,
key and passwords required in this respect, may result in loss of access to our servers or the services of third
parties, which may result in a loss of data, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Inability to meet our obligations, including financial covenants and restrictive covenants, under our
financing agreements may lead to, amongst others, immediate repayment of amounts due, accelerated
repayment schedule, enforcement of security and suspension of further drawdowns, which may adversely
affect our business, cash flows, results of operations and financial conditions.

We have entered into agreements with certain banks and financial institutions for short-term and long-term
borrowings. In order to secure our financing arrangements, we have, among others, created charges over our
entire receivables, stock in process and computers, furniture and fixtures, and plant and machinery. As of
February 29, 2024, our secured borrowings (current and non-current) amounted to X 7,089.60 lakhs, and our
unsecured borrowings (current and non-current) amounted to X 4,386.89 lakhs. In the event of a default by us
under any loan facility, the respective lender may enforce its rights against us, including by way of appropriation
and sale of assets provided as security. We cannot assure you that we will not default on any of our repayment
obligations or other terms of the borrowing arrangements in the future or that our respective lenders will not
enforce their rights upon such default.

Some of the financing arrangements entered into by us include conditions that require us to obtain respective
lenders’ consent prior to carrying out certain activities and entering into certain transactions. Failure to meet
these conditions or obtain these consents could have significant consequences on our business and operations.
These covenants vary depending on the requirements of the financial institution extending such loan and the
conditions negotiated under each financing agreement.

Some of the corporate actions that require prior consents from certain lenders include, amongst others, altering
our capital structure, dilution in shareholding of our Promoter of our Company, investment for acquisition of
new businesses or entities, effecting any change in the composition of the board of directors of our Company
and its management and control, effecting any change in the constitution of our Company, opening of current
accounts with other banks and amending constitutional documents.

While all necessary consents for the Issue have been obtained, a failure to observe the covenants under our
financing arrangements or to obtain necessary waivers may lead to the termination of our credit facilities,
acceleration of amounts due under such facilities and suspension of further access/ withdrawals, either in whole
or in part, for the use of the facility. Pursuant to clauses in certain financing agreements, any defaults under
such facilities may also trigger cross default or cross acceleration provisions under our other financing
agreements. If the obligations under any of our financing documents are accelerated, we may have to dedicate
a portion of our cash flow from operations to make payments under such financing documents, thereby reducing
the availability of cash for our long term working capital requirements and other general corporate purposes. In
addition, during any period in which we are in default, we may be unable to raise, or face difficulties raising,
further financing.

Our Promoters and members of our Promoter Group will continue to hold a significant equity stake in our
Company after the Issue and their interests may differ from those of the other shareholders.

As on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, our Promoters and members of the Promoter Group
collectively held 29.91% of the paid-up equity share capital of our Company on a fully diluted basis. After the
completion of the Issue, our Promoters along with the members of Promoter Group will continue to collectively
hold majority of the shareholding in our Company and will continue to exercise significant influence over our
business policies and affairs and all matters requiring Shareholders’ approval, including the composition of our
Board, the adoption of amendments to our certificate of incorporation, the approval of mergers, strategic
acquisitions or joint ventures or the sales of substantially all of our assets, and the policies for dividends,
lending, investments and capital expenditure or any other matter requiring special resolution. This concentration
of ownership also may delay, defer or even prevent a change in control of our Company and may make some
transactions more difficult or impossible without the support of these stockholders. The interests of the
Promoters as our controlling shareholders could conflict with our interests or the interests of our other
shareholders. We cannot assure you that the Promoters will act to resolve any conflicts of interest in our favour
and any such conflict may adversely affect our ability to execute our business strategy or to operate our business.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to successfully manage or
accurately report our financial risk.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to prepare reliable financial reports and effectively avoid fraud.
Moreover, any internal controls that we may implement, or our level of compliance with such controls, may
deteriorate over time, due to evolving business conditions. If internal control weaknesses are identified, our
actions may not be sufficient to correct such internal control weakness. There can be no assurance that
deficiencies in our internal controls will not arise in the future, or that we will be able to implement and continue
to maintain adequate measures to rectify or mitigate any such deficiencies in our internal controls. Such
instances may also adversely affect our reputation, thereby adversely impacting our business, cash flows, results
of operations and financial condition.

Our business depends on a strong brand and corporate reputation and if we are not able to maintain and
enhance our brand, our ability to grow our business and our results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition may be adversely affected.

Since many of our specific customer engagements involve tailored solutions, our corporate reputation is a
significant factor in our customers’ and prospective customers’ determination of whether to continue engaging
us or hire us for prospective services. Our corporate reputation is susceptible to damage by various factors such
as actions or statements made by current or former employees or customers, competitors and adversaries in
legal proceedings, as well as members of the investment community and the media. There is a risk that negative
information about our Company, even if based on false rumours or misunderstandings, could adversely affect
our business. Damage to our reputation could be difficult and time-consuming to repair, especially due to the
competitiveness in our industry, which could make potential or existing customers reluctant to select us for new
engagements, resulting in a loss of business, and could adversely affect our employee recruitment and retention
efforts. Damage to our reputation could also reduce the value and effectiveness of our brand name, could reduce
investor confidence in us, affect the price of our Equity Shares and adversely affect our ability to grow our
business and our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Undetected software design defects, errors or failures may result in loss of or delay in market acceptance of
our services or in liabilities that could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our software development solutions involve a high degree of technological complexity and have unique
specifications which could contain design defects or software errors such as errors in coding or configuration
that are difficult to detect and correct. Errors or defects may result in the loss of current customers and loss of,
or delay in, revenues, loss of market share, loss of customer data, a failure to attract new customers or achieve
market acceptance, diversion of development resources and increased support or service costs. We cannot
assure you that, despite testing by us and our customers, errors will not be found in new software product
development solutions, which could result in litigation and other claims for damages against us and thus could
adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition could be negatively affected if we
incur legal liability, including with respect to our indemnification obligations, in connection with providing
our solutions and services.

If we fail to meet our contractual obligations or otherwise breach obligations to our customers, we could be
subject to legal liability and our contracts might not always protect us adequately through limitations on the
scope and/or amount of our potential liability.

In the normal course of business, we have entered into contractual arrangements through which we may be
obligated to indemnify customers or other parties with whom we conduct business with respect to certain
matters. These arrangements can include provisions whereby we agree to defend and hold the indemnified party
and certain of their affiliates harmless with respect to claims related to matters including our breach of certain
representations, warranties or covenants made by us, or out of our intellectual property infringement, our
negligence or misconduct, and certain other claims. Payments by us under any of these arrangements are
generally conditioned on the customer making a claim and providing us with full control over the defence and
settlement of such claim. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these
indemnification agreements due to the unique facts and circumstances involved in an agreement, and any claims
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under these agreements may not be subject to liability limits or exclusion of consequential, indirect or punitive
damages. However, if events arise requiring us to make payment for indemnification claims under our
indemnification obligations in contracts we have entered, such payments could have an adverse impact on our
business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property adequately, which could harm our business, results of
operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

We rely on trademarks, confidentiality agreements and other methods to protect our technical know-how and
intellectual property rights. As of the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, we have 13 trademarks
registered in India. For more information, see “Our Business- Intellectual Property Rights” on page 157.

To protect our and our customers’ proprietary information and other intellectual property, we require our
employees and customers to enter into written agreements with us which include confidentiality obligations.
These agreements may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary
information in the event of any unauthorised use, misappropriation or disclosure of such trade secrets, know-
how or other proprietary information. Policing unauthorised use of proprietary technology is difficult and
expensive. The steps we have taken may be inadequate to prevent the misappropriation of our and our
customers’ proprietary technology. Reverse engineering, unauthorised copying or other misappropriation of
our and our customers’ proprietary technologies, IT assets and applications could enable third parties to benefit
from our or our customers’ technologies, IT assets and applications without paying us, and our customers may
hold us liable for that act and seek damages and compensation from us, which could harm our business, financial
condition and competitive position.

Further, we rely on our trademarks and brand names to distinguish our services and solutions from the services
of our competitors. We have made applications to register our trademarks and as of the date of this Preliminary
Placement Document, we have 10 trademark applications pending in India, of which one application has been
objected. Third parties may have objections to our trademark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of
our trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our
services and solutions, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to devote resources
to advertising and marketing new brands. Further, we cannot assure you that competitors will not infringe our
trademarks, or that we will have adequate resources to enforce our trademarks.

Our international sales and operations are subject to many uncertainties and we are exposed to foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations.

We transact business in various currencies other than the Indian rupee and have significant customers abroad,
which subject us to currency exchange risks. As of December 31, 2023, the net foreign currency exposure of
our Company was USD 2.18 million, AED 0.01 million and Euro 0.01 million. Any fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates may have an asymmetric impact on our profits, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows and consequently on our business condition and profitability.

As we provide IT services to certain customers outside India, we are subject to numerous, and sometimes
conflicting, legal rules on matters as diverse as tariffs, taxation, sanctions, government affairs, internal and
disclosure control obligations, data privacy and labour relations, particularly in India where we operate. A
significant portion of our systems and operations are located in India and laws and regulations that are
applicable to us, but not to our competitors, may impede our ability to develop and offer services that compete
effectively with those offered by our non-India based competitors and generally available worldwide.
Violations of laws or regulations in the conduct of our business could result in fines, criminal sanctions against
us or our officers, prohibitions on doing business, damage to our reputation and other unintended consequences
such as liability for monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution, unfavourable publicity, restrictions
on our ability to process information and allegations by our customers that we have not performed our
contractual obligations. Due to the varying degrees of development of the legal systems of the countries in
which we operate, local laws might be insufficient to protect our rights. Our failure to comply with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and
results of operations.

Additional risks associated with international operations include difficulties in enforcing intellectual property

and/or contractual rights, the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, potentially adverse tax
consequences, tariffs, quotas and other barriers and potential difficulties in collecting accounts receivable. In
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addition, we may face competition in other countries from companies that may have more experience with
operations in such countries or with international operations. Additionally, such companies may have long-
standing or well-established relationships with customers, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage. We
may also face difficulties integrating new facilities in different countries into our existing operations, as well as
integrating employees that we hire in different countries into our existing corporate culture. There can be no
assurance that these and other factors will not impede the success of our international expansion plans, limit
our ability to compete effectively in other countries or otherwise adversely affect our business, cash flows,
financial condition and results of operations.

If we are not successful in managing increasingly large and complex projects, we may not achieve our
financial goals and our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected.

To successfully market our service offerings and obtain larger and more complex projects, we need to establish
close relationships with our customers and develop a thorough understanding of their operations. In addition,
we may face a number of challenges managing larger and more complex projects, including maintaining high-
quality control and process execution standards; maintaining planned resource utilisation rates on a consistent
basis; maintaining productivity levels and implementing necessary process improvements; controlling costs;
and maintaining close customer contact and high levels of customer satisfaction.

Our ability to successfully manage large and complex projects depends significantly on the skills of our
management personnel and IT professionals, some of whom do not have experience managing large-scale or
complex projects. In addition, large and complex projects may involve multiple engagements or stages, and
there is a risk that a customer may choose not to retain us for additional stages or may cancel or delay additional
planned engagements. Such cancellations or delays may make it difficult to plan our project resource
requirements. If we fail to successfully obtain engagements for large and complex projects, we may not achieve
our revenue growth and other financial goals. Even if we are successful in obtaining such engagements, a failure
by us to effectively manage these large and complex projects could damage our reputation, cause us to lose
business, impact our margins and adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations.

We may not be able to recognise revenues in the period in which our services are performed until all
acceptance criteria specified by the customer is fulfilled with respect to such services and this may cause our
margins to fluctuate.

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of products or services to customers to the extent of an amount
that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for these products or services. In instances
where final acceptance of the system or solution is specified by the customer, revenues are deferred until all
acceptance criteria have been met. Our failure to meet all the acceptance criteria, or otherwise meet a customer’s
expectations, may result in our having to record the cost related to the performance of services in the period
that services were rendered, but there can be timing difference of revenue recognition to a future period in
which all acceptance criteria have been met.

Certain properties from which we operate are not owned by us and we have only leasehold rights. If we are
unable to renew our current leases or if we renew them on terms which are detrimental to us, we may suffer
a disruption in our operations or increased relocating costs, or both, which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

A majority of our offices from where we operate are on lease. There is no guarantee that these leases/ licenses
will be renewed or extended once their terms are complete. If we are unable to renew or extend our current
leases/ licenses, or if we renew or extend them on terms which are detrimental to us, we may suffer a disruption
in our operations or increased relocating costs, or both, which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Certain sections of this Preliminary Placement Document disclose information from the reports titled
““Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape”, “Cloud Infrastructure Market in
India 2023 - 2028”, “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” and “Global Credit Risk
Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031” and any
reliance on such information for making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks.
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Certain industry and market data used in this Preliminary Placement Document has been derived from the
industry reports titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued
by Chartis Research, report titled “Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028 prepared and issued by
Netscribes (India) Private Limited, report titled “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” prepared
and issued by Global Mass Transit Research, and report titled “Global Credit Risk Management Market —
Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031” prepared and issued by Coherent
Market Insights to enable the investors to understand the industry in which we operate in connection with the
Issue. The aforesaid reports are subject to various limitations and based upon certain assumptions that are
subjective in nature. Prospective investors are advised not to unduly rely on the reports or extracts thereof as
included in this Preliminary Placement Document, when making their investment decisions.

Our Promoters, certain of our Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and members of our Senior
Management hold Equity Shares in our Company and are therefore interested in our Company’s
performance in addition to their remuneration and reimbursement of expenses.

Our Promoters, certain of our Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and members of our Senior Management
are interested in our Company, in addition to regular remuneration or benefits and reimbursement of expenses,
to the extent of their shareholding or the shareholding of their relatives in our Company. The table below sets
forth the details of shareholding of our Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and members of our
Senior Management, as applicable:

0, =

Names Number of Equity Shares Perc:ggaggi%ﬁ)po:htgﬁg:]glrdeir:;sued
Promoters
Paresh Chandulal Zaveri 42,71,301 17.21%
Amit Rameshchandra Sheth 16,09,011 6.48%
Directors
Paresh Chandulal Zaveri 42,71,301 17.21%
Amit Rameshchandra Sheth 16,09,011 6.48%
Ashish Rai 18,31,965 7.38%
Ajay Dilkhush Sarupria 11,68,094 4.71%
Mahendra Singh Mehta 1,06,838 0.43%
Rajeev Uberoi 1,000 Negligible
Sudha Bhushan 3,099 Negligible
Key Managerial Personnel
Paresh Chandulal Zaveri 42,71,301 17.21%
Ashish Rai 18,31,965 7.38%
Vipul Parmar 12,995 0.05%
Ninad Prabhakar Kelkar 1,000 Negligible
Senior Management Personnel
Vipul Parmar 12,995 0.05%
Ninad Prabhakar Kelkar 1,000 Negligible
Sanjay Bharat Bali 5,229 0.02%
Shekhar Mullatti 51,945 0.21%
Juveri Mukherjee 20 Negligible

We cannot assure you that our Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and members of our Senior
Management will exercise their rights as shareholders to the benefit and best interest of our Company. For
further information, see “Capital Structure”, and “Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 90
and 157, respectively.

Certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other statistical information relating to our operations
and financial performance like EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, PAT Margin, Return on Equity and Return on
Capital Employed have been included in this Preliminary Placement Document. These non-GAAP financial
measures are not measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Ind AS and may not be
comparable.

Certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other statistical information relating to our operations and

financial performance such as EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, PAT Margin, Return on Equity and Return on
Capital Employed have been included in this Preliminary Placement Document. We compute and disclose such
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non-GAAP financial measures and such other statistical information relating to our operations and financial
performance as we consider such information to be useful measures of our business and financial performance.

These Non-GAAP Measures are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under Ind AS and
should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the years or
any other measure of financial performance or as an indicator of our operating performance, liquidity,
profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing activities derived in accordance with
Ind AS. In addition, these are not standardised terms, hence a direct comparison of these Non-GAAP Measures
between companies may not be possible. Other companies may calculate these Non-GAAP Measures
differently from us, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. These non-GAAP financial measures and
other statistical and other information relating to our operations and financial performance may not be computed
on the basis of any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry and therefore may not be
comparable to financial measures and statistical information of similar nomenclature that may be computed and
presented by other companies and are not measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Ind AS
and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

External Risk Factors
46. Changing laws, rules and regulations in India could lead to new compliance requirements that are uncertain.

Our business, financial performance, cash flow and results of operations could be adversely affected by
unfavourable changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations
applicable to us and our business. Our business, cash flows, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may be adversely impacted, to the extent that we are unable to suitably respond to and comply with
any such changes in applicable law and policy. The regulatory and policy environment in which we operate are
evolving and are subject to change. The Gol may implement new laws or other regulations and policies that
could affect our business in general, which could lead to new compliance requirements, including requiring us
to obtain approvals and licenses from the Government and other regulatory bodies, or impose onerous
requirements.

For instance, the Gol has recently introduced the Code on Social Security, 2020 (“Social Security Code”); the
Occupational Safety, Health and Working Conditions Code, 2020; the Industrial Relations Code, 2020 and the
Code on Wages, 2019, which consolidate, subsume and replace numerous existing central labour legislations
(collectively, the “Labour Codes”). The Gol has deferred the effective date of implementation of the respective
Labour Codes, and they shall come into force from such dates as may be notified. Different dates may also be
appointed for the coming into force of different provisions of the Labour Codes. While the rules for
implementation under these codes have not been notified, we are yet to determine the impact of all or some
such laws on our business and operations which may restrict our ability to grow our business in the future and
increase our expenses. For instance, under the Social Security Code, a new concept of deemed remuneration
has been introduced, such that where an employee receives more than half (or such other percentage as may be
notified by the Central Government) of their total remuneration in the form of allowances and other amounts
that are not included within the definition of wages under the Social Security Code, the excess amount received
shall be deemed as remuneration and accordingly be added to wages for the purposes of the Social Security
Code and the compulsory contribution to be made towards the employees’ provident fund. In another example,
the Gol has made it mandatory for business establishments with turnover above a certain size to offer digital
modes of payment from November 2019, with no charges being levied on the consumers or the merchants by
banks and payment service providers. Such measures could adversely impact our income streams in the future
and adversely affect its financial performance.

Further, in India, the Supreme Court, in a judgment delivered on August 24, 2017, has held that the right to
privacy is a fundamental right. Following this judgment, the Government of India passed the Digital Personal
Data Protection Act, 2023. The Act aims to balance the rights of individuals to protect their personal data with
the need to process personal data for lawful and other incidental purposes. All data fiduciaries, determining the
purpose and means of processing personal data, are mandated to provide an itemized notice in plain and clear
language containing a description of the personal data sought to be collected along with the purpose of
processing such data. This act further provides that where consent is the basis of processing personal data, the
data principal providing the consent, may withdraw such consent at any time.

Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing

law, regulation or policy in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including by reason of an absence, or a limited
body, of administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming as well as costly for us to resolve and may
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impact the viability of our current business or restrict our ability to grow our business in the future. We may
incur increased costs and other burdens relating to compliance with such new requirements, which may also
require significant management time and other resources, and any failure to comply may adversely affect our
business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and prospects. For instance, the Supreme Court
of India has in a decision clarified the components of basic wages which need to be considered by companies
while making provident fund payments, which resulted in an increase in the provident fund payments to be
made by companies. Any such decisions in future or any further changes in interpretation of laws may have an
impact on our financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.

Financial instability in other countries may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets.

The Indian market and the Indian economy are influenced by economic and market conditions in other
countries, including conditions in the United States of America, Europe and certain emerging economies in
Asia. Although economic conditions are different in each country, investors’ reactions to developments in one
country can have adverse effects on the securities of companies in other countries, including India. A loss of
investor confidence in the financial systems of other emerging markets may cause increased volatility in Indian
financial markets and, indirectly, in the Indian economy in general. Any worldwide financial instability could
also have a negative impact on the Indian economy. Financial disruptions may occur again and could harm our
business, our future financial performance and the prices of the Equity Shares.

The ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict and Israeli-Palestinian conflict could result in increased volatility in, or
damage to, the worldwide financial markets and economy. Any other global economic developments or the
perception that any of them could occur may continue to have an adverse effect on global economic conditions
and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce global market liquidity and restrict
the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets. Any of these factors could depress
economic activity and restrict our access to capital, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and reduce the price of our Equity Shares. Any financial
disruption could have an adverse effect on our business, future financial performance, shareholders’ equity and
the price of our Equity Shares.

We may be affected by competition laws, the adverse application or interpretation of which could adversely
affect our business.

The Competition Act, 2002, of India, as amended (“Competition Act”), regulates practices having an
appreciable adverse effect on competition in the relevant market in India (“AAEC”). Under the Competition
Act, any formal or informal arrangement, understanding or action in concert, which causes or is likely to cause
an AAEC is considered void and may result in the imposition of substantial penalties. Further, any agreement
among competitors which directly or indirectly involves the determination of purchase or sale prices, limits or
controls production, supply, markets, technical development, investment or the provision of services or shares
the market or source of production or provision of services in any manner, including by way of allocation of
geographical area or number of consumers in the relevant market or directly or indirectly results in bid-rigging
or collusive bidding is presumed to have an AAEC and is considered void. The Competition Act also prohibits
abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise. If it is proved that the contravention committed by a company
took place with the consent or connivance or is attributable to any neglect on the part of, any director, manager,
secretary or other officer of such company, that person shall be also guilty of the contravention and may be
punished.

Further, the CCI has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any agreements, abusive conduct or
combination occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or combination has an AAEC in India.
However, the impact of the provisions of the Competition Act on the agreements entered into by us cannot be
predicted with certainty at this stage. In the event we pursue an acquisition in the future, we may be affected,
directly or indirectly, by the application or interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act, or any
enforcement proceedings initiated by the CCI, or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny
or prosecution by the CClI or if any prohibition or substantial penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it
would adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. The manner in which the
Competition Act and the CCI affect the business environment in India may also adversely affect our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

The Competition (Amendment) Act, 2023 (“Competition Amendment Act”) was recently notified. The
Competition Amendment Act amends the Competition Act and gives the CCI additional powers to prevent
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practices that harm competition and the interests of consumers. The Competition Amendment Act, inter alia,
modifies the scope of certain factors used to determine AAEC, reduces the overall time limit for the assessment
of combinations by the CCI from 210 days to 150 days and empowers the CCI to impose penalties based on the
global turnover of entities, for anti-competitive agreements and abuse of dominant position.

The occurrence of natural or man-made disasters could adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows
and financial condition. Hostilities, terrorist attacks, civil unrest and other acts of violence could adversely
affect the financial markets and our business.

The occurrence of natural disasters, including cyclones, storms, floods, earthquakes, tsunamis, tornadoes, fires,
explosions, pandemic disease and man-made disasters, including acts of terrorism and military actions, could
adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. Terrorist attacks and other acts of
violence or war may adversely affect the Indian securities markets. In addition, any deterioration in international
relations, especially between India and its neighbouring countries, may result in investor concern regarding
regional stability which could adversely affect the price of the Equity Shares. In addition, India has witnessed
local civil disturbances in recent years and it is possible that future civil unrest as well as other adverse social,
economic or political events in India could have an adverse effect on our business. Such incidents could also
create a greater perception that investment in Indian companies involves a higher degree of risk and could have
an adverse effect on our business and the market price of the Equity Shares.

We are subject to regulatory, economic, social and political uncertainties and other factors beyond our
control.

We are incorporated in India and we conduct our corporate affairs and our business in India. Our business,
operations, financial performance and the market price of our Equity Shares is affected by interest rates,
government policies, taxation, social and ethnic instability and other political and economic developments
affecting India.

Factors that may adversely affect the Indian economy, and hence our results of operations may include:

e any exchange rate fluctuations, the imposition of currency controls and restrictions on the right to convert
or repatriate currency or export assets;

e any scarcity of credit or other financing in India, resulting in an adverse effect on economic conditions in
India and scarcity of financing for our expansions;

e prevailing income conditions among Indian corporations;

e epidemic or any other public health in India or in countries in the region or globally, including in India’s
various neighbouring countries;

e macroeconomic factors and central bank regulation, including in relation to interest rates movements which

may in turn adversely impact our access to capital and increase our borrowing costs;

volatility in, and actual or perceived trends in trading activity on, India’s principal stock exchanges;

decline in India’s foreign exchange reserves which may affect liquidity in the Indian economy;

downgrading of India’s sovereign debt rating by rating agencies; and

difficulty in developing any necessary partnerships with local businesses on commercially acceptable terms

and/or a timely basis.

Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy, or in specific sectors of the Indian economy or
certain regions in India, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition and the price of the Equity Shares.

If inflation were to rise in India, we might not be able to increase the prices of our services at a proportional
rate in order to pass costs on to our customers and our profits might decline.

Inflation rates in India have been volatile in recent years, and such volatility may continue in the future.
Increased inflation can contribute to an increase in interest rates and increased costs to our business, including
increased costs of salaries, and other expenses relevant to our business. High fluctuations in inflation rates may
make it more difficult for us to accurately estimate or control our costs. Any increase in inflation in India can
increase our expenses, which we may not be able to pass on to our customers, whether entirely or in part, and
the same may adversely affect our business and financial condition. In particular, we might not be able to reduce
our costs or increase our rates to pass the increase in costs on to our customers. In such case, our business,
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results of operations, cash flows and financial condition may be adversely affected. There can be no assurance
that Indian inflation levels will not worsen in the future.

A downgrade in ratings of India, may affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Our borrowing costs and our access to the debt capital markets depend significantly on the credit ratings of
India. Any further adverse revisions to credit ratings for India and other jurisdictions we operate in by
international rating agencies may adversely impact our ability to raise additional financing. This could have an
adverse effect on our ability to fund our growth on favourable terms and consequently adversely affect our
business and financial performance and the price of the Equity Shares.

Significant differences exist between Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS,
which investors may be more familiar with and may consider material to their assessment of our financial
condition.

Our Company prepares its annual financial statements in accordance with Ind AS, which differs in certain
important aspects from U.S. GAAP, IFRS and other accounting principles with which prospective investors
may be familiar in other countries. If our financial statements were to be prepared in accordance with such other
accounting principles, our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be substantially
different. Accordingly, the degree to which the financial statements prepared in accordance with Ind AS
included in this Preliminary Placement Document will provide meaningful information is entirely dependent
on the reader’s level of familiarity with Ind AS. Prospective investors should review the accounting policies
applied in the preparation of the financial statements included in this Preliminary Placement Document and
consult their own professional advisers for an understanding of the differences between these accounting
policies and those with which they may be more familiar. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Ind AS on
the financial information presented in this Preliminary Placement Document should accordingly be limited.

We are subject to pre-emptive surveillance measures like Additional Surveillance Measure (ASM) and
Graded Surveillance Measures (GSM) by the Stock Exchanges in order to enhance market integrity and
safeguard the interest of investors.

SEBI and Stock Exchanges in order to enhance market integrity and safeguard interest of investors, have been
introducing various enhanced pre-emptive surveillance measures. The main objective of these measures is to
alert and advice investors to be extra cautious while dealing in these securities and advice market participants
to carry out necessary due diligence while dealing in these securities. Accordingly, SEBI and Stock Exchanges
have provided for (a) GSM on securities where such trading price of such securities does not commensurate
with financial health and fundamentals such as earnings, book value, fixed assets, net-worth, price per equity
multiple and market capitalization; and (b) ASM on securities with surveillance concerns based on objective
parameters such as price and volume variation and volatility.

We are subjected to general market conditions which includes significant price and volume fluctuations. The
price of our Equity Shares may also fluctuate after the Issue due to several factors such as volatility in the Indian
and global securities market, our profitability and performance, performance of our competitors, changes in the
estimates of our performance or any other political or economic factor. The occurrence of any of the
abovementioned factors trigger the parameters identified by SEBI and the Stock Exchanges for placing
securities under the GSM or ASM framework such as net worth and net fixed assets of securities, high low
variation in securities, client concentration and close to close price variation.

Since our Equity Shares are covered under such pre-emptive surveillance measures implemented by SEBI and
the Stock Exchanges, we are subject to certain additional restrictions in relation to trading of our Equity Shares
such as limiting trading frequency (for example, trading either allowed once in a week or a month) or freezing
of price on upper side of trading and these restrictions may continue post listing of the Equity Shares, pursuant
to the Issue. These restrictions may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Equity Shares or may in
general cause disruptions in the development of an active market for and trading of our Equity Shares.

Risks in Relation to the Equity Shares and the Issue

55.

We cannot guarantee that the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue will be listed on the Stock
Exchanges in a timely manner, or at all.
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In accordance with Indian law and practice, after our Board or a duly constituted committee passes the
resolution to allot the Equity Shares but prior to crediting such Equity Shares into the Depository Participant
accounts of the QIBs, we are required to apply to the Stock Exchanges for listing and trading approvals. After
receiving the listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges, our Company shall credit the Equity
Shares into the Depository Participant accounts of the respective QIBs and apply for the final listing and trading
approvals from the Stock Exchanges. Approval for listing and trading will require all relevant documents
authorising the issuing of Equity Shares to be submitted. There could be a failure or delay in obtaining these
approvals from the Stock Exchanges, which in turn could delay the listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock
Exchanges. Any failure or delay in obtaining these approvals would restrict an investor’s ability to dispose of
their Equity Shares. For instance, in relation to the 9,02,935 Equity Shares allotted on March 28, 2024, by way
of a preferential allotment, our Company has filed the applications for obtaining the listing approvals from BSE
and NSE on April 2, 2024, and are yet to receive the listing approval. Post receipt of the listing approval, our
Company will apply for trading approvals from BSE and NSE, accordingly. For further details, see “Capital
Structure - Equity Share capital history of our Company” on page 90.

Bidders can start trading the Equity Shares allotted to them in the Issue only after they have been credited to an
investor’s demat account, are listed and are permitted to trade. Since the Equity Shares are currently traded on
the Stock Exchanges, investors will be subject to market risk from the date they pay for the Equity Shares to
the date when trading approval is granted for the same.

Further, we cannot assure you that the Equity Shares allocated to an investor will be credited to the investor’s
demat account, that listing and trading approvals will be issued by the Stock Exchanges in a timely manner, or
at all, or that trading in the Equity Shares will commence in a timely manner, or at all. In accordance with
applicable Indian laws and regulations and the requirements of the Stock Exchanges, in principle and final
approvals for the listing and trading of the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue will not be applied
for by us or granted by the Stock Exchanges until after such Equity Shares have been issued and allotted by us
on the Closing Date. If there is a failure or a delay in obtaining such approvals, we may not be able to credit the
Equity Shares allotted to you to your Depository Participant account or assure ownership of such Equity Shares
by you in any manner promptly after the Closing Date or at all. In any such event, your ownership over the
Equity Shares allotted to you and your ability to dispose of any such Equity Shares may be restricted. For further
information on issue procedure, see “Issue Procedure” on page 176.

Your ability to acquire and sell Equity Shares offered in the Issue is restricted by the distribution, solicitation
and transfer restrictions set forth in this Preliminary Placement Document; you will be prohibited from
selling any of the Equity Shares subscribed in this Issue other than on Stock Exchanges for a period of one
year from the date of the allotment of the Equity Shares.

No actions have been taken to permit an offering of the Equity Shares offered in the Issue in any jurisdiction,
except for India. As such, your ability to acquire Equity Shares offered in the Issue is restricted by the
distribution and solicitation restrictions set forth in “Selling Restrictions” on page 193. Further, the Equity
Shares offered in the Issue are subject to restrictions on transferability and resale. Pursuant to the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, QIBs will be prohibited from selling any of the Equity Shares subscribed in this Issue other than
on a recognised Indian stock exchange for a period of one year from the date of the allotment of the Equity
Shares. For further information, see “Transfer Restrictions and Purchaser Representations” on page 201. You
are required to inform yourself on, and observe, these restrictions. Our Company and its representatives and
agents will not be obligated to recognise any acquisition, transfer or resale of the Equity Shares offered in the
Issue made other than in compliance with applicable law.

Any future issuance of Equity Shares could dilute the holdings of investors and could adversely affect the
market price of the Equity Shares.

Our Company may be required to finance our future growth through additional equity offerings. Any future
issuance of Equity Shares by our Company, including pursuant to the proposed Preferential Issue, could dilute
investors’ holdings and could adversely affect the market price of the Equity Shares. In addition, any future
issuances of Equity Shares, sales by any significant shareholder or a perception in the market that such issuance
or sale may occur, could adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares. Such securities may also be
issued at a price below the then current trading price of the Equity Shares. These sales could also impair our
Company’s ability to raise additional capital from the sale of Equity Shares. Our Company cannot assure you
that it will not issue further Equity Shares or that the shareholders will not dispose of, pledge or otherwise
encumber their Equity Shares.

73



58.

59.

We cannot assure payment of dividends on the Equity Shares in the future.

Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend on our earnings, financial condition, cash flows, capital
requirements, capital expenditure and restrictive covenants of our financing arrangements. Any future
determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors
and subsequent approval of Shareholders and will depend on factors that our Board of Directors and
Shareholders deem relevant, including among others, our future earnings, financial condition, cash flows,
capital requirements, capital expenditures, business prospects and restrictive covenants under our financing
arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and applicable law, including the
Companies Act. Our Board may also, from time to time, declare interim dividends from the profits of the
Financial Year in which such interim dividend is sought to be declared. Additionally, under some of our loan
agreements, we are not permitted to declare any dividends without prior consent from the lenders if there is a
default under such loan agreements or unless we have paid all the dues to the lender up to the date on which the
dividend is declared or paid or has made satisfactory provisions thereof.

The amounts paid as dividends in the past are not necessarily indicative of our Company’s dividend policy or
the dividend amounts, if any, in the future. There is no guarantee that any dividends will be paid or that the
amount thereof will not be decreased in the future. Accordingly, realisation of a gain on investments may largely
depend upon the appreciation of the price of our Equity Shares. There can be no assurance that our Equity
Shares will appreciate in value. We may decide to retain all of our earnings to finance the development and
expansion of our business and, therefore, may not declare dividends on the Equity Shares. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to pay dividends at any point in the future.

Additionally, under the Finance Act, 2023, dividend distribution tax is not payable in respect of dividends
declared, distributed or paid by an Indian company after March 31, 2020, and accordingly, any dividend
payments to our resident and non-resident shareholders would not be tax exempt in their hands.

For further information, see “Dividends” on page 96.

After this Issue, the price of the Equity Shares may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses for
investors acquiring the Equity Shares in this Issue.

The Issue Price will be determined by our Company, in consultation with the BRLM, based on Bids received
in compliance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and it may not necessarily be indicative of the
market price of the Equity Shares after this Issue is completed. The price at which the Equity Shares will trade
at after the Issue will be determined by the marketplace and may be influenced by many factors, including:

e our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;

e the history of and prospects for our business;

an assessment of our management, our past and present operations and the prospects for, as well as timing
of, our future revenues and cost structures;

the valuation of publicly traded companies that are engaged in business activities similar to ours;
quarterly variations in our results of operations;

results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;

changes in expectations as to our future financial condition, including financial estimates by research
analysts and investors;

a change in research analysts’ recommendations;

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint operations or
capital commitments;

announcements of significant claims or proceedings against us;

new laws and government regulations that directly or indirectly affect our business;

changes in interest rates;

fluctuations in stock market prices and volume; and

general economic conditions.

The Indian stock markets have, from time to time, experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that
have affected market prices for the securities of Indian companies. As a result, investors in the Equity Shares
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may experience a decrease in the value of the Equity Shares regardless of our results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows.

Foreign investors are subject to certain investment restrictions under Indian law in relation to transfer of
shareholding that may limit our ability to attract foreign investors, which may adversely impact the trading
price of the Equity Shares.

Under foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfer of shares between non-residents and
residents are freely permitted (subject to certain restrictions), if they comply with the requirements specified by
RBI from time to time. If the transfer of shares is not in compliance with such requirements and does not fall
under any of the exceptions, then prior approval of RBI is required. Additionally, shareholders who seek to
convert the Rupee proceeds from a sale of shares in India into foreign currency and repatriate that foreign
currency from India require a no-objection or a tax clearance certificate from the Indian income-tax authorities.
Further, this conversion is subject to the shares having been held on a repatriation basis and is subject to either
the security having been sold in compliance with the pricing guidelines or the relevant regulatory approval
having been obtained for the sale of shares and corresponding remittance of the sale proceeds. Additionally, the
Indian government may impose foreign exchange restrictions in certain emergency situations, including
situations where there are sudden fluctuations in interest rates or exchange rates, where the Indian government
experiences extreme difficulty in stabilizing the balance of payments or where there are substantial disturbances
in the financial and capital markets in India. These restrictions may require foreign investors to obtain the Indian
government’s approval before acquiring Indian securities or repatriating the interest or dividends from those
securities or the proceeds from the sale of those securities. Our Company cannot assure you that any required
approval from the RBI or any other governmental agency can be obtained with or without any particular terms
or conditions, or at all.

There are restrictions on daily movements in the price of the Equity Shares, which may adversely affect
a Shareholder’s ability to sell, or the price at which a Shareholder can sell, the Equity Shares at a
particular point in time.

The Equity Shares are subject to a daily circuit breaker imposed on listed companies by the Stock Exchanges
in India, which does not allow transactions beyond a certain level of volatility in the price of the Equity Shares.
This circuit breaker operates independently of the index-based, market-wide circuit breakers generally imposed
by SEBI on Indian stock exchanges. The percentage limit on our Company’s circuit breaker applicable to the
Equity Shares is set by the Stock Exchanges based on the historical volatility in the price and trading volume
of the Equity Shares. The Stock Exchanges may change the percentage limit of the circuit breaker from time to
time without our Company’s knowledge. This circuit breaker would effectively limit the upward and downward
movements in the price of the Equity Shares. As a result of this circuit breaker, we cannot assure you regarding
the ability of Shareholders to sell the Equity Shares or the price at which Shareholders may be able to sell their
Equity Shares which may be adversely affected at a particular point in time. For further details, see “The
Securities Market of India” on page 204.

Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Rupee and other currencies could have an adverse effect on
the value of the Equity Shares in those currencies, independent of our operating results.

The Equity Shares are quoted in Rupees on the Stock Exchanges. Any adverse movement in currency exchange
rates during the time it takes to undertake such conversion may reduce the net dividends to investors.
Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the foreign currencies with which an investor may have purchased
Rupees may affect the value of the investment in the Equity Shares. Specifically, if there is a change in relative
value of the Rupee to a foreign currency, each of the following values will also be affected:

o the foreign currency equivalent of the Rupee trading price of the Equity Shares in India;

o the foreign currency equivalent of the proceeds that you would receive upon the sale in India of any of
the Equity Shares; and

o the foreign currency equivalent of cash dividends, if any, on the Equity Shares, which will be paid only in
Rupees.

In addition, any adverse movement in currency exchange rates during a delay in repatriating the proceeds from
a sale of Equity Shares outside India, for example, because of a delay in regulatory approvals that may be
required for the sale of Equity Shares, may reduce the net proceeds received by investors. The exchange rates
between the Rupee and other currencies (including the U.S. dollar, the Euro, the Pound sterling, the Hong Kong
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dollar and the Singapore dollar) have changed substantially in the last two decades and could fluctuate
substantially in the future, which may have an adverse effect on the value of the Equity Shares and returns from
the Equity Shares in foreign currency terms, independent of our operating results. You may be unable to convert
Rupee proceeds into a foreign currency of your choice, or the rate at which any such conversion could occur
could fluctuate. In addition, our Company’s market valuation could be seriously harmed by a devaluation of
the Rupee if investors in jurisdictions outside India analyse its value based on the relevant foreign currency
equivalent of our Company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains and stamp duty on the sale of the Equity
Shares.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity shares
in an Indian company is generally taxable in India. A securities transaction tax (“STT”) is levied on equity
shares sold on an Indian stock exchange. Any capital gain exceeding 3100,000, realized on the sale of listed
equity shares on a recognised stock exchange, held for more than 12 months may be subject to long-term capital
gains tax in India at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess). This beneficial provision is, inter alia,
subject to payment of STT on both acquisition and sale of the equity shares. Further any capital gain realised
on the sale of listed equity shares of an Indian company, held for more than 12 months, which are sold using
any platform other than a recognized stock exchange and on which no STT has been paid, will be subject to
long term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess), without indexation
benefits.

Further, any gain realized on the sale of our Equity Shares held for a period of 12 months or less immediately
preceding the date of transfer, will be subject to short-term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 15% (plus
applicable surcharge and cess), subject to STT being paid at the time of sale of such shares. Otherwise, such
gains will be taxed at the applicable rates.

Capital gains arising from the sale of the Equity Shares will not be chargeable to tax in India in cases where
relief from such taxation in India is provided under a treaty between India and the country of which the seller
is resident read with the Multilateral Instrument, if and to the extent applicable, and the seller is entitled to avail
benefits thereunder. Generally, Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s ability to impose tax on capital gains. As
a result, residents of other countries may be liable for tax in India as well as in their own jurisdiction on a gain
realised upon the sale of the Equity Shares. The Company may or may not grant the benefit of a tax treaty
(where applicable) to a non-resident shareholder for the purposes of deducting tax at source pursuant to any
corporate action including dividends.

Bidders are not allowed to withdraw their Bids or revise their Bids downwards after the Issue Closing Date.

In terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, Bidders are not allowed to withdraw their Bids or revise their Bids
downwards in terms of quantity of Equity Shares or the Application Amount after the Issue Closing Date. The
Allotment of Equity Shares in this Issue and the credit of such Equity Shares to an Allottee’s demat account
with the depository participant could take approximately seven to ten Working Days from the Issue Closing
Date. However, we cannot assure that adverse changes in the international or national monetary, financial,
political or economic conditions or other events in the nature of force majeure, adverse changes in our business,
results of operation, financial condition and cash flows, or other events affecting the Bidder’s decision to invest
in the Equity Shares would not arise between the Issue Closing Date and the date of the Allotment of Equity
Shares in the Issue. The occurrence of any such events after the Issue Closing Date could also adversely impact
the market price of the Equity Shares. Bidders shall not have the right to withdraw their Bids or revise their
Bids downwards in the event of any such occurrence. Our Company may complete the Allotment of the Equity
Shares even if such events may limit the Allottees’ ability to sell the Equity Shares after the Issue or cause the
trading price of the Equity Shares to decline.

Holders of Equity Shares may be restricted in their ability to exercise pre-emptive rights under Indian law
and could thereby suffer future dilution of their ownership position.

Under the Companies Act, a company having share capital and incorporated in India must offer holders of its
Equity Shares pre-emptive rights to subscribe and pay for a proportionate number of shares to maintain their
existing ownership percentages prior to the issuance of any new Equity Shares, unless the pre-emptive rights
have been waived by the adoption of a special resolution by holders of three-fourths of the Equity Shares who
have voted on such a resolution. If our Company offers to the Shareholders rights to subscribe for additional
Equity Shares or any right of any other nature, our Company will have discretion as to the procedure to be
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followed in making the rights available to our Shareholders or in disposing of the rights for the benefit of our
Company’s Shareholders and making the net proceeds available to the Shareholders. Our Company may choose
not to offer the rights to Shareholders having an address outside India. Consequently, our Company cannot
assure Shareholders that they will be able to maintain their proportional interests in the Equity Shares.
Shareholders will be unable to exercise their pre-emptive rights if the law of the jurisdiction in which they are
located prohibits the sale of the Equity Shares without first filing an offering document or registration statement,
unless we make such a filing. We may elect not to file a registration statement in relation to pre-emptive rights
otherwise available to Shareholders by Indian law. To the extent that Shareholders are unable to exercise the
pre-emptive rights granted to them in respect to the Equity Shares, they may suffer future dilution of their
ownership position and their proportional interests in our Company would be reduced.

U.S. holders should consider the impact of the passive foreign investment company rules in connection with
an investment in our Equity Shares.

A non-U.S. corporation will be a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) if either (i) 75.00% or more
of its gross income is passive income or (ii) 50.00% or more of the total value of its assets is attributable to
assets, including cash that produce or are held for the production of passive income. Our Company will be
treated as owning its proportionate share of the assets and earning its proportionate share of the income of any
other corporation in which it owns, directly or indirectly, 25.00% or more (by value) of the stock.

Based on the current and expected composition of our Company’s and the Subsidiaries income and assets, our
Company believes it was not a PFIC for fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, and does not expect to be a PFIC
for the current year or any future years. However, no assurance can be given that our Company will or will not
be considered a PFIC in the current or future years. The determination of whether or not our Company is a PFIC
is a factual determination that is made annually after the end of each taxable year, and there can be no assurance
that our Company will not be considered a PFIC in the current taxable year or any future taxable year because,
among other reasons, (i) the composition of our Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ income and assets will vary
over time, and (ii) the manner of the application of relevant rules is uncertain in several respects. Further, our
Company’s PFIC status may depend on the market price of its Equity Shares, which may fluctuate considerably.
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MARKET PRICE INFORMATION

The Equity Shares of our Company have been listed on BSE and NSE since October 25, 2005. As on the date of
this Preliminary Placement Document, 2,57,18,100 Equity Shares have been issued, subscribed and paid up.

As of April 2, 2024, the closing price of the Equity Shares on BSE and NSE was X 2,327.90 and X 2,348.70 per
Equity Share, respectively. Since the Equity Shares are available for trading on BSE and NSE, the market price and
other information for each of BSE and NSE has been given separately.

(i) The following tables set forth the reported intra-day high, intra-day low, average of the closing prices and
the trading volumes of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges on the dates on which such high and low
prices were recorded for the 12 months period commencing from April 1 and ending on March 31 for the
last three Fiscals.
BSE
NuErSBﬁ;Of Total. volume of Nlérggiet;()f Total_ volume of _
: Date of Shares Equity Shares Shares Equity Shares | Average price
Fiscal |[High ) hi traded on date | Low () |Date of low traded on date | for the year
igh traded on . traded on
of high R In of low ®
the date of Lakhs) the date of & In Lakhs)
high low
2023-2024 | 2,450.0 | January 9, 2,287 55.12 | 309.00 | April 3, 2,712 8.67 1,414.93
0 2024 2023
2022-2023 | 468.00 | September 75,563 346.52 | 221.00 |January 12, 7,809 17.99 341.33
30, 2022 2023
2021-2022 | 390.40 | June 15, 69,131 268.07 | 130.00 | March 25, 25,635 34.74 226.36
2021 2022

(Source: www.bseindia.com)

Notes:

1. High price indicates intraday high price, low price indicates intraday low price and average prices are based on the daily closing prices,
for the respective periods.

2. In the case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year.
3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.
NSE
Number of | Total volume Number Total volume of
Equity of Equity of Equity .
Equity Shares Average
. . . Shares |Shares traded Shares -
Fiscal High (%) | Date of high Low (%) | Date of low traded on date |price for the
traded on | on date of traded on of low  In ear ()
the date of | high R In the date of Lakhs) y
high Lakhs) low
2023-2024 | 2,449.0 | January 9, 15,559 374.84 | 302.50 | April 3, 2023 42,298 135.10 1,413.63
0 2024
2022-2023 477.60 |September 30, 3,25,486 1490.84 | 220.35 | January 12, 66,441 155.48 341.31
2022 2023
2021-2022 390.75 [June 15, 2021 2,80,34 1085.32 | 130.00 April 25, 1,18,414 162.41 226.41
2022

(Source: www.nseindia.com)

Notes:

1. High price indicates intraday high price, low price indicates intraday low price and average prices are based on the daily closing prices,

for the respective periods.
2. In the case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year.

3.

(i)

In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.

the total trading turnover for the following periods during each of the last six months, as applicable:
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The following tables set forth the reported high, low and average closing prices and the trading volumes of
the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges on the dates on which such high and low prices were recorded and


http://www.bseindia.com/
http://www.nseindia.com/

BSE
Number of | Total volume Numbgr Total volume SR SIS R el (e
) . of Equity A Average month
Month Date of =iy o Selurisy Shares o ey price for
ear '| High ®) hiah Shares |Shares traded | Low ) | Date of low traded on Shares traded the Turnover (& In
y 9 traded on |on date of high date of | " date of low month ) Volume u L(;kGhsg
date of high | (X In Lakhs) low ® In Lakhs)
March | 2,309.70 | March 6, 4,277 93.17|1,795.00 | March 19, 2,835 51.35 | 2,040.43| 1,66,156 3,176.19
2024 2024 2024
February| 2,449.95 |February 7, 722 17.22 |1,955.40 |February 13,| 5,509 111.61 | 2,180.67 43,028 922.56
2024 2024 2024
January | 2,450.00 |January 09, 2,287 55.12 2,088 | January 30, 750 16.23 (2,270.88 | 153,489 3,328.68
2024 2024 2024
Decemb | 2279.95 | December 22,001 478.22 |1,753.00 | December 3,775 68.58 [2,040.24 | 1,02,345 2,083.34
er 2023 04, 2023 29, 2023
Novemb| 1860.00 | November 1,477 26.91 |1,526.00 | November 139 2.21 |1,758.06 67,614 1,192.85
er 2023 13, 2023 30, 2023
October | 1640.00 |October 04, 2,566 40.43 |1,205.25 | October 31, 1,486 18.68 |1,444.65 62,983 913.45
2023 2023 0 2023
Septemb| 1295.50 | September 17,576 212.20|1,021.35 | September 2,967 31.39 (1,201.23 | 1,24,199 1,487.42
er 2023 22,2023 29, 2023
(Source: www.bseindia.com)
Notes:
1. High price indicates intraday high price, low price indicates intraday low price and average prices are based on the daily closing prices,
for the respective periods.
2. Inthe case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year.
3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.
NSE
Total Number Equity Shares traded
Number of | volume of of Total volume in the month
Equity Equity Equity of Equity | Average
Month, High ) Date of Shares Shares Low (3) | Date of low Sr?ares Shares price for
year g high traded on | traded on traded traded on the Volume Turnover R
date of date of date of low |month (%) In Lakhs)
. . on date
high high R In of low ( In Lakhs)
Lakhs)
March 31, (2,270.60 | March 5, 16,223 363.93 [1,781.00 | March 19, 10,766 194.29| 2,035.44 | 2,97,32 5,967.17
2024 2024 2024 3
February (2,439.00 | February 6, 18,544 441.14 |1,950.00 | February 14, | 18,720 379.26 | 2,182.32 | 4,72,71 10,197.12
2024 2024 2024 7
January 2,449.00 | January 09, 15,559 374.84 2,101.00 | January 24, 12,116 261.35 | 2,266.37 | 316,835 6,771.00
2024 2024 2024
December (2,280.00 | December 16,043 357.75 |1,756.40 | December 29,| 35,916 656.15 | 1,843.35| 35,916 656.15
2023 06, 2023 2023
November (1,878.00 | November 9,791 177.98 |1,540.00 |[November 29, 26,068 42242 | 1,563.40| 17,841 280.36
2023 13, 2023 2023
October  |1,633.00 | October 04, 22,989 360.89 (1,220.00 | October 31, | 13,355 167.97 | 1,437.11 |379,486 5,451.09
2023 2023 2023
September |1,296.25 | September 110,566 1347.60 |1,014.40 |September 29,| 30,640 324.51 | 1,200.91 | 522,798 6,213.83
2023 22, 2023 2023
(Source: www.nseindia.com)
Notes:
1. High price indicates intraday high price, low price indicates intraday low price and average prices are based on the daily closing prices,

for the respective periods.

2. Inthe case of a year, average represents the average of the closing prices of all trading days of each year.
3. In case of two days with the same high or low price, the date with the higher volume has been chosen.
(iii)  The following tables set forth the market price on the Stock Exchanges on January 11,2024, the first working
day following the approval of the Board for the Issue:
BSE
Open }) High 3) Low ) Close ) Number of Equity Shares traded Turnover (R in Lakhs)
2,398.00 2,444.75 2,320.00 2,360.10 1,126 26.62
(Source: www.bseindia.com)
NSE
Open ) High @) Low ) Close }) Number of Equity Shares traded Turnover (R in Lakhs)
2,429.00 2,440.00 2,320.00 2,360.50 8,752 207.93

(Source: www.nseindia.com)
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In the event the high or low or closing price of the Equity shares are the same on more than one day, the day on
which there has been higher volume of trading has been considered for the purposes of this chapter.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Gross Proceeds from the Issue aggregate to X [e] lakhs. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, the net
proceeds from the Issue, after deducting fees, commissions, and the estimated expenses of the Issue of approximately
% [e] lakhs, shall be approximately X [®] lakhs (the “Net Proceeds”).

Objects of the Issue

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, our Company intends to use the Net Proceeds to finance the following
(“Objects”):

(< in lakhs)
Sr. No Particulars Amount which will be financed
L from Net Proceeds
1. Pursuing inorganic growth initiatives through acquisitions 15,000.00
2. Repayment / pre-payment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding 7,000.00
borrowings availed by our Company;
3. Funding working capital requirements of our Company 20,000.00
4, General corporate purposes” [*]
5. Total Net Proceeds [*]

" To be determined upon finalisation of the Issue Price and updated in the Placement Document. The amount utilised for general corporate
purposes shall not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds.

The main objects and objects incidental and ancillary to the main objects of the memorandum of association of our
Company enable us to undertake (i) existing activities and (ii) the activities proposed to be funded from the Net
Proceeds.

Proposed schedule of implementation and deployment of Net Proceeds

(R in lakhs)
Amount to be
Sr. No. Particulars funded from Net Proposed schedule for deployment of the Net Proceeds
Proceeds Fiscal 2025 Fiscal 2026
1. Pursuing inorganic 15,000.00 15,000.00 -
growth initiatives
through acquisitions
2. Repayment /  pre- 7,000.00 7,000.00 -
payment, in full or in
part, of certain
outstanding borrowings
availed by our
Company;,
3. Funding working capital 20,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00
requirements of our
Company
4. General corporate [e] [e] [e]
purposes”
5. Total Net Proceeds [*]

" To be determined upon finalisation of the Issue Price and updated in the Placement Document. The amount utilised for general corporate
purposes shall not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds.

The funding requirements, deployment of funds and the intended use of Net Proceeds indicated above is based on
management estimates, current circumstances of our business, our existing business plans, the prevailing market
conditions and other commercial and technical factors. Given the nature of our business, we may have to revise our
funding requirements and intended deployment schedule on account of a variety of factors such as our financial
condition, business strategy, delay in procuring and operationalizing assets or necessary licenses and approvals, and
external factors such as market conditions, competitive environment, price fluctuations and interest or exchange rate
fluctuations and other external factors which may not be within the control of our management. Depending upon
such factors, we may have to reduce or extend the deployment period for the stated objects. This may entail
rescheduling or revising the planned expenditure, implementation schedule and funding requirements, including the
expenditure for a particular purpose, at the discretion of our management. Subject to applicable law, if the actual
utilisation towards the objects is lower than the proposed deployment, such balance will be used for general
corporate purposes to the extent that the total amount to be utilized towards general corporate purposes will not
exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds. In case of a shortfall in raising requisite capital from the Net Proceeds, business
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considerations may require us to explore a range of options including utilising our internal accruals and seeking
additional debt from existing and future lenders. We believe that such alternate arrangements would be available to
fund any such shortfalls. Further, in case of variations in the actual utilization of funds earmarked for the purposes
set forth above, increased fund requirements for a particular purpose may be financed by surplus funds, if any,
available in respect of the other purposes for which funds are being raised in the Issue, subject to compliance with
applicable laws. For details, see “Risk Factors — Our funding requirements and the proposed deployment of Net
Proceeds have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other independent agency” on page
56.

Our Company proposes to deploy the entire Net Proceeds towards the Objects stated above. If the Net Proceeds are
not utilized (in full or in part) for the Objects for the period stated above due to any reason, including (i) the timing
of completion of the Issue; (ii) market conditions outside the control of our Company; and (iii) any other economic,
business and commercial considerations, the remaining Net Proceeds shall be utilized (in part or full) in subsequent
periods in such manner as may be determined by our Company, in accordance with applicable laws. Further, our
Company may also utilise any portion of or the entire Net Proceeds, towards the aforementioned Objects, ahead of
the estimated schedule of deployment specified above.

Details of the Objects
1. Pursuing inorganic growth initiatives through acquisitions

We intend to use X 15,000.00 lakhs of the Net Proceeds to pursue inorganic growth initiatives through acquisitions
towards expansion of our operations.

Our Company has in the past undertaken several acquisitions and we shall continue to evaluate acquisition
opportunities in the future that we believe supplement our strategic business objectives and growth strategies. One
of our core strategies is to pursue inorganic growth through strategic acquisitions of high margin businesses
supplemental to our operations. In line with our past practice, we intend to pursue opportunities to undertake
acquisitions (i) that allow us to enhance our scale and market position; (ii) that allow us to enhance our product
portfolio including product category adjacencies by unlocking potential synergy benefits; (iii) to extend our reach
to new geographic markets outside India; and (iv) to capture additional revenue opportunities from our existing
customer base to improve our margin profile.

Set forth hereunder are brief details of certain of our material acquisitions that we have undertaken in the last three
years:

Property,
Name of the plant and
target entity/ Country/ equipment .
entity from | Financial State of Purchase Mode of Benefit of and Sha;?;c&lfmg
which the year of | incorporation | Consideration o L intangible
business/asset | acquisition | of the target paid acquisition acquisition assets as on S ETES
: on date
has been entity December
purchased 31, 2023 (in
% lakhs)
Trejhara 2023 India 14,000.00 (in % | Acquisition |Strengthening the|513.01 -
Solutions lakhs) of Interact|existing offerings
Limited DX by way |of our Company in
of  slump|the banking
sale segment by
providing advance
customer
communication
solutions
A S Software|2023 India 8,187.00 (in I |Acquisition |Complement the |21.52 -
Services Private lakhs) of omnifin|existing lending
Limited by way of|products of our
slump sale |Company and
offer complete
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Property,

Name of the plant and
target entity/ Country/ equipment .
entity from | Financial State of Purchase Mode of Benefit of and Shagit;?jlglng
which the year of |incorporation | Consideration acquisition acquisition intangible Company as
business/asset | acquisition | of the target paid quistty quisttt assets as on P d y
has been entity December on date
purchased 31, 2023 (in
% lakhs)
bouquet of lending
solutions
Aurionpro 2022 India 1,399.95 (in Z|Acquisition |Established 278.88 51.00%
Toshi lakhs) of  equity| ATASPL as an
Automatic shares integrated player
Systems Private in the mass transit
Limited market
("ATASPL”)
Real Patients|2022 USA uSsD Acquisition | Acquisition of | Nil 100% (through
Solutions Inc 2,68,153.00 of  equity|new clientele and the wholly
shares synergy with the owned
existing payment subsidiaries of
business in USA our Company)
SC Soft|2023 USA usD Acquisition |Expansion  into|Nil 100% (through
Americas LLC 25,000.00 of  equity|newer territories the wholly
shares for the transit owned
business subsidiaries of

our Company)

Rationale for acquisitions in future

Our acquisition strategy is primarily driven by our Board and the typical framework and process followed by us for
acquisitions involves identifying the strategic acquisitions based on the rationale set out herein, entering into
requisite non-disclosure agreements and conducting diligence of the target. Once we have satisfactorily concluded
the diligence exercise, we enter into definitive agreements to acquire the target based on the approval of our Board
and if required, the shareholders. As on the date of this PPD, we have not entered into any such definitive agreements
towards any future acquisitions.

Our inorganic growth strategy and associated investments are and will continue to be subject to multiple internal
and external factors, including applicable business requirements, investments in newer technology infrastructure
and platforms and towards adapting to changes in customer preferences and technological advancements. Some of
the selection criteria that we may consider when evaluating strategic acquisitions include:

e expertise in the products we wish to expand into;
e strategic fit with our existing business such that the businesses are synergistic with some of our existing
businesses/customers or where we can look to leverage some of our existing experience, expertise or
relationships, amongst other competencies;
e new customers / users that we can serve with our existing capabilities;
e product portfolio or product category adjacencies that can increase our wallet share from existing as well new

customers;

e newer product offerings as well as improvement of our product and customer mix such that our overall margin

profile improves;
e acquisition price which we evaluate very carefully as we do not believe in overpaying for any acquisition;
e enhance our geographical reach; and
e strengthen market share in existing markets.

These factors will also determine the form of investment for these potential acquisitions, i.e., whether they will be
directly done by our Company or through investments in our Subsidiaries in the form of equity, debt or any other
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instrument or combination thereof, or whether these will be in the nature of business, asset or technology acquisitions
or joint ventures.

The amount of Net Proceeds to be used for acquisitions will be based on our management’s decision and may not
be the total value or cost of any such acquisitions, but is expected to provide us with sufficient financial leverage to
pursue such acquisitions, including payment towards goodwill and net assets and consideration for equity share
purchase. For further details, see “Risk Factors — Our funding requirements and the proposed deployment of Net
Proceeds have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other independent agency” on page
56.

We intend to utilize the above-stated portion of the Net Proceeds towards our strategic acquisitions which may be
undertaken over the course of Fiscal 2025. In case the Net Proceeds towards our strategic acquisitions are not fully
utilised in Fiscal 2025, the same will be utilised in Fiscal 2026. See “Risk Factors — We may not derive the
anticipated benefits from strategic investments and acquisitions that we may enter into and we may not be successful
in pursuing future investments and acquisitions.” on page 54.

The proposed inorganic acquisitions shall be undertaken in accordance with the applicable laws, including the
Companies Act, FEMA, Competition Act and the regulations notified thereunder, as the case may be. Further, in
accordance with the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company will disclose to the Stock Exchanges, details of the
acquisitions such as name of the target entity, cost and nature of such acquisition, as and when acquired, at the
relevant stages as prescribed therein. We undertake that the acquisitions proposed to be undertaken from the Net
Proceeds shall not be acquired from the Promoter, Promoter Group entities, Group Companies, affiliates or any
other related parties.

2. Repayment /pre-payment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding borrowings availed by our Company

We avail fund-based and non-fund-based facilities in the ordinary course of business from various entities, banks
and financial institutions. The borrowing arrangements entered into by us include inter alia term loans, working
capital facilities and commercial papers. As of February 29, 2024, we had total outstanding borrowings of
11,475.89 lakhs. We propose to utilise a portion of the Net Proceeds aggregating to X 7,000.00 lakhs for repayment
or pre-payment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding borrowings availed by our Company.

To the extent required, our Company has obtained necessary consents from the lenders of these borrowings as per the
requirements under the borrowing arrangements. Further, pursuant to the terms of the borrowing arrangements, pre-
payment of certain indebtedness may attract pre-payment charges as prescribed by the respective lender. Such pre-
payment charges, as applicable, will also be funded out of the Net Proceeds and/or internal accruals.

The repayment / pre-payment of certain loans by utilizing the Net Proceeds will help reduce our outstanding
indebtedness. Further, it will reduce our debt-servicing costs and improve our debt equity ratio.

Details of utilization

The details of certain outstanding borrowings availed by our Company, proposed for repayment or pre-payment, in
full or in part, from the Net Proceeds are set forth below:
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(INR in lakhs)

Name of the Amount Whether
lender, roposed to the loan
FELLGEEN | [PUTpEEREl L Outstanding loan Rate of b% ref) aid out ek BEE
Sr date of the | loan or facility Amount amount ag on Interest as of Repayment Schedule of tEe Net utilized
’ loan availed as per | sanctioned (X in Tenor of loan / scheduled Prepayment Penalty . for the Security
No. L February 29, 2024 (X| February 29, Proceeds (if
agreement | loan or facility lakhs) - repayment date purpose
. in lakhs) 2024 (% p.a.) the same has -
and date of | documentation been for which
the sanction . it has been
Letter eBEEL) availed
1 |State Bank of|Term Loan 2,359.00 1,907.13 9.95%|60 Months Quarterly 2% of Pre -payment 1,907.13|Yes Refer note 1
India Amount
2 |Hewlett- Project Finance 5,110.00 1,176.05| 11% to 13 %|36 Months Monthly 2% 1t0 3 % 1,231.00|Yes Unsecured
Packard
3 |State Bank of|{Cash Credit 690.00 169.51 10.45%|1 Year Payable on demand  |0% 690.00|Yes Refer note 1
India
4 |ICICI Bank|Cash Credit 500.00 472.93 10.00%|1 Year Payable on demand  |0% 500.00(Yes Refer note 2
Limited
5 |ICICI Bank|{WCDL 1,000.00 2,500.00 10.00%|90 Days Payable on demand  |0% 1,000.00|Yes Refer note 2
Limited
6 |ATrends. Vendor Finance 3,900.00 2,884.04 8 % t0 10%|90 to 120 Days |90 to 120 Days 0% 3,704.08|Yes Unsecured
7 |M1 Exchange |Vendor Finance 300.00 273.51 8 % t0 10%|90 to 120 Days |90 to 120 Days 0% 12.90|Yes Unsecured
Notes:

As certified by M/s. C K S P AND CO LLP, Chartered Accountants, the Statutory Auditors appointed by the Company by way of their certificate dated April 3, 2024.
1. 'Secured by pari passu charge on entire receivables, stock in process and computers, furniture and fixtures and Plant & Machinery, this loan is also secured by Shares and certain immovable assets owned by the
Promoters.

2. Secured by first pari passu charge on Current assets.
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3. Funding working capital requirements of our Company

We propose to utilize ¥ 20,000.00 lakhs from the Net Proceeds to fund the working capital requirements of our
Company in Fiscal 2025 and 2026. We have significant working capital requirements in the ordinary course of
business, which we typically fund through internal accruals and availing financing facilities from various lenders.
Our business is working capital intensive and our Company avails working capital facilities in the ordinary course
of business from various lenders.

Our Company requires additional working capital for executing its outstanding order book and any future orders
that may be received, for funding future growth requirements of our Company and for other strategic, business, and
corporate purposes.

Basis for estimation of working capital requirement

The details of our Company’s composition, on a standalone basis, of net current assets or working capital as of, and
for the nine month ended December 31, 2023 and the financial year ended March 31, 2023, March 2022, March
2021 and source of funding the same as certified by M/s C K S P AND CO LLP, Chartered Accountants, the
Statutory Auditors appointed by the Company by way of their certificate dated April 3, 2024 are as set out in the

table below:

(% in lakhs)
Particul D Asbat 31 As at March | As at March | As at March
articufars s | 31,2023 31, 2022 31, 2021

A. Current assets
Trade receivables 15,650.34 14,882.66 11,401.21 8,654.18
Cash and cash equivalents 2,116.79 518.57 1,925.41 432.45
Current loan/financial assets 14,912.63 9,972.76 6,576.32 7,519.45
Inventories 684.15 1,037.14 1,299.85 1,303.80
Other current assets 7,082.59 4,519.76 3,267.54 3,934.13
Total current assets (A) 40,446.51 30,930.88 24,470.33 21,844.01
B. Current liabilities
Short term borrowings (Refer note 1) 5,687.22 1,590.17 507.10* 2,477.57
Trade payables (Refer note 2) 9,155.73 12,488.44 6,877.11* 5,220.49
Other Financial Liabilities 6,413.65 2,648.31 2,016.82 1,902.18
Provisions 966.67 687.70 439.83 375.89
Other current liabilities 3,842.37 2,016.56 1,871.13 1,451.75
Total current liabilities (B) 26,065.65 19,431.17 11,711.99 11,427.88
C. Net working capital requirements (A-B) 14,380.86]  11,499.71]  12,758.34]  10,416.13
D. Existing funding pattern
Borrowings from banks, financial institutions and non- 5,634.53 1,537.48 454 41* 2,424.88
banking financial companies (including bill discounting)
(Refer Note 3)
Internal accruals / equity 8,746.33 9,962.25 12,303.93 7,991.25
Total Means of Finance 14,380.86 11,499.73 12,758.34 10,416.13

*Reclassified/regrouped figures
Note:

As certified by M/s. CK S P AND CO LLP, Chartered Accountants, appointed by the Company by way of their certificate dated April 3, 2024.
1. Short Term Borrowing does not include Current Maturity of Long-Term Debt.

2. Trade Payable includes lease liability.
3. Does not include borrowing from related party - director loan.

Assumptions for working capital requirements including holding levels and justifications for holding period

levels

The following table sets forth the details of the holding period for the financial years ended March 31, 2023, March
31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, which has been computed based on the audited financial statements for the financial
years ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, respectively.
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Number of days for the Fiscal/period ended
Sr. Particulars (Calculated on the basis of Revenue from Operation)
No. As of December 31, As of March 31, As of March 31, As of March 31,
2023 2023 2022 2021
1 Trade receivables 104 129 144 165
2 | Cash and cash equivalents 14 5 24 8
3 Current loan/financial 99 87 83 143
assets
4 Other current assets 47 39 41 75
5 | Short term borrowings 38 14 6 47
6 | Trade payables 61 109 87 99
7 Other financial liabilities 43 23 25 36
8 Provision 6 6 6 7
9 Other current liabilities 26 18 24 28
Note:

As certified by M/s. CK'S P AND CO LLP, Chartered Accountants, the Statutory Auditors appointed by the Company by way of their certificate dated
April 3,2024.

1. Inventory days: Average of inventory for the current and previous period / Total Direct Cost for the current period * 365

2. Trade receivable days: Average of trade receivables for the current and previous period/ revenue from operations * 365

3. Other current assets days: Average of other current assets for the current and previous period/ revenue from operations * 365

4. Trade payable days: Average of trade payables for the current and previous period / Total Direct Cost for the current period * 365

5. Other current liabilities days: Average of other current liabilities for the current and previous period / Total Operating Cost for the current
period * 365

6. Raw material days: Average of Raw Material for the current and previous period / Total Direct Cost for the current period * 365

7. Work in progress days: Average of work in progress for the current and previous period / Total Direct Cost for the current period * 365

8. Finished Goods days: Average of finished goods for the current and previous period / Total Direct Cost for the current period * 365.

On the basis of existing working capital requirement and holding levels for the nine month ended December 31,
2023 and the financial years ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022, and March 31, 2021, the Capital Issue
Committee of our Company, pursuant to its resolution dated March 6, 2024 has approved the projected total working
capital requirements for Fiscal 2025 and 2026 as X 15,770.47 lakhs and % 20,400.34 lakhs respectively. Accordingly,
our Company proposes to utilize ¥ 10,000.00 lakhs and %10,000.00 lakhs of the Net Proceeds in Fiscal 2025 and
Fiscal 2026 respectively, towards our estimated working capital requirements. The balance portion of our working
capital requirement shall be met from internal accruals and existing and additional working capital facilities from
lenders.

4. General Corporate Purposes

The Net Proceeds will first be utilized towards the Objects as set out above. Subject to this, our Company intends
to deploy any balance Net Proceeds towards general corporate purposes and the business requirements of our
Company, as approved by our management, from time to time, subject to such utilization for general corporate
purposes not exceeding 25% of the Gross Proceeds.

Such general corporate purposes may include, but are not restricted to meeting fund requirements which our
Company may face in the ordinary course of business, additional capital expenditure, investment in our Subsidiaries,
meeting exigencies and expenses, logistics expenses, installation expenses, accessories, freight, and other expenses
in relation to our proposed use of proceeds, and any other purpose as may be approved by our Board or a duly
appointed committee from time to time, subject to compliance with the necessary provisions of the Companies Act,
2013.

The allocation or quantum of utilization of funds towards the specific purposes described above will be determined
by our Board, based on our business requirements and other relevant considerations, from time to time. Our
Company’s management shall have flexibility in utilising surplus amounts, if any, in accordance with applicable
law.

Monitoring of utilisation of funds

Pursuant to Regulation 173A of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Company has appointed CARE Ratings Limited,
a credit rating agency registered with the SEBI, as the monitoring agency (“Monitoring Agency”) by way of an
agreement dated February 24, 2024, as the size of our Issue exceeds ¥ 10,000 lakhs. The Monitoring Agency shall
submit its report to our Company in the format specified in Schedule XI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations on a
quarterly basis, till 100% of the proceeds of the Issue have been utilised. The board of directors and the management
of our Company will provide their comments on the findings of the Monitoring Agency as specified in Schedule
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XI1. Our Company shall, within 45 days from the end of each quarter, upload the report of the Monitoring Agency
on our website and also submit the same to the Stock Exchanges.

Pursuant to Regulation 32(3) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company shall, on a quarterly basis, disclose to
the Audit Committee the uses and applications of the Net Proceeds. The report of the Monitoring Agency shall be
placed before our Audit Committee on a quarterly basis, promptly upon its receipt. On an annual basis, our Company
shall prepare a statement of funds utilised for purposes other than those stated in this Preliminary Placement
Document and place it before the Audit Committee and make other disclosures as may be required until such time
as the Net Proceeds remain unutilised. Such disclosure shall be made only until such time that all the Net Proceeds
have been utilised in full. Furthermore, in accordance with Regulation 32(1) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our
Company shall furnish to the Stock Exchanges on a quarterly basis, a statement indicating (i) deviations, if any, in
the actual utilisation of the proceeds of the Issue from the Objects, as stated above; and (ii) details of category wise
variations in the actual utilisation of the proceeds of the Issue from the Objects, as stated above. This information
will also be published on our website simultaneously with the interim or annual financial results and explanation
for such variation (if any) will be included in our Director’s report, after placing the same before the Audit
Committee.

Other confirmations

In accordance with applicable laws, we undertake to not utilize proceeds from the Issue unless Allotment is made
and the corresponding return of Allotment is filed with the RoC and final listing and trading approvals are received
from each of the Stock Exchanges. The Net Proceeds shall be kept by our Company in a separate bank account with
a scheduled bank and shall be utilised as approved by our Board and/ or a duly authorized committee of our Board,
from time to time only for such purposes, as permitted under the Companies Act, prescribed Objects as disclosed
above and other applicable laws.

Our Company will have flexibility in deploying the Net Proceeds received by our Company from the Issue in
accordance with applicable laws. Pending utilisation for the purposes described above, our Company intends to
temporarily invest funds in creditworthy liquid instruments, including money market mutual funds and deposits
with scheduled commercial banks. Such investments would be in accordance with the investment policies as
approved by our Board from time to time and applicable laws.

Subject to applicable laws, our Board shall determine the quantum of Net Proceeds to be deployed by our Company
from the Issue, depending on business opportunities or requirements of our Company from time to time.

Neither of our Promoters, members of the Promoter Group, our Directors and the group companies are making any
contribution either as part of the Issue or separately in furtherance of the Objects. None of our Promoters, members
of the Promoter Group, our Directors and the group companies shall receive any proceeds from the Issue, whether
directly or indirectly. Since the Issue is only made to Eligible QIBs, our Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial
Personnel or members of Senior Management (including ‘key managerial personnel’ under the Companies Act) are
not eligible to subscribe in the Issue.
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CAPITALISATION STATEMENT

The following table sets forth our capitalization and total borrowings, on a consolidated basis, as at December 31,
2023 which has been derived from our Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and as adjusted to
give effect for the Issue. This table should be read in conjunction with the sections titled “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” and “Financial Information” on pages 97 and 225,
respectively.

(in % lakhs)

Particulars Pre-Issue (as at December 31, Post-Issue as adjusted
2023) (Actuals) ) @) )
Non-current borrowings***
Secured 1,869.91
Unsecured 1,470.06
Total non-current borrowings (A) 3,339.97
Current borrowings
Secured 1,696.68
Unsecured 5,715.41
Total current borrowings (B) 7,412.09
Total debt (C) 10,752.06
Shareholders’ funds
Equity share capital 2,381.52 *x
Other equity (excluding securities premium account) 29,574.02 #
Non-Controlling Interest 1,826.08
Securities premium account 36,757.25 *x
Total Equity (D) 70,538.87
Total capitalization (C+D) 81,290.93
Non-current borrowings/ Total Equity (A/D) 0.05
Total debt / Total equity (C/D) 0.15

“The corresponding post-Issue capitalisation data for each of the above amounts given in the table is not determinable at this stage pending the
determination of terms of the Issue and hence, the same have not been provided in the above statement.

"To be incorporated after determination of Issue Price.

#As adjusted for the proposed issue column reflects changes in equity and other equity on account of Proceeds from the Issue amounting to 3[e]
lakhs, out of which, I[e] lakhs has been adjusted towards Equity Share capital and X [e] lakhs has been adjusted towards other equity.

No change in borrowings has been considered on account of the Issue. The other equity amount has not been adjusted for share issue expenses
in relation to the Issue. This has been computed basis the Issue Price, as approved in the Fund Raising Committee meeting dated [e].

" Includes current maturity of long term borrowings.

These terms shall carry the meaning as per Schedule 111 to the Companies Act, 2013 (as amended).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of our Company as on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document is set forth below:

(in % lakhs, except share data)

Particulars

Aggregate nominal value at face value
(except for securities premium account)

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

6,61,50,000 Equity Shares of face value of 10 each 6,615.00
ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP CAPITAL BEFORE

THE ISSUE

2,57,18,100 Equity Shares of face value of 210 each 2,571.81
PRESENT ISSUE IN TERMS OF THIS PRELIMINARY

PLACEMENT DOCUMENT

Up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating to Z[e] lakhs()®@ [o]
ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP CAPITAL AFTER THE

ISSUE

[e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each® [e]
SECURITIES PREMIUM ACCOUNT

Before the Issue (as of the date of this Preliminary Placement 56,666.97
Document)

After the Issue@® [e]

Note: In relation to the 9,02,935 Equity Shares allotted on March 28, 2024, by way of a preferential allotment, our Company has filed the

(€]

@)
@®)

Notes to the Capital Structure

Equity Share capital history of our Company

applications for obtaining the listing approvals from BSE and NSE on April 2, 2024, and are yet to receive the listing approval. Post receipt
of the listing approval, our Company will apply for trading approvals from BSE and NSE, accordingly. For further details, see “- Equity
Share capital history of our Company” on page 90.
This Issue has been authorised and approved by our Board of Directors pursuant to its resolution passed on January 10, 2024. The
Shareholders of our Company have authorised and approved the Issue by way of a special resolution in their extraordinary general meeting
held on February 7, 2024

To be determined upon finalisation of the Issue Price
The securities premium account after the Issue is calculated on the basis of Gross Proceeds. Adjustments do not include Issue related
expenses

The history of the equity share capital of our Company as on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document is
provided in the following table:

Face
Number value Issue Nature of Cumulative Cumulative
Date of of equity per price per . Nature of paid-up equity
. . considera number of !
allotment shares equity equity tion allotment equity shares share capital
allotted share share %) ®
Q)
October 31, 20 10 10 Cash | Initial 20 200
1997 Subscription  to
the
Memorandum of
Association
March 3, 1999 9,000 10 10 Cash | Preferential 9,020 90,200
Allotment
December 21, 1,66,980 10 10 Cash | Preferential 1,76,000 17,60,000
1999 Allotment
December 29, 12,000 10 250 Cash | Preferential 1,88,000 18,80,000
1999 Allotment
January 24, 12,000 10 250 Cash | Preferential 2,00,000 20,00,000
2000 Allotment
July 21, 2000 4,000 10 250 Cash | Preferential 2,04,000 20,40,000
Allotment
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Face

Number value Issue Nature of Cumulative Cumulative
Date of of equity per price per . Nature of paid-up equity
. . considera number of !
allotment shares equity equity tion allotment equity shares share capital
allotted share | share (%) (€4)
Q)
November 27, 3,000 10 250 Cash | Preferential 2,07,000 20,70,000
2000 Allotment
July 27, 2001 2,100 10 10 Cash | Preferential 209,100 2,091,000
Allotment
June 18, 2002 2,100 10 10 Cash | Preferential 2,11,200 21,12,000
Allotment
March 31, 1,04,000 10 10 Cash | Allotment 3,15,200 31,52,000
2003" pursuant to
scheme of
amalgamation
December 17, 15,000 10 222.10 Cash | Preferential 3,30,200 33,02,000
2003 Allotment
April 15, 2004 22,000 10 50 Cash | Preferential 3,52,200 35,22,000
Allotment
April 16, 2004 55,000 10 222.10 Cash | Preferential 4,07,200 40,72,000
Allotment
June 28, 2004 12,21,600 10 N.A. Bonus | Bonus issue of 16,28,800 1,62,88,000
Issue | Equity Shares
in the ratio of
1:3
June 30, 2004 1,05,237| 10 100 Cash | Rights Issue 17,34,037 1,73,40,370
December 17, 2,03,396 10 150 Cash | Preferential 19,37,433 1,93,74,330
2004 Allotment
January 31, 6,500 10 150 Cash | Preferential 19,43,933 1,94,39,330
2005 Allotment
March 31, 58,31,799 10 N.A. Bonus | Bonus issue of 77,75,732 7,77,57,320
2005 Issue | Equity Shares
in the ratio of
1:3
May 2, 2005 33,500 10 10 Cash | Preferential 78,09,232 7,80,92,320
Allotment
October 17, | 30,00,247 10 920 Cash | Allotment 1,08,09,479 10,80,94,790
2005* pursuant to
initial  public
offering
October 26, 3,12,438 10 132 Cash | Preferential 1,11,21,917 11,12,19,170
2006 Allotment
March 22, | 10,30,000 10 252 Cash | Preferential 1,21,51,917 12,15,19,170
2007 Allotment
November 06, 6,29,663 10 252 Cash | Allotment 1,27,81,580 12,78,15,800
2007 pursuant to
conversion  of
warrants
January 31, 1,05,337 10 252 Cash | Allotment 1,28,86,917 12,88,69,170
2008 pursuant to
conversion  of
warrants
February 19, 2,25,000 10 370 | Otherthan | Preferential 1,31,11,917 13,11,19,170
2008" cash | Allotment
against swap of
shares
June 11, 2008 12,62,500 10 425 Cash | Preferential 1,43,74,417 14,37,44,170
Allotment
July 31, 2008 2,75,000 10 425 | Other than | Allotment 1,46,49,417 14,64,94,170
cash | pursuant to

agreement and
plan of merger
against swap of
shares
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Face

Number value Issue Nature of Cumulative Cumulative
Date of of equity per price per . Nature of paid-up equity
. . considera number of !
allotment shares equity equity tion allotment equity shares share capital
allotted share | share (%) (€4)
Q)
September 19, 1,50,000 10 252 Cash | Allotment 147,99,417 14,79,94,170
2008 pursuant to
conversion of
warrants
January 04, 47,200 10 141.75 Cash | Allotment 1,48,46,617 14,84,66,170
2011 pursuant to
ESOS 2008
June 21, 2011 6,849 10 141.75 Cash | Allotment 1,48,53,466 14,85,34,660
pursuant to
ESOS 2008
August 08, | 10,81,961 10 N.A. | Other than | Allotment 1,59,35,427 15,93,54,270
2011" cash | pursuant to
Scheme of
Amalgamation
March 21, 2,50,000 10 180 Cash | Allotment 1,61,85,427 16,18,54,270
2013 pursuant to
conversion  of
warrants
March 22, 40,000 10 180 Cash | Allotment 1,62,25,427 16,22,54,270
2013 pursuant to
conversion  of
warrants
March 26, 2,10,000 10 180 Cash | Allotment 1,64,35,427 16,43,54,270
2013 pursuant to
conversion of
warrants
March 30, 3,75,000 10 180 Cash | Allotment 1,68,10,427 16,81,04,270
2013 pursuant to
conversion  of
warrants
May 17, 2013 2,57,771 10 180 Cash | Preferential 1,70,68,198 17,06,81,980
Allotment
July 18, 2013 4,00,000 10 180 Cash | Allotment 1,74,68,198 17,46,81,980
pursuant to
conversion of
warrants
August 217, 4,00,000 10 N.A. | Otherthan | Allotment 1,78,68,198 17,86,81,980
2013 cash | pursuant to
scheme of
amalgamation
September 23, 1,00,000 10 180 | Other than | Preferential 1,79,68,198 17,96,81,980
2013 cash | Allotment
February 25, 1,30,000 10 180 Cash | Preferential 1,80,98,198 18,09,81,980
2014 Allotment
September 09, 1,17,500 10 200 Cash | Allotment 1,82,15,698 18,21,56,980
2014 pursuant to
ESOS 2010
February 10, 1,32,500 10 200 Cash | Allotment 1,83,48,198 18,34,81,980
2015 pursuant to
ESOS 2010
March 27, | 15,06,120 10 N.A. | Otherthan | Allotment 1,98,54,318 19,85,43,180
2015 cash | pursuant to
scheme of
amalgamation
October 15, 8,00,000 10 220 Cash | Preferential 2,06,54,318 20,65,43,180
2015 Allotment
October 27, | 12,95,983 10 220 Cash | Preferential 2,19,50,301 21,95,03,010
2015 Allotment
April 03, 2017 1,50,000 10 220 Cash | Allotment 2,21,00,301 22,10,03,010

pursuant to
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Face
Number value Issue Nature of Cumulative Cumulative
Date of of equity per price per el Nature of number of paid-up equity
allotment shares equity equity tion allotment equity shares share capital
allotted share | share (%) q (€4)
®
conversion  of
warrants
April 28, 2017 9,35,000 10 220 Cash | Allotment 2,30,35,301 23,03,53,010
pursuant to
conversion of
warrants
December 28, 1,14,000 10 10 Cash | Allotment 2,31,49,301 23,14,93,010
2017 pursuant to
ESPS 2017
January 10, 4,65,000 10 10 Cash | Allotment 2,36,14,301 23,61,43,010
2018 pursuant to
ESPS 2017
June 19, 2018 16,000 10 10 Cash | Allotment 2,36,30,301 23,63,03,010
pursuant to
ESPS 2017
October 27, 6,000 10 10 Cash | Allotment 2,36,36,301 23,63,63,010
2018 pursuant to
ESPS 2017
March 25, | (8,36,136) 10 121.41% Cash | Buyback 2,28,00,165 22,80,01,650
2019
May 15, 2023 10,00,000 10 10 Cash | Allotment 2,38,00,165 23,80,01,650
pursuant to
ASL ESPS
2022
July 28, 2023 3,00,000 10 880 Cash | Preferential 2,41,00,165 24,10,01,650
Allotment
October 25, 5,00,000 10 880 Cash | Allotment 2,46,00,165 24,60,01,650
2023 pursuant to
conversion  of
warrants
November 22, 2,15,000 10 1,250 Cash | Preferential 2,48,15,165 2,481,51,650
2023 Allotment
March 28, 9,02,935 10 2,215 Cash | Preferential 2,57,18,100 25,71,81,000
2024" Allotment

* The records for certain allotments made in the equity share capital build up are not traceable. For further details, please see “Risk Factors -
We are unable to trace certain of our corporate filings for certain allotments of equity shares of our Company. We cannot assure you that no
legal proceedings or regulatory actions will be initiated against our Company in the future in relation to such matters, which may adversely
impact our financial condition and reputation” on page 58.

" Our Company has filed the applications for obtaining the listing approvals from BSE and NSE on April 2, 2024, and are yet to receive the
listing approval. Post receipt of the listing approval, our Company will apply for trading approvals from BSE and NSE, accordingly.

# Average buyback price

Employee Stock Option Plan
Aurionpro Solutions Limited — Employee Stock Purchase Scheme 2022 (“ASL ESPS 2022”)

Pursuant to the resolutions of our Board and Shareholders’, each dated July 25, 2022 and September 26, 2022, our
Company instituted the “Aurionpro Solutions Limited — Employee Stock Purchase Scheme 2022 (“ASL ESPS
2022”) to provide for share based benefits in the form of employee stock purchase to employees of our Company
who meet the eligibility criteria under the ASL ESPS 2022, on such terms and conditions as determined and
implemented by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee or Board of Directors and administered by the
Aurionpro Solutions Limited ESPS Trust (“Trust”), in compliance with the SEBI SBEB Regulations and ESPS
Trust Deed. The ASL ESPS 2022 envisaged that not more than 10,00,000 fully paid up equity shares bearing face
value of T 10 shall be issued and allotted by our Company to the Trust and to be offered to eligible employees under
the scheme. Further, the ASL ESPS 2022 also contemplates a statutory minimum vesting period of one year to
maximum of seven years from the date of offer of shares. Our Company has allotted 10,00,000 fully paid up equity
shares bearing face value of % 10 to the Trust. As on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, our Company
has granted 9,75,000 options to the eligible employees under the ASL ESPS 2022 and neither of the options have
been converted into equity shares nor vested or exercised.
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The ASL ESPS 2022 is in compliance with the SEBI SBEB Regulations.

Proposed Allottees in the Issue

In compliance with the requirements prescribed under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, Allotment shall be made at the
sole discretion of our Company in consultation with the BRLM to Eligible QIBs. For details of the names of the
proposed Allottees and the percentage of the post-Issue Equity Share capital that may be held by them, see “Details
of Proposed Allottees” on page 228.

Pre-lIssue and post-Issue equity shareholding pattern

The following table provides the pre-lssue shareholding pattern as of March 31, 2024 and the post-lssue
shareholding pattern:

Pre-Issue” Post-Issue*
S. No. Category Number of Equity % of Number of Equity % of
Shares held shareholding Shares held shareholding
A. Promoters’ holding™
1. Indian
Individual 17,00,249 6.85 [e] [o]
Bodies corporate - - [e] [e]
Sub-total 17,00,249 6.85 [e] [o]
2. Foreign promoters 57,23,119 23.06 [e] [o]
Any other - - [e] [e]
Sub-total (A) 74,23,368 29.91 [e] [o]
B Non Promoter holding
1. Institutional investors 17,39,452 | 7.01] [o]] [o]
2. Non-Institutional investors
Private corporate bodies 28,28,061 11.40 [e] [e]
Directors and relatives 30,71,471 12.38 [e] [o]
Indian public 75,09,945 30.26 [e] [e]
Others including Non- resident 22,42,868 9.04 [e] [o]
Indians (NRIs)
Sub-total (B) 1,73,91,797 70.09 [e] [o]
Grand Total (A+B) 2,48,15,165™" 100.00 [e] [o]

"Based on beneficiary position data of our Company as on March 31, 2024.

“The post-Issue shareholding pattern has been intentionally left blank and will be filled in the Placement Document.

“Includes shareholding of our Promoter Group as well.

"Please note that the 9,02,935 Equity Shares allotted on March 28, 2024, by way of a preferential allotment are not factored in above. Our
Company has filed the applications for obtaining the listing approvals from BSE and NSE on April 2, 2024, and are yet to receive the listing
approval. Post receipt of the listing approval, our Company will apply for trading approvals from BSE and NSE, accordingly. For further details,
see ‘- Equity Share capital history of our Company” on page 90.

Other confirmations

(i)  Our Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and members of the Senior Management of our
Company do not intend to participate in the Issue.

(i)  Except as disclosed under “ — Equity Share capital history of our Company”, our Equity Shares have been
listed for a period of at least one year prior to the date of the issuance of the notice to our Shareholders, i.e.,
January 10, 2024, for approving the Issue.

I

(iif)  Except as disclosed under “ — Equity Share capital history of our Company”, there are no outstanding
warrants, options or rights to convert debentures, loans or other instruments convertible into the Equity Shares
as on the date of this Preliminary Placement Document.

(iv)  Ason the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, our Company does not have outstanding preference
shares.

(v)  There would be no change in control in our Company consequent to the Issue.

(vi) Except for the preferential allotment of 2,15,000 equity shares on November 22, 2023 and preferential
allotment of 9,02,935 equity shares on March 28, 2024, as disclosed under “— Equity Share capital history
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of our Company”, our Company has not made any allotment of Equity Shares in the one year immediately
preceding the date of this Preliminary Placement Document, including for consideration other than cash or
pursuant to a preferential issue, private placement or a rights issue.

Our Company shall not make any subsequent qualified institutions placement until the expiry of two weeks from

the date of the Issue. Further, Equity Shares allotted pursuant to this Issue cannot be sold by the Allottees for a
period of one year from the date of Allotment, except on the Stock Exchanges.
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DIVIDENDS

The declaration and payment of dividends by our Company is governed by applicable provisions of the Companies

Act and our Articles of Association.

The dividend for any Financial Year shall normally be paid out of our Company profits for that year. This will be
arrived at after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act. If circumstances
require, the Board may also declare dividend out of accumulated profits of any previous Financial Year(s) in
accordance with provisions of the Companies Act and the SEBI Listing Regulations, as applicable.

Dividend on Equity Shares

The following table details the dividend paid by our Company on the Equity Shares:

From April 1, 2024

As at / for the year/ period ended

Particulars tllthe date ofthe | march 31,2024 | March3L, 2023 | March 3L, 2022
Number of Equity Shares 2,57,18,100 2,41,00,165 2,28,00,165 2,28,00,165
Face value per Equity Share (in %) 10 10 10 10
Aggregate Dividend (in ) - 6,02,50,413 5,70,00,413 -
Dividend per Equity Share (in 3) - 2.50 2.50 -
Rate of dividend (%) - 25 25 -
Dividend Distribution Tax (%) - 0 0 -
Dividend Distribution Tax (in %) - 0 0 -

Mode of payment of dividend

Demand Draft/ NACH/ NEFT/RTGS/Dollar Draft/ Wire transfer/DC

Future dividends

The Equity Shares to be issued in connection with this Issue shall qualify for all dividends, including interim
dividend, if any, that is declared after Allotment.

Please also see the sections titled “Taxation” and “Risk Factors” on pages 212 and 47, respectively.

Investors are cautioned not to rely on past dividends as an indication of the future performance of our Company or
for an investment in the Equity Shares offered in the Issue.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion is intended to convey the management’s perspective on our financial condition and results
of operations for Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 and should
be read in conjunction with “Financial Information” on page 225.

This Preliminary Placement Document contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Our results could differ from such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the
considerations described below and elsewhere in this Preliminary Placement Document. For further details, see
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 16. Also see “Risk Factors” and “- Significant Factors Affecting our
Results of Operations” on pages 47 and 99, respectively, for a discussion of certain factors that may affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year. Accordingly, references to a “Fiscal” year are to the 12-month
period ended March 31 of the relevant year. Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, the
financial information included in this section for Fiscal 2021, Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2023 has been derived from
our respective Audited Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-38. The financial information
included in this section for the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 has been derived from our Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1. See, “Financial Information” on page 225.
The Interim Condensed Financial Statements of our Company are not indicative of our Company’s annual
performance and are not comparable with the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Unless otherwise stated
or the content otherwise requires, references in this section to “our Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our” (including
in the context of any financial or operational information) are to us, our Subsidiaries and our joint venture on a
consolidated basis.

Ind AS differs in certain respects from Indian GAAP, IFRS and U.S. GAAP and other accounting principles with
which prospective investors may be familiar. Also see “Risk Factors - Significant differences exist between Ind AS
and other accounting principles, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS, which investors may be more familiar with and may
consider material to their assessment of our financial condition” on page 72.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from the industry report
titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis
Research, report titled “Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028 prepared and issued by Netscribes
(India) Private Limited, report titled “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” prepared and issued by
Global Mass Transit Research and report titled “Global Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis,
Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031 ” prepared and issued by Coherent Market Insights. The data
included herein includes excerpts from the aforesaid reports and may have been re-ordered by us for the purposes
of presentation. Unless otherwise indicated, financial, operational, industry and other related information derived
from the aforesaid reports and included herein with respect to any particular calendar year or Fiscal refers to such
information for the relevant calendar year or Fiscal. For more details, see “Industry Overview” on page 128. For
further information, see “Risk Factors - Certain sections of this Preliminary Placement Document disclose
information from the reports titled ““Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape”, “Cloud
Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028”7, “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” and “Global
Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031” and
any reliance on such information for making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks.” on
page 67. Also see “Industry and Market Data” on page 15.

Overview

We are an IT transformation services player in the Asian banking and fintech industry with around 25 years of
experience. With a diversified portfolio of solutions, our focus is on improving operational processes and automating
manual activities to enable enterprises to build better customer experiences. Our solutions cater to retail and
wholesale banking, treasury and capital markets, and payments. In addition, we focus on other areas of technology
innovation including smart mobility and data centre solutions, hybrid cloud services and smart city initiatives. In
Fiscal 2023, our revenue from operations from banking and fintech accounted for 52.13% of our total revenue from
operations, while our revenue from technology innovation accounted for 47.87% of our total revenue from
operations.

Our Subsidiary, Integro Technologies Pte Ltd., has been recognized as a category leader in the Chartis’s RiskTech
Quadrant for loan origination solutions, collateral management solutions, limits management solutions for 2022 in
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the report titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis
Research. Further, we have received numerous awards over the years, including “Best Transaction Banking
Implementation” at the 5™ IBS Intelligence Global FinTech Innovation Awards in 2023, “Best Technology Brand”
by Economic Times under the Best Tech Brands category in 2022, and “Technology Excellence Award” in the digital
technology category at the Asian Technology Excellence Awards 2022 for our automatic fare collection system.

We cater to a diverse customer base, spanning various industries such as banking and financial services,
telecommunications, IT, data centers, capital markets, public sector units, government undertakings and transit. As
of December 31, 2023, we have served more than 200 customers and have long-standing relationships with our top
10 customers (in terms of revenue from operations in the nine months ended December 31, 2023), averaging over
eight years. Further, our revenue base is geographically diversified. As of December 31, 2023, we have served
customers in over 30 countries including Singapore, USA, Thailand and UAE. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and
the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from operations from customers located outside
India was % 21,453.06 lakhs, ¥ 25,255.19 lakhs, T 28,546.67 lakhs, X 21,995.36 lakhs and ¥ 27,777.59 lakhs,
respectively, representing 57.36%, 50.01%, 43.30%, 46.93% and 43.36% of our revenue from operations during
such years/ periods, respectively.

Over the years, we have expanded our presence and capabilities through strategic partnerships. For instance, in the
banking space, we have formed a partnership to offer our “SmartLender” trade limits solution alongside our partner’s
trade innovation solution. Similarly in the transit business, we have formed strategic partnerships with technology
companies to develop contactless smart transit solution for transit agencies and operators and open-loop ticketing
and payments systems for transport operators across India. In addition to the partnerships in the transit space, we
have also developed capabilities to cater to customers in the data centre industry.

We prioritise innovation and research and development (“R&D”) through multiple initiatives, through a
combination of solutions we design as responses to customer requests, as well as proactive efforts to identify
marketable solutions. In the past, we launched several solutions as a result of our R&D activities. For instance, we
launched EMV Card Type Payment Terminal (ECR-one), which is capable of accepting both RuPay open loop cards
and EMV global payment cards. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and
2023, our total expenditure on R&D activities amounted to X 1,904.22 lakhs, X 2,758.17 lakhs, X 4,534.48 lakhs, X
2,944.35 lakhs, and X 4,643.30 lakhs, respectively, representing 5.09%, 5.46%, 6.88%, 6.28% and 7.25% of our
revenue from operations, respectively.

We have strong execution capabilities, encompassing our ability to effectively plan, implement, and deliver
solutions to our customers. Our execution capabilities are led by team of professionals, comprising 2,295 employees
and 57 consultants, as of December 31, 2023, who possess domain expertise, technical skills, and industry
knowledge, enabling us to understand customer requirements and execute projects efficiently. We prioritize
innovation in our execution processes, constantly adapting to changing customer needs and market dynamics. As of
December 31, 2023, we had 2,295 employees, with varied levels of experience. We place a strong emphasis on
fostering a positive and inclusive work culture and we have been certified as a Great Place to Work organization.

We are led by our Promoter and Chairman and Managing Director, Paresh Chandulal Zaveri who has several years
of experience in general management and strategic planning. Our other Promoter and Co-Chairman and the Non-
executive Non Independent Director, Amit Rameshchandra Sheth has experience in the technology industry. We
believe that the strength of our Board and management team and their experience has enabled us to take advantage
of market opportunities and to better serve our customers.

We believe that we have established operational drivers that have helped deliver us growth in terms of revenue and
profitability. Our revenue from operations has increased from X 37,401.77 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to % 65,933.16 lakhs
in Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 32.77% whereas our EBITDA has increased from < 8,376.50 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X
14,461.07 lakhs in Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 31.39%. Further, our diversified offerings and customer base built
over the years, have led to our order book growing from X 72,601.00 lakhs as of March 31, 2021 to ¥ 91,122.31
lakhs, as of March 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we had an order book of ¥ 87,185.64 lakhs and
92,604.13 lakhs. This demonstrates our ability to meet customer demands and the scalable nature of our business.
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Significant Factors Affecting Our Results Of Operations

Growth in the Asia Pacific region and other regions outside India

In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from
operations from the customers located in the Asia Pacific region was X 29,797.92 lakhs, X 39,686.32 lakhs,
57,428.08 lakhs, X 39,962.17 lakhs and X 55,319.41 lakhs, respectively, representing 79.67%, 78.58%, 87.10%,
85.27% and 86.36% of our revenue from operations, respectively. Our continued business growth and financial
performance will depend on our ability to continue to grow our customer base in the Asia Pacific region. The
concentration of our revenues from operations from the Asia Pacific region heightens our exposure to adverse
developments related to competition, as well as economic, political, regulatory and other changes. Any such adverse
development affects the overall economy of the countries in the Asia Pacific region may have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our ability to develop new solutions and enhance existing solutions in accordance with evolving customer needs

The requirements of our customers vary across a range of industries, geographies and service or technical
requirements. To service and grow our relationships with our existing customers and to win new customers, we
must be able to provide them with solutions that address their requirements, to anticipate and understand trends in
their relevant markets and to continually address their requirements as those requirements change and evolve. In
this regard, we believe that our strong culture of innovation, our workforce and our research have enabled us to
expand the range of our offerings to customers and improve the delivery of our solutions. We focus on conducting
dedicated R&D in our existing products and in areas with significant growth potential. To support our R&D efforts,
we have skilled professionals dedicated to R&D activities. Their expertise enables us to consistently launch a range
of new solutions. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our total
expenditure on R&D activities amounted to X 1,904.22 lakhs, X 2,758.17 lakhs, X 4,534.48 lakhs, X 2,944.35 lakhs
and X 4,643.30 lakhs, respectively, representing 5.09%, 5.46%, 6.88%, 6.28% and 7.25% of our revenue from
operations, respectively.

If we are able to anticipate and respond to our customers’ requirements on a timely and cost-efficient basis, we
would expect to receive repeat business from existing customers. Further, leveraging on our present portfolio of
customers and expertise in the verticals of our existing customers we aim to develop new customer relationships by
identifying potential customers that operate within the same verticals as our existing customers. In addition, if we
are able to generate healthy demand for our solutions and services, we may be able to increase our price, which
would consequently lead to an increase in our revenues and profit margins. Conversely, if we are unable to provide
innovative solutions and services to our customers, either at all or at an acceptable price, or if our customers are
dissatisfied with our work for any other reason, it would have an adverse effect on our revenues and our profits.

Expansion of customer base

Customer relationships are the core of our business. We believe we have a substantial opportunity to grow our
customer base. We have invested, and intend to continue to make investments, to enhance the expertise of our sales
and marketing team within our key industry verticals such as banking, mobility, payments and government sectors.
We strengthened our sales and marketing headcounts from 17 as of March 31, 2021 to 59 as of December 31, 2023.
We intend to continue to increase our investment in sales and marketing, as we further expand our sales teams,
increase our marketing activities and grow our international operations.

Further, our ability to grow our customer base and drive market adoption of our solutions is also affected by the
pace at which organizations digitally transform. We believe the degree to which prospective customers recognize
the need for our digital transformation solutions to maximize their business process would lead to a higher budget
allocation for purchasing and engaging our solutions. This will drive our ability to acquire new customers and
increase sales to existing customers which, in turn, will drive our revenue growth and will affect our future financial
performance.

Recruitment, retention and management of technical workforce

Our ability to recruit, retain and manage our technical workforce influences our gross profit margin and our results
of operations. As of December 31, 2023, we had 2,295 employees. We manage employee headcount and utilization
based on ongoing assessments of our project pipeline and requirements for industry-specific capabilities and
functional expertise. An unanticipated termination of a significant project could cause us to experience lower
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employee utilization resulting from a higher than expected number of idle professionals. Our ability to effectively
utilize our employees is typically improved by longer-term customer relationships due to increased predictability of
customer needs over the course of the relationships.

Employee benefits is one of the principal components of our total expense. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and in
the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our employee benefits expense was X 14,978.15 lakhs,
17,595.03 lakhs, % 21,953.81 lakhs, X 15,840.37 lakhs and X 23,839.00 lakhs, respectively, representing 33.63%,
42.33%, 40.59%, 41.41% and 45.46% of our total expenses, respectively. Our employee benefits consists of salaries,
wages and bonus, stock based compensation cost, contribution to provident and other funds, and staff welfare
expenses. Salaries and wages in India, including in the services industry, have historically been lower than those in
USA, Europe and other developed economies. However, if these costs in India continue to increase at a rate faster
than in USA, Europe and other developed economies due to competitive pressures, we may experience a greater
increase in our employee costs, thereby eroding one of our principal cost advantages over competitors in USA,
Europe and other developed economies. In addition, as we continue to invest in the recruitment and retention of
sales staff in line with our growth strategies, we are likely to incur costs in relation to our market penetration, sales
and marketing initiatives, and for the recruitment of sales employees located in India and overseas.

Our ability to develop new products and enhance existing products in accordance with evolving customer needs The
requirements of our customers vary across a range of industries, geographies and service or technical requirements.
To service and grow our relationships with our existing customers and to win new customers, we must be able to
provide them with products that address their requirements, to anticipate and understand trends in their relevant
markets and to continually address their requirements as those requirements change and evolve. In this regard, we
believe that our strong culture of innovation, our workforce and our research and testing facilities have enabled us
to expand the range of our offerings to customers and improve the delivery of our software platform and services.
If we are able to anticipate and respond to our customers’ requirements on a timely and cost-efficient basis, we
would expect to receive repeat business from existing customers. Further, leveraging on our present portfolio of
customers and expertise in the verticals of our existing customers we aim to develop new customer relationships by
identifying potential customers that operate within the same verticals as our existing customers. In addition, if we
are able to generate healthy demand for our products and services, we may be able to increase our price, which
would consequently lead to an increase in our revenues and profit margins. Conversely, if we are unable to provide
innovative services to our customers, either at all or at an acceptable price, or if our customers are dissatisfied with
our work for any other reason, it would have an adverse effect on our revenues and our profits.

Acquisitions

We have executed a number of acquisitions, and have demonstrated that we can successfully integrate and grow our
acquired businesses. In the past, we have completed the following acquisitions:

e In September 2022, we acquired 51% shareholding in Toshi Automatic System Private Limited to strengthen
our presence in the mass transit market;

e In August 2022, we, through our Subsidiary, Aurionpro Fintech Inc., acquired 100% shareholding of Real
Patient Solutions Inc based in United States, to acquire new customers and strengthen our existing payment
business in the United States;

e In 2023, we, through our Subsidiary SC Soft Pte. Ltd. acquired 100% shareholding in SC Soft Americas LLC
to strengthen our presence in the automated fare collection and integrated transport management system
business in the North American market;

e In September 2023, we acquired the interactive communication business from Trejhara Solutions Limited
pursuant to a business transfer agreement to complement our digital banking solutions and extend our reach in
newer customer segments and enhance our offerings; and

e In October 2023, we acquired Omnifin business from A S Software Services Private Limited pursuant to a
business transfer agreement which we believe will strengthen our Lending Suite solutions and will enable us
to cater to the wide range of customers in banking and financial space.

Our focus is on augmenting our existing offerings in the areas of lending and transaction banking solutions, transit

solutions, and data centres and cloud services and increase our geographic reach in the Middle East and Africa
regions and developed markets such as Europe and USA. In particular, we are currently exploring and may consider,
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inter-alia, acquisition of businesses/ entities involved in the Al cloud solutions for banks, insurers and financial
services with a view to strengthen our transaction banking solutions and enhance our solutions in the banking and
fintech sectors. We may consider a mix of equity and/or cash consideration to fund such proposed acquisitions.

Acquiring new businesses require significant efforts resulting in additional expenses and requiring significant
management time. For instance, (i) during the pre-acquisition stage, we typically incur significant costs for
identifying suitable opportunities for deal structuring, acquisition and executing an effective due diligence process
on the potential targets; and (ii) during the post-acquisition, we incur costs for integrating and operating acquired
businesses including coordination of information technologies, sales and marketing, integration of employees; and
protecting intellectual property.

Competition and Pricing

Our business is highly competitive, and our success is dependent upon our ability to compete against other IT
companies, as well as service providers, including some that may have greater resources than we have. Some of our
competitors may have longer operating histories, greater financial, technical, product development and marketing
resources and greater name recognition. Such competitors could use these resources to market or develop solutions
that are more effective or less costly than our solutions or that could render any or all of our solutions obsolete.
Competitive pressures could also affect the pricing of our solutions. Greater competition for particular solutions
could have a negative impact on pricing. We will continue to seek to distinguish our offerings by providing quality
solutions at competitive prices.

NON-GAAP MEASURES

In evaluating our business, we consider and use certain non-GAAP financial measures that are presented below as
supplemental measures to review and assess our operating performance. The presentation of these non-GAAP
financial measures are not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the consolidated financial
statements. We present these non-GAAP financial measures because they are used by our management to evaluate
our operating performance. These non-GAAP financial measures are not defined under Ind AS and are not presented
in accordance with Ind AS. The non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as analytical tools. Further, these
non-GAAP financial measures may differ from the similar information used by other companies, including peer
companies, and hence their comparability may be limited. Therefore, these metrices should not be considered in
isolation or construed as an alternative to Ind AS measures of performance or as an indicator of our operating
performance, liquidity, profitability or results of operation.

See, “Risk Factors - Certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other statistical information relating to our
operations and financial performance like EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, PAT Margin, Return on Equity and Return
on Capital Employed have been included in this Preliminary Placement Document. These non-GAAP financial
measures are not measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Ind AS and may not be comparable. ”
on page 68.

EBITDA and EBITDA Margin

The following table set forth our EBITDA and EBITDA Margin, which are non-GAAP financial measures, for
Fiscal 2021, 2022, 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. We calculate EBITDA as profit/
(loss) for the year/ period plus total tax expense, depreciation and amortisation expense, finance costs and
exceptional item less other income. We define our EBITDA margin as EBITDA divided by revenue from operations.

Reconciliation of Profit for the year/ period to EBITDA and EBITDA Margin

As of/ for Fiscal As of/ for nine months ended
. December 31,
PETTELETS 2021 [ 2022 | 2023 2022 [ 2023
(R in lakhs, except percentages and ratios)

Profit/ (loss) for the year/ period (11,756.55) |  7,557.38 | 10,188.57 | 7,528.33 | 10,346.34
Add:

Total tax expense 293.29 1,908.31 2,043.63 1,180.44 2,042.80
Depreciation and amortisation 13,939.06 1,397.91 1,585.00 1,151.31 1,505.75
expense

Finance costs 1,579.78 826.39 1,077.06 693.06 953.80
Exceptional ltem 4,618.37 - - - -
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As of/ for Fiscal As of/ for nine months ended
Particulars pcccbeigeh
2021 | 2022 ] 2023 2022 | 2023
(R in lakhs, except percentages and ratios)

Less:

Other income 297.45 531.43 433.19 135.65 764.85
EBITDA (A) 8,376.50 11,158.56 14,461.07 10,417.49 14,083.84
Revenue from operations (B) | 37,401.77 | 50501.22 | 65,933.16 | 46,867.36 | 64,060.08
EBITDA margin (A/B) (%) | 22.40% | 22.10% | 21.93% | 22.23% | 21.99%

PAT Margin

The following table sets forth our PAT margin, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, for Fiscal 2021, 2022,
2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. We calculate PAT Margin by dividing our profit/
(loss) for the year/ period by our revenue from operations.

Reconciliation of Profit for the year/ period to PAT Margin

Fiscal Nine months ended December 31,
Particulars 2021 [ 2022 | 2023 2022 | 2023
(R in lakhs, except percentages)
Profit/ (loss) for the year/ (11,756.55) 7,557.38 10,188.57 7,528.33 10,346.34
period (“PAT”) (A)
Revenue from Operations (B) 37,401.77 50,501.22 65,933.16 46,867.36 64,060.08
PAT Margin (A/B) (%) (31.43)% 14.96% 15.45% 16.06% 16.15%

Return on Capital Employed

The following table sets forth our ROCE, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, as at and for Fiscal 2021, 2022,
2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. We calculate EBIT as profit/ (loss) for the year/
period plus total tax expense, finance costs and exceptional item. We calculate capital employed as a total of
networth (excluding non-controlling interest), borrowings for ROCE and deferred tax. Our Return on Capital
Employed (“ROCE”) is defined as EBIT divided by capital employed.

Reconciliation of profit for the year/ period to EBIT and Total Borrowings to Net Debt and Return on Capital

Employed
. As at/ For the nine months ended
Sarticulars As at/ For Fiscal December 31,
2021 | 2022 | 2023 2022 | 2023
(X in lakhs, except percentages)

Profit/ (loss) for the year/ (11,756.55) 7,557.38 10,188.57 7,528.33 10,346.34
period
Add:
Total tax expense 293.29 1,908.31 2,043.63 1,180.44 2,042.80
Finance costs 1,579.78 826.39 1,077.06 693.06 953.80
Exceptional Item 4,618.37 - - - -
EBIT (A) (5,265.11) 10,292.08 13,309.26 9,401.83 13,342.94
Net Worth (excluding non 53,145.95 60,160.98 69,512.02 66,908.17 89,612.54
controlling interest)
Borrowings for ROCE 7,679.01 4,797.40 4,856.74 4,965.92 3,339.97
Deferred Tax (817.59) (696.97) (853.23) (804.00) (639.42)
Capital Employed (B) 60,007.37 64,261.41 73,5615.53 71,070.09 92,313.09
ROCE (A/B) (%) | (8.77)% | 16.02% | 18.10% | 13.23% | 14.45%

Return on Equity
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The following table sets forth our ROE, which is a non-GAAP financial measure as at and for Fiscal 2021, 2022,
2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. We calculate ROE as profit/ (loss) for the year/
period divided by average net worth. Average net worth is calculated as average of net worth as of the first day of
the relevant period and as of the last day of the relevant period. Net worth is calculated as total equity attributable
to equity shareholders less capital reserves, FCTR and restructuring reserves..

Reconciliation of Profit For the Year/ Period to Return on Equity

As at/ For Fiscal As at/ For the nine months ended
Particulars December 31
2021 | 2022 | 2023 2022 | 2023
(R in lakhs, except percentages)

Profit/ (loss) for the year/ period (11,756.55) 7,557.38 10,188.57 7,528.33 10,346.34
(A)
Average Networth (B) 63,346.11 56,653.47 64,836.50 63,534.58 79,562.28
Return on Equity (%) (C) = (18.56)% 13.34% 15.71% 11.85% 13.00%
(A/B)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Below are the significant accounting policies used for the interim condensed consolidated financial statements for
the nine months ended December 31, 2023:

Revenue recognition

Revenue from software development and consulting services is recognized either on time and material basis or fixed
price basis, as the case may be. Revenue on time and material and job contracts is recognized as and when the related
services are performed (units delivered, efforts expended, number of transactions processed etc.) and revenue from
the end of last invoicing to reporting date is recognized as unbilled revenue. Invoicing in excess of revenues are
recognized as unearned revenues. Revenue on fixed price contracts is recognized where performance obligations
are satisfied over time and there is no uncertainty as to measurement or collectability of consideration on the
percentage of completion method. Efforts and costs expended have been used to measure progress towards
completion since there is direct relationship between input and productivity. Revenue recongnised for any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the other party to provide its goods or
services.

Revenue from sale of licenses / hardware, where the customer obtains a “right to use” the licenses / hardware is
recognized at the point in time when the related license / hardware is made available to the customer. Revenue from
licenses / hardware where the customer obtains a “right to access” is recognized over the access period.

Arrangements to deliver software products generally have three elements: license, implementation and annual
maintenance. In accordance with the principles of Ind AS 115, when implementation services are provided in
conjunction with the licensing arrangement, the license and implementation have been identified as two separate
performance obligations. The transaction price for such contracts are allocated to each performance obligations
based on their respective selling prices. Maintenance revenue in respect of software products and other products/
equipment is recognised on pro rata basis over the period of the underlying maintenance agreement. Revenue is net
of discounts/ price incentives which are estimated and accounted based on the terms of the contracts and excludes
applicable indirect taxes.

Revenue from leasing income is recognised on pro-rata basis over the period of the contract.

Unearned and deferred revenue represents contractual billings/money received in excess of revenue recognised as
per the terms of the contract.

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using effective interest rate method.

Property, Plant and Equipment
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Property plant and equipment (PPE) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any.
Cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and cost incurred for bringing the asset
to its present location and condition for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment which are not ready for intended use as on the date of Balance Sheet are disclosed as
“Capital work-in-progress” and are stated at cost.

Depreciation is provided on a pro-rata basis on the straight line method based on estimated useful life prescribed
under Schedule I1 to the Companies Act, 2013 with the exception of the following:

(i) Computers is depreciated in 6 years and certain assets of Plant and machinery and Computers used for the
projects is depreciated over its project useful life.

(if)  Leasehold improvements are amortized over the period of lease term or useful life, whichever is lower.
(iii)  Assets given on lease are depreciated over the shorter of lease term or their useful lives.

(iv)  Individual assets costing up to Rupees five thousand are depreciated in full in the period of purchase.
The residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation of PPE is reviewed at each financial year end and
adjusted prospectively.

Intangible assets

Separately purchased intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequently, intangible assets are carried at cost
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life continues, if not, it is impaired or changed prospectively basis revised estimates.

Finite-life intangible assets are amortised on a straightline basis over the period of their expected useful lives. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for finite-life intangible assets is reviewed at each financial year
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. The estimated useful lives of the Computer Software in the range
between 5 to 10 years.

Expenditure on development cost eligible for capitalisation are carried as intangible assets under development where
such assets are not yet ready for their intended use.

Goodwill is initially recognised based on the accounting policy for business combinations. These assets are not
amortised but are tested for impairment annually.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for Buildings and Lease hold improvement. The Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

(i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset

(ii) the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the
period of the lease and

(iii) the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

(iv) the Group has the right to operate the asset; or

(v) the Group designed the assets in a way that predetermined how and for what purpose it will be used

At the date of commencement of the lease, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a corresponding
lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve months or
less (short-term leases) and leases of low value assets. For these short-term and leases of low value assets, the Group
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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The right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the
commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the incremental borrowing
rates. The lease liability is subsequently remeasured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

A lease liability is remeasured upon the occurrence of certain events such as a change in the lease term or a change
in an index or rate used to determine lease payments. The remeasurement normally also adjusts the leased assets.

Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been
classified as financing cash flows.
The Group as a lessor

Leases under which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Lease contracts where all the
risks and rewards are substantially transferred to the lessee, the lease contracts are classified as finance leases. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

For leases under which the Group is an intermediate lessor, the Group accounts for the head-lease and the sub-lease
as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is further classified either as a finance lease or an operating lease by
reference to the RoU asset arising from the head-lease.

Business Combinations

The Group accounts for its business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting using fair valuation
of the net asset taken over as per Ind AS 103, Business Combination. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognized and reported separately from goodwill.

Goodwill arising on consolidation of acquisitions represents the excess of (a) consideration paid for acquiring
control and (b) acquisition date fair value of previously held ownership interest, if any, in a subsidiary over the
Group’s share in the fair value of the net assets (including identifiable intangibles) of the subsidiary as on the date
of acquisition of control. Where the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities exceed the cost of acquisition,
the excess is recognised as Capital Reserve.

Inventories

Inventories include traded goods and are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost of inventories comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and condition. Cost
is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

Cost of finished goods and work-in-progress include all costs of purchases, conversion costs and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The net realisable value of finished goods is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense for the year comprises of current tax and deferred tax. Income Tax is recognised in Statement
of Profit and Loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the comprehensive income or in equity.
In which case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity. Foreign subsidiaries recognize
current tax/ deferred tax liabilities and assets in accordance with the applicable local laws.

Current tax is the expected tax payable/receivable on the taxable income/ loss for the year using applicable tax rates
at the Balance Sheet date, and any adjustment to taxes in respect of previous years. Management periodically
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evaluates positions taken in tax return with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

The Group offsets current tax assets and current tax liabilities, where it has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts and where it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding tax base used for computation of taxable Income.

A deferred tax liability/assets is recognised based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in OCI or
in equity).

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis. Deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities; and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority.

Tax on income for the current period is determined on the basis of taxable income and tax credits computed in
accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 and based on the expected outcome of
assessments/appeals.

The Group uses estimates and judgements based on the relevant rulings in the areas of allowances and disallowances
which are exercised while determining the provision for income tax.

Borrowing Costs:

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange
differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

Foreign currency transactions

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the parent company’s functional
currency. For each entity/foreign operation, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Functional currency of each
entity/foreign operation within the Group has been determined based on the primary economic environment in which
that entity/foreign operations operate in, the currency in which funds are generated, spent and retained by that entity.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Nonmonetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.

Financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currency is other than Indian Rupees are translated into
Indian Rupees as follows:

a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance

sheet;
b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and
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c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
foreign currency translation reserve for subsequent reclassification to profit or loss on disposal of such foreign
operations. The portion of foreign currency translation reserve attributed to non-controlling interest is reflected as
part of non-controlling interest.

Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising of assets and liabilities are classified as ©* when all the following

criteria are met; (i) decision has been made to sell, (ii) the assets are available for immediate sale in its present
condition, (iii) the assets are being actively marketed and (iv) sale has been agreed or is expected to be concluded
within 12 months of the Balance Sheet date. Subsequently, such non-current assets and disposal groups classified
as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Company’s business that represents a separate line of business that
has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification
as a discontinued operation occurs upon the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of availing employee service are classified as short-term
employee benefits. This benefits includes salaries and wages, bonus and ex- gratia and compensated absences. The
undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange of employees services are recognised
in the period in which the employee renders the related service.

Long term employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified contributions
to a separate entity and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. The Group makes specified monthly
contributions towards Provident Fund and Employees State Insurance Corporation ('ESIC'). The Group's
contribution is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss during the period in which employee
renders the related service.

Defined benefit plans

The Group's gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Group's net obligation in respect of a defined
benefit plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value
of any plan assets is deducted.

The present value of the obligation under such defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial valuation using
the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of
employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.

The obligation is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used for
determining the present value of the obligation under defined benefit plan, are based on the market yields on
Government securities as at the Balance Sheet date.

When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any
unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.
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Remeasurement which comprise of actuarial gain and losses, the return of plan assets (excluding interest) and the
effect of asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are recognised in OCI. Plan Assets of Defined Benefit Plans have
been measured at fair value.

Employee’s Stock Options Plan

In respect of stock options granted pursuant to the Group's Employee Stock Option Scheme, fair value of the options
as at grant date is treated as discount and accounted as employee compensation cost over the vesting period.
Employee compensation cost recognised earlier on grant of options is reversed in the period when the options are
surrendered by any employee or lapsed as per the terms of the scheme.

Share based payments

Equity-settled share based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity- settled
share based payments is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting
period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss such that the cumulative
expenses reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the Share Based Payments Reserve.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted
earnings per share.

Earnings per share (EPS)

In determining Earnings per Share, the Group considers net profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders and
includes post tax effect of any exceptional item. Number of shares used in computing basic earnings per share is the
weighted average number of the shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive earning per share is computed and
disclosed after adjusting effect of all dilutive potential equity shares, if any, except when result will be anti - dilutive.
Dilutive potential equity Shares are deemed converted as at the beginning of the period, unless issued at a later date.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The Group creates a provision where there is present obligation as a result of a past event that probably requires an
outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A disclosure for a
contingent liability is made when there is a possible or a present obligation that may, but probably will not require
an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of
resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. Contingent Assets are disclosed only when an inflow of
economic benefit is probable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and deposit with banks and corporations. The Group considers all highly
liquid investments with a remaining maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less and that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash to be cash equivalents.

Financial Instruments:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity. Financial instruments also include derivative contracts such as foreign exchange
forward contracts.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value measured on
initial recognition of financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.
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Measurement and Recognition of financial instruments

The Group's accounting policies and disclosures require measurement of fair values for the financial instruments.
The Group has an established control framework with respect to measurement of fair values. The management
regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such as
broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the management assesses evidence obtained
from third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of Ind AS, including level
in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified. When measuring the fair value of a financial
asset or a financial liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised
into different

levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If inputs used to measure fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of fair value hierarchy, then fair
value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input
that is significant to the entire measurement. The Group recognises transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.

(A) Financial Assets:
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if these financial assets are held within a business
whose objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

A financial asset is measured at FVTOCI if it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are measured at FVTPL unless they are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI on initial
recognition. The transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are immediately recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

(iv) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or it
transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flow on the financial assets in a transaction in which substantially
all the risk and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

(B) Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognized at fair value and in case of loans, net of directly attributable cost. Fees of
recurring nature are directly recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as finance cost. Financial liabilities are
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. For trade and other payables maturing within one year
from the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.
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Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from the Group's Balance Sheet when
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

(C) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The Group is recognised equity instrument at the proceeds received net off direct issue cost.

(D) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the Balance Sheet if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of assets
(i) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they may be impaired. An asset is treated as impaired when the carrying cost of assets exceeds its
recoverable value. An impairment loss is charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which an asset
is identified as impaired. The impairment loss recognised in prior accounting period is increased/ reversed where
there has been change in the estimate of recoverable value. The recoverable value is the higher of the assets' net
selling price and value in use.

(ii) Financial assets (other than a fair value)

The Group recognise loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets which are
not fair valued through profit and loss. Loss allowance for the trade receivables with no significant financing
component is measured at amount equal to life time ECL. For all other financial assets, ECLs are measured at an
amount equal to the 12 month ECL, unless there has been significant increase in credit risk from initial recognisation
in which case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of ECLs (or reversal) that is required to adjust the
loss allowance at reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognised is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit and loss.

CHANGES TO SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There have been no changes in our accounting policies during Fiscal 2021, 2022, 2023 and in the nine months ended
December 31, 2022 and 2023.

COMPONENTS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Income

Our total income consists of revenue from operations and other income.
Revenue from Operations

Our total revenue from our operations is generated from the (i) sale of software services and (ii) sale of equipment
and product license.

Other Income

Other income primarily consists of interest income on (i) fixed deposits with banks; (ii) interest income Ind AS 116
deposits; and (iii) others. It also includes foreign exchange fluctuation gain, rent income, sundry balances written
back and miscellaneous income.

Operating Expenses
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Our operating expenses consist of software, hardware and other material cost.
Changes in Inventories of Raw Material, Finished Goods and Stock-in-Trade

Changes in inventories refers to raw materials, finished goods (including goods in transit) and stock-in-trade
incurred in the ordinary course of our business.

Employee Benefits

Our employee benefit expense comprise salaries, wages and bonus, contribution to provident and other funds and
staff welfaire expenses.

Finance Costs
Finance costs include interest expense on borrowings and lease and other borrowing charges.
Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation include depreciation on property, plant and equipment, amortisation on other
intangible assets and depreciation on right-of-use assets.

Other Expenses

Other expenses primarily consist of travelling and conveyance expenses, legal and professional charges, bad debts
of receivables/ advances, short term lease, communication expenses, repairs and maintenance expenses, recruitment

expenses and other miscellaneous expenses.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our results of operations, on a consolidated basis,
for the Fiscals/ periods indicated:

Fiscal
. 2021 2022 2023
Particulars
Amount % of Total Amount % of Total Amount % of Total
(R in lakhs) Income (R in lakhs) Income (R in lakhs) Income

Income:

Revenue from operations 37,401.77 99.21% 50,501.22 98.96% 65,933.16 99.35%

Other income 297.45 0.79% 531.43 1.04% 433.19 0.65%

Total income 37,699.22 100.00% 51,032.65 100.00% 66,366.35 100.00%
Expenses:

Operating Expenses 10,791.45 28.63% 18,260.24 35.78% 25,490.11 38.41%

Change in Inventories of 63.70 0.17% 227.63 0.45% (697.06) (1.05)%

Raw Material, Finished

Goods and Stock-in-Trade

Employee Benefits 14,978.15 39.73% 17,595.03 34.48% 21,953.81 33.08%

Expense

Finance Costs 1,579.78 4.19% 826.39 1.62% 1,077.06 1.62%

Depreciation and 13,939.06 36.97% 1,397.91 2.74% 1,585.00 2.39%

Amortisation Expense

Other Expenses 3,191.97 8.47% 3,259.76 6.39% 4,681.75 7.05%

Total Expenses 44544.11 118.16% 41,566.96 81.45% 54,090.67 81.50%

Profit before Share of (6,844.89) (18.16)% 9,465.69 18.55% 12,275.68 18.50%

Profit of Associates,

Exceptional Items and

Tax

Share of Profit of - - - - (43.48) (0.07)%

Associates

111




Fiscal
Parti 2021 2022 2023
articulars
Amount % of Total Amount % of Total Amount % of Total

(R in lakhs) Income (R in lakhs) Income (R in lakhs) Income
Profit/ (Loss) before (6,844.89) (18.16)% 9,465.69 18.55% 12,232.20 18.43%
Exceptional Items and
Tax
Exceptional Items 4,618.37 12.25% - - - -
Profit/ (Loss) before Tax | (11,463.26) (30.41)% 9,465.69 18.55% 12,232.20 18.43%
Tax expense:
Current Tax 738.95 1.96% 1,818.56 3.56% 2,269.66 3.42%
Deferred Tax Charge/ (445.66) (1.18)% 89.75 0.18% (226.03) (0.34)%
(Credit)
Total Tax Expense 293.29 0.78% 1,908.31 3.74% 2,043.63 3.08%
Profit/ (Loss) after Tax (11,756.55) (31.19)% 7,557.38 14.81% 10,188.57 15.35%

Nine months ended December 31,
Parti 2022 2023
articulars
Amount % of Total Income Amount % of Total
(R in lakhs) (R in lakhs) Income

Income
Revenue from Operations 46,867.36 99.71% 64,060.08 98.82%
Other Income 135.65 0.29% 764.85 1.18%
Total Income 47,003.01 100.00% 64,824.93 100.00%
Expense
Operating Expenses 18,324.26 38.99% 21,348.20 32.93%
Change in Inventories of Raw (970.73) (2.07%) 566.90 0.87%
Materials, Finished Goods and
Stock-in-Trade
Employee Benefits Expense 15,840.37 33.70% 23,839.00 36.77%
Finance Costs 693.06 1.47% 953.80 1.47%
Depreciation and Amortisation 1,151.31 2.45% 1,505.75 2.32%
Expenses
Other Expenses 3,212.49 6.83% 4,222.14 6.51%
Total Expenses 38,250.76 81.38% 52,435.79 80.89%
Profit before Share of Profit 8,752.25 18.62% 12,389.14 19.11%
of Associates, Exceptional
Items and Tax
Share of Profit/ (Loss) of (43.48) (0.09)% - -
Associates
Profit before Exceptional 8,708.77 18.53% 12,389.14 19.11%
Items and Tax
Exceptional Items - - - -
Profit before Tax 8,708.77 18.53% 12,389.14 19.11%
Tax Expense
Current Tax 1,134.16 2.41% 1,834.87 2.83%
Deferred Tax Charge/ (Credit) 46.28 0.10% 207.93 0.32%
Total Tax Expenses 1,180.44 2.51% 2,042.80 3.15%
Profit after Tax 7,528.33 16.02% 10,346.34 15.96%

NINE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 COMPARED TO NINE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER

31, 2022

Total Income

Our total income increased by 37.92% from % 47,003.01 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to
64,824.93 lakhs for the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to an increase in
revenue from operations and other income.
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Revenue from Operations

Our revenue from operations increased by 36.68% from X 46,867.36 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31,
2022 to % 64,060.08 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to an
increase in our sale of software services and sale of equipment and product license, which are discussed below.

Sale of Software Services

Our sale of software services increased by 34.23% from < 32,770.23 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31,
2022 to X 43,987.96 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023, which was primarily due to revenue
generated from the Interact DX business and Omnifin business post their acquisitions and revenue generated from
anew license deal in the banking product, software upgrades (change request), Murex Business and other IT services
business, and new addition in the annual maintenance of software license contract (“AMC”) along with rate revision
of existing AMC contracts.

Sale of Equipment and Product License

Our sale of equipment and product license increased from X 14,097.13 lakhs in the nine months ended December
31, 2022 to X 20,072.12 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This was primarily due to revenue
growth in the data centre and smart mobility and transit business which was partially offset by a decrease in revenue
from smart city and governance business.

Other Income

Our other income increased from X 135.65 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 764.85 lakhs in
the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This was primarily due to an increase in foreign exchange fluctuation
gain from X 1.02 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 480.60 lakhs in the nine months ended
December 31, 2023 and increase in interest income on fixed deposits with banks from X 60.15 lakhs in the nine
months ended December 31, 2022 to ¥ 199.92 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.

Expenses
Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consisting of software, hardware and other material cost increased from % 18,324.26 lakhs
in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 21,348.20 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.
This increase was primarily due to growth in revenue compared to the previous Fiscal and a slight inflationary rise
due to rate revision in material prices.

Changes in Inventories of Raw Materials, Finished Goods and Stock-in-Trade

The changes in inventories of raw materials, finished goods and stock-in-trase in the nine months ended December
31, 2022 was X (970.73) lakhs as compared to X (566.90) lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This
decrease is primarily attributed to the consumption of materials in projects that were installed and went live.

Employee Benefits Expense

Our employee benefits expense increased by 50.50% from  15,840.37 lakhs in the nine months ended December
31, 2022 to X 23,839.00 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This was primarily due to increase in
salaries wages and bonus from % 14,785.32 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 21,418.75 lakhs
in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by 37.62% from X 693.06 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to
953.80 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to increase in interest
expense on borrowings from % 450.94 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 662.29 lakhs in the
nine months ended December 31, 2023, an increase in other borrowing charges from % 158.13 lakhs in the nine
months ended December 31, 2022 to X 231.98 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023, which was
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marginally offset by decrease in interest expense on lease from % 83.99 lakhs in the nine months ended December
31, 2022 to ¥ 59.53 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.

Depreciation and Amortisation

Our depreciation and amortisation expense increased by 30.79% from X 1,151.31 lakhs in the nine months ended
December 31, 2022 to X 1,505.75 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023 primarily on account of (i)
increase in the depreciation on property, plant and equipment from X 621.75 lakhs in the nine months ended
December 31, 2022 to X 875.21 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023; and (ii) increase in amortisation
on other intangible assets from % 98.52 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 188.04 lakhs in the
nine months ended December 31, 2023.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses increased by 31.43% from X 3,212.49 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X
4,222.14 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to:

e anincrease in travelling and conveyance expenses from X 925.39 lakhs in the nine months ended December
31, 2022 to % 1,302.54 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023;

e anincrease in rates and taxes from T 134.49 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to ¥ 284.32
lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023;

e an increase in repairs and maintenance expense from % 112.39 lakhs in the nine months ended December
31, 2022 to X 267.83 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023; and

e an increase in commission and business promotions from % 185.38 lakhs in the nine months ended
December 31, 2022 to % 384.78 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023

Tax expenses

Our total tax expenses increased from X 1,180.44 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 2,042.80
lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023. Our current tax increased by 61.78% from X 1,134.16 lakhs in
the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 1,834.87 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023,
primarily due to increase in deferred tax charges and profit after tax.

Our deferred tax charge increased from X 46.28 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 to X 207.93
lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.

Profit for the Period

Primarily for the reasons stated above, our profit after tax increased by 37.43% from % 7,528.33 lakhs in the nine
months ended December 31, 2022 to % 10,346.34 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.

FISCAL 2023 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2022
Total Income

Our total income increased by 30.05% from % 51,032.65 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 66,366.35 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.
This increase was primarily due to an increase in revenue from operations.

Revenue from Operations
Our revenue from operations increased by 30.56% from % 50,501.22 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 65,933.16 lakhs in

Fiscal 2023. This increase was primarily due to an increase in our sale of software services and sale of equipment
and product license, which are discussed below.
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Sale of Software Services

Our sale of software services increased by 29.66% from % 34,055.76 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 44,156.88 lakhs in
Fiscal 2023, which was primarily due to the revenue generated post acquisition of Toshi Automatic Systems Private
Limited and revenue generated from a new license deal in the banking product, software upgrades (change request),
Murex business and other IT services business and new addition in the annual maintenance of software license
contract (“AMC?”) along with rate revision of existing AMC contracts.

Sale of Equipment and Poduct License

Our sale of equipment and product license increased from X 16,445.46 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 21,776.28 lakhs in
Fiscal 2023. This was primarily due to the revenue generated post acquisition of Toshi Automatic Systems Private
Limited and revenue growth in the data center business and smart mobility and transit business which was partially
offset by a decrease in the revenue from the smart city and governance business.

Other Income

Our other income decreased by 18.49% from X 531.43 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 433.19 lakhs in Fiscal 2023. This
was primarily due to a decrease in foreign exchange fluctuation gain from X 215.63 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to nil in
Fiscal 2023 which was partially offset by increase in interest income on fixed deposits with banks from % 113.12
lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 240.31 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consisting of software, hardware and other material cost increased by 39.59% from %
18,260.24 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 25,490.11 lakhs in Fiscal 2023. This increase was primarily attributed to the
growth in revenue compared to the previous Fiscal and a slight inflationary rise due to rate revision in material
prices.

Changes in Inventories of Raw Materials, Finished Goods and Stock-in-Trade

The changes in inventories of raw materials, finished goods and stock-in-trase in Fiscal 2022 was % 227.63 lakhs in
Fiscal 2022 as compared to X (697.06) lakhs in Fiscal 2023. This was primarily due to the increased inventory levels
resulting from the purchase of goods and materials for the AFC business and other ongoing projects in the work-in-
progress phase.

Employee Benefits Expense

Our employee benefits expense increased by 24.77% from % 17,595.03 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 21,953.81 lakhs in
Fiscal 2023. This was primarily due to an increase in salaries, wages and bonus from X 16,494.01 lakhs in Fiscal
2022 to X 20,304.59 lakhs in Fiscal 2023, as a result of increase in permanent employees from 1,468 as of March
31, 2022 to 1,918 employees as of March 31, 2023 as well as increments provided to employees.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by 30.33% from X 826.39 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 1,077.06 lakhs in Fiscal 2023. This
increase was primarily due (i) an increase in interest expense on borrowings from X 580.04 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to
% 685.20 lakhs in Fiscal 2023; (ii) an increase in interest expense on lease from  37.69 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X
135.38 lakhs in Fiscal 2023; and (iii) an increase in other borrowing charges from % 208.66 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to
% 256.48 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.

Depreciation and Amortisation

Our depreciation and amortisation expense increased by 13.38% from < 1,397.91 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 1,585.00
lakhs in Fiscal 2023 on account of (i) increase in the depreciation on property, plant and equipment from X 727.63
lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 873.32 lakhs in Fiscal 2023; (ii) increase in amortisation on other property, plant and
equipment from X 149.37 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to 3169.29 lakhs in Fiscal 2023; and (iii) increase in depreciation on
right-of-use-asset from % 520.91 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 542.39 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.

Other Expenses
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Our other expenses increased by 43.62% from X 3,259.76 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 4,681.75 lakhs in Fiscal 2023,
primarily due to:

e anincrease in our travelling and conveyance expenses from X 515.50 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 1,120.28 lakhs
in Fiscal 2023;

e an increase in our legal and professional charges from % 760.25 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to ¥ 1,028.00 lakhs in
Fiscal 2023;

e anincrease in commission amd business promotions from X 532.00 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 188.22 lakhs in
Fiscal 2023;

. an increase in bad debts of receivables/ advances from % 5.93 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to T 462.50 lakhs in Fiscal
2023;

e anincrease in recruitment expenses from X 82.41 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 248.86 lakhs in Fiscal 2023; and
e an increase in miscellaneous expenses from X 98.07 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 285.44 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.

Tax expense

Our tax expenses increased from X 1,908.31 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to % 2,043.63 lakhs in Fiscal 2023. Our current tax
increased by 24.81% from % 1,818.56 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 to X 2,269.66 lakhs in Fiscal 2023, which increase was
primarily due to the increase in profit before tax. We had a deferred tax charge of T 89.75 lakhs in Fiscal 2022
compared to a deferred tax credit of ¥ 226.03 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.

Profit for the Year

Primarily for the reasons stated above, our profit after tax increased by 34.82% from X 7,557.38 lakhs in Fiscal 2022
to X 10,188.57 lakhs in Fiscal 2023.

FISCAL 2022 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2021
Total Income

Our total income increased by 35.37% from X 37,699.22 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 51,032.65 lakhs in Fiscal 2022.
This increase was primarily due to an increase in revenue from operations.
Revenue from Operations

Our revenue from operations increased by 35.02% from % 37,401.77 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 50,501.22 lakhs in
Fiscal 2022. This increase was primarily due to an increase in our sale of software services and sale of equipment
and product license, which are discussed below.

Sale of Software Services

Our sale of software services increased by 24.40% from X 27,376.23 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 34,055.76 lakhs in
Fiscal 2022, which was primarily due to the revenue generated from the software upgrades (change request) and IT
and software services business.

Sale of Equipmen and Product License

Our sale of equipment and product license increased by 64.04% from % 10,025.54 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to % 16,445.46
lakhs in Fiscal 2022, which was primarily due revenue generated from the data centre business, smart mobilty and
transit business, and the smart city and governance business.

Other Income

Other income increased by 78.66% from % 297.45 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 531.43 lakhs in Fiscal 2022, primarily
due to increase in foreign exchange fluctuation again from nil in Fiscal 2021 to % 215.63 lakhs in Fiscal 2022.
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Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consisting of software, hardware and other material cost increased by 69.21% from I
10,791.45 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 18,260.24 lakhs in Fiscal 2022, which was primarily due to increase in revenue
compared to the previous Fiscal and a slight inflationary rise due to rate revision in material prices.

Changes in Inventories of Raw Materials, Finished Goods and Stock-in-Trade

The changes in inventories of raw materials, finished goods and stock-in-trase was % 227.63 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 as
compared to X 63.70 lakhs in Fiscal 2021. This decrease is primarily attributed to the consumption of materials in
projects that were installed and went live.

Employee Benefit Expense

Our employee benefit expense increased by 17.47% from X 14,978.15 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to % 17,595.03 lakhs in
Fiscal 2022. This was primarily due to increase in salaries, wages and bonus from X 13,952.49 lakhs in Fiscal 2021
to X 16,494.01 lakhs in Fiscal 2022, as a result of increase in employees from 1,468 as at March 31, 2021 to 1,240
as of March 31, 2022.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs decreased by 47.69% from X 1,579.78 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 826.39 lakhs in Fiscal 2022. This
increase was primarily due to an increase in interest expense on borrowings from  1,290.89 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to
¥ 580.04 lakhs in Fiscal 2022.

Depreciation and Amortisation

Our depreciation and amortisation expense decreased by 89.97% from X 13,939.06 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 1,397.91
lakhs in Fiscal 2022, which was primarily on account of a decrease in amortisation on other intangible assets from
% 2,043.88 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 149.37 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 and accelerated amortisation on other intangible
assets of ¥ 10,505.06 lakhs in Fiscal 2021.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses increased by 2.12% from % 3,191.97 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 3,259.76 lakhs in Fiscal 2022,
primarily due to:

e anincrease in rates and taxes from T 123.60 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 505.45 lakhs in Fiscal 2022;

e anincrease in legal ad professional charges from X 530.88 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 760.25 lakhs in Fiscal
2022;

e anincrease in commission and business promotions from I 229.94 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 532.00 lakhs
in Fiscal 2022.

These were partially offset by (i) decrease in foreign exchange fluctuation loss from % 215.66 lakhs in Fiscal 2021
to nil in Fiscal 2022; (ii) repairs and maintenance expenses from X 116.70 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 191.01 lakhs in
Fiscal 2022; and (iii) decrease in electricity expenses from X 132.71 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to X 77.37 lakhs in Fiscal
2022.

Tax expense

Our total tax expense increased from % 293.29 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 1,908.31 lakhs in Fiscal 2022. Our current
tax increased from T 738.95 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 1,818.56 lakhs in Fiscal 2022, which increase was primarily
due to the increase in profit before tax from X (11,463.26) lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 9,465.69 lakhs in Fiscal 2022.
We had a deferred tax charge of X 89.75 lakhs in Fiscal 2022 compared to a deferred tax credit of X 445.66 lakhs in
Fiscal 2021.

Profit for the Year
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Primarily for the reasons stated above, our profit/ (loss) after tax increased from X (11,756.55) lakhs in Fiscal 2021

to ¥ 7,557.38 lakhs in Fiscal 2022.

SEGMENT INFORMATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH IND AS 108 — OPERATING SEGMENTS

We have two operating segments namely “Sale of Software Services” and “Sale of Equipment and Product License”

which represents our businesses.

As of/ for Fiscal

As of/ for nine months ended
December 31,

FEGIELIETS 2021 | 2022 | 2023 2022 [ 2023
(X in lakhs)

Segment Revenue
(a) Sale of Software Services 27,376.23 34,055.76 44,156.89 32,770.23 43,987.96
(b) Sale of Equipment and Product 10,025.54 16,445.46 21,776.28 14,097.13 20,072.12
License
Total Income from Operations 37,401.77 50,501.22 65,933.17 46,867.36 64,060.08
(a+b)
Segment Results
(a) Sale of Software Services 22,075.93 26,686.26 34,744.48 25,230.40 36,106.97
(b) Sale of Equipment and Product 4,470.69 5,389.14 6,395.63 4,283.43 6,038.02
License
Total (a+b) 26,546.62 32,075.40 41,140.11 29,513.83 42,144.99
Less: Unallocable expenses
Employee benefits expense 14,978.15 17,595.03 21,953.81 15,840.37 23,839.00
Finance Costs 1,579.78 826.39 1,077.06 693.06 953.80
Depreciation and amortisation 13,939.06 1,397.91 1,585.00 1,151.31 1,505.75
expenses
Other expenses 3,191.97 3,321.81 4,681.75 3,212.49 4,222.14
Add: Unallocable income 297.45 531.43 433.19 135.65 764.85
Add: Share of Profit/ (loss) of the - - (43.48) (43.48) -
associates
Profit/ (loss) before exceptional (6,844.89) 9,465.69 12,232.20 8,708.77 12,389.14
items and tax

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity have historically been cash generated from operations and short term borrowings
from banks. We expect that cash generated from operations and short term borrowings from banks will continue to

be our primary sources of liquidity.

CASH FLOWS

The following table sets forth cash flow information for Fiscal 2021, 2022, 2023 and the nine months ended

December 31, 2022 and 2023:

Fiscal Nine months ended December 31,
Particulars 2021 | 2022 | 2023 2022 | 2023
(X in lakhs)

Net cash generated/(used in) from 4,915.71 6,204.12 4,088.55 (336.35) 5,767.45
operating activities (A)
Net cash generated/ (used in) (993.93) 3,081.93 (5,569.12) (4,060.78) (16,291.74)
from investing activities (B)
Net cash generated/ (used in) (3,703.95) (7,461.23) (161.43) 2,009.25 11,266.61
financing activities (C)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash 217.83 1,824.81 (1,642.00) (2,387.88) 742.32
and cash equivalents (A+B+C)
Opening cash and cash 2,001.48 2,219.31 4,044.12 4,044.12 2,402.12
equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at 2,219.31 4,044.12 2,402.12 1,656.24 3,144.44
end of year

* Regrouped / Reclassified.
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Operating Activities
December 31, 2023

Net cash generated from operating activities was % 5,767.45 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023.
Our net profit before tax was I 12,389.14 lakhs, which was primarily adjusted for depreciation and amortization
expense of X 1,505.75 lakhs, interest expenses of X 721.82 lakhs, foreign exchange differences gain (net) of ¥ 480.60
lakhs and stock based compensation cost of X 719.28 lakhs, resulting in an operating profit before working capital
changes of X 14,712.77 lakhs. The movements in working capital in the nine months ended December 31, 2023
included a decrease in inventories of ¥ 566.90 lakhs, increase in trade receivables and other assets of X 4,470.47
lakhs and decrease in trade payables, other liabilities of ¥ 2,732.13 lakhs.

December 31, 2022

Net cash used in operating activities was X 336.35 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022. Our net profit
before tax was X 8,708.77 lakhs, which was primarily adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense of
1,151.31 lakhs, interest expenses of X 534.93 lakhs and foreign exchange differences loss (net) of T 430.28 lakhs,
resulting in an operating profit before working capital changes of % 10,880.89 lakhs. The movements in working
capital in the nine months ended December 31, 2022 included an increase in inventories of X 659.56 lakhs, increase
in trade receivables and other assets of ¥ 17,795.13 lakhs and increase in trade payables, other liabilities of
7,663.69 lakhs.

Fiscal 2023

Net cash generated from operating activities was X 4,088.55 lakhs in Fiscal 2023. Our net profit before tax was
12,232.20 lakhs, which was primarily adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense of X 1,585.00 lakhs,
interest expenses of T 820.58 lakhs, foreign exchange differences loss (net) of ¥ 651.62 lakhs and bad debts of 2
462.50 lakhs, resulting in an operating profit before working capital changes of % 15,299.78 lakhs. The movements
in working capital in Fiscal 2023 included an increase in inventories of ¥ 697.06 lakhs, increase in trade receivables
and other assets of X 15,218.29 lakhs and increase in trade payables, other liabilities of % 6,770.04 lakhs.

Fiscal 2022

Net cash generated from our operating activities was X 6,204.12 lakhs in Fiscal 2022. Our net profit before tax was
% 9,465.69 lakhs, which was primarily adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense of ¥ 1,397.91 lakhs,
interest expenses of ¥ 617.72 lakhs and foreign exchange differences gain (net) of ¥ 391.62 lakhs, resulting in an
operating profit before working capital changes of X 10,917.45 lakhs. The movements in working capital in Fiscal
2022 included a decrease in inventories of X 227.63 lakhs, increase in trade receivables and other assets of X 6,313.54
lakhs and increase in trade payables, other liabilities of % 3,386.65 lakhs.

Fiscal 2021

Net cash generated from our operating activities was X 4,915.71 lakhs in Fiscal 2021. Our net loss before tax
(including discontinued operations) was X 18,907.08 lakhs, which was adjusted for non-cash and other items such
as depreciation and amortization expenses of X 13,939.06 lakhs, interest expenses of X 1,395.45 lakhs, other non
cash exceptional items of % 4,618.37 lakhs and bad debts of X 632.36 lakhs, resulting in an operating profit before
working capital changes of % 2,718.20 lakhs. The movements in working capital in Fiscal 2021 included a increase
in inventories of X 8.56 lakhs, decrease in trade receivables and other assets of ¥ 5,074.92 lakhs and decrease in
trade payables, other liabilities of ¥ 2,160.56 lakhs.

Investing Activities
December 31, 2023

Net cash used in investing activities was ¥ 16,291.74 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023, which
was primarily due to purchase of business of X 17,468.59 lakhs and purchase of PPE and othe intangible assets of %
2,378.85 lakhs. This was partially offset by sale of investment (net) of % 3,582.15 lakhs.

December 31, 2022
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Net cash used in investing activities was X 4,060.78 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022, which was
primarily due to purchase of PPE and othe intangible assets of % 2,542.81 lakhs and purchase of investment (net) of
¥ 1,505.20 lakhs.

Fiscal 2023

Net cash used in investing activities was % 5,569.12 lakhs in Fiscal 2023, which was primarily due to purchase of
PPE and othe tangible assets of X 4,593.32 lakhs, purchase of investment (net) X 1,166.57 lakhs and proceeds used
in fixed deposits with banks of X 91.11 lakhs. This was partially offset by interest received of X 281.88 lakhs.

Fiscal 2022

Net cash generated from investing activites was X 3,081.93 lakhs during Fiscal 2022, which was primarily due to
sale of investment (net) of X 3,951.47 lakhs, interest received of % 146.04 lakhs and proceeds from fixed deposits
with banks of % 285.97 lakhs. This was partially offset by purchase of PPE and other intangible assets of X 1,301.54
lakhs.

Fiscal 2021

Net cash used in investing activities was ¥ 993.93 lakhs during Fiscal 2021, which was primarily due to purchase
of PPE and other intangible assets of ¥ 966.66 lakhs and investment in bank fixed deposits of ¥ 301.13 lakhs. This
was partially offset by sale of investment (net) of X 130.03 lakhs and interest received of ¥ 143.83 lakhs.

Financing Activities
December 31, 2023

Net cash generated from financing activities was X 11,266.61 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2023,
primarily due to proceeds from issue of Equity Shares of ¥ 9,727.51 lakhs and proceeds from short-term borrowings
(net) of % 4,805.11 lakhs. This was partially and primarily offset by repayment of long-term borrowings (net) of 2
1,516.78 lakhs, repayment of lease liabilities of ¥ 502.33 lakhs and interest paid of T 644.40 lakhs.

December 31, 2022

Net cash generated from financing activities was % 2,009.25 lakhs in the nine months ended December 31, 2022,
primarily due to proceeds from short-term borrowings (net) of X 3,486.76 lakhs. This was partially and primarily
offset by dividend paid of ¥ 570.00 lakhs, repayment of lease liabilities of I 448.62 lakhs and interest paid of
564.45 lakhs.

Fiscal 2023

Net cash used in financing activities was ¥ 161.43 lakhs during Fiscal 2023, primarily dividend paid of ¥ 570.00
lakhs, repayment of lease liabilities of X 608.71 lakhs and interest paid of X 716.79 lakhs. This was partially offset
by proceeds from short term borrowings (net) of % 1,674.73 lakhs and proceeds from long term borrowings (net) of
¥ 59.34 lakhs.

Fiscal 2022

Net cash used in financing activities was ¥ 7,461.23 lakhs during Fiscal 2022, primarily repayment of long-term
borrowings (net) of X 2,881.60 lakhs, repayment of short term borrowings (net) of X 3,218.24 lakhs, repayment of
lease liabilities of ¥ 558.48 lakhs and interest paid of ¥ 802.91 lakhs.

Fiscal 2021

Net cash used in financing activities was X 3,703.95 lakhs during Fiscal 2021, primarily repayment of long-term
borrowings (net) of X 1,240.91 lakhs, repayment of short-term borrowings (net) of X 343.10 lakhs, repayment of
lease liabilities of ¥ 863.33 lakhs and interest paid of ¥ 1,256.61 lakhs.

BORROWINGS

Our borrowings as at December 31, 2023 are set out below:
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As at December 31, 2023

Particulars ® in lakhs)
Secured long-term borrowings 1,869.91
Unsecured long-term borrowings 1,470.06
Secured short-term borrowings 1,696.68
Unsecured short-term borrowings 5,715.41
Total borrowings 10,752.06
CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The following table sets forth contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2023:
One year Three
Particulars Ve Upyte?el(r)ne e ides years e ':‘/il\c/)er G;/:::\?:
years five years
(X in lakhs)
Borrowings 10,752.06 9,129.43 1,622.63 - -
Lease Liability 1,286.67 618.21 668.46 - -
Trade Payables 10,346.94 10,346.94 - - -
Other Financial Liabilities 9,5697.51 7,597.51 2,000.00 - -

Capital Expenditure

The following table sets forth additions to property, plant and equipment by category of expenditure, for the Fiscals/

periods indicated below:

. Nine Months Ended December
. Fiscal 31,
PETHILENS 2021 | 2022 [ 2023* 2022 [ 2023*
(X in lakhs)

Computers 51.19 318.92 418.50 267.09 249.17
Furniture and Fixtures 0.02 2.98 7.46 3.04 170.82
Office Equipment 52.98 8.63 105.06 85.54 79.26
Plant and machinery 36.42 674.96 2,805.56 2,320.47 45.38
Leasehold improvements (0.00) - 15.99 3.07 39.08
Motor Car 8.71 - - - -
Vehicles - - - - -
Office premises (0.00) - - - -
Factory Premises (0.00) - - - -
Total 149.31 1,005.49 3,352.57 2,679.21 583.70

“Excluding addition on account of acquisition.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The following table sets forth certain information relating to

December 31, 2023:

our contingent liabilities and commitment as at

As at December 31, 2023

Particulars ® in lakhs)
Guarantees given by the Company on behalf of its Subsidiaries 4,046.21
Disputed liabilities not provided for taxation matters and legal cases 1,157.21
Commitments (estimated amount of contract remaining to be executed
on capital account (net of advances) and not provided for) 1,349.23

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or other relationships with any entity that have been established

for the purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
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Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market prices comprise three types of risk: foreign currency rate risk, interest rate risk
and other price risks such as equity price risk and commodity risk.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of

changes in foreign exchange rates. Our carrying amounts of the net foreign currency exposure denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities as at March 31, 2023, are as follows:

Particulars UsSD Other Currency
Trade Receivables 876.40 93.93
Loans Receivables 2,293.77 -
Advance to Vendors 11.74 5.93
Trade Payables (227.16) -
Advance Received from Customers (506.06) -
Borrowings - -
Total 2,448.69 99.86

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk can be either fair value interest rate risk or cash flow interest rate risk. Fair value interest rate risk
is the risk of changes in fair values of fixed interest bearing investments because of fluctuations in the interest rates,
in cases where the borrowings are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Cash flow interest rate risk is the
risk that the future cash flows of flows of floating interest bearing investments will fluctuate because of fluctuations
in the interest rates.

Interest rate risk of the Company arises from borrowings. We endeabour to adopt a policy of ensuring that maximum
of out interest risk exposure is at fixed rate.

Credit Risk

Credit arises from the possibility that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Company. To manage this, we periodically assesses the financial reliability of customers, taking into
account the financial conditions, current economic trends, and analysis of historical bad debts and ageing of accounts
receivable.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to risk of financial distress or extra ordinary high financing cost arising due to shortage of liquid
funds in a situation where business conditions unexpectedly deteriorate and require financing. Our objective is to
maintain at all times optimum levels of liquidity to meet our cash and collateral requirements. Processes and policies
related to such risk are overseen by senior management and management monitors our net liquidity position through
rolling forecash on the basis of expected cash flows.

RESERVATIONS, QUALIFICATIONS, OR ADVERSE REMARKS OF OUR AUDITORS IN THE LAST
FIVE FISCALS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE YEAR OF THIS PRELIMINARY PLACEMENT
DOCUMENT

Except as set out below, there are no reservations, qualifications or adverse remarks of our Statutory Auditors in
their respective reports on our audited financial statements for the last five Fiscals preceding the date of this
Preliminary Placement Document:

Impact on the financial Corrective steps taken
Fiscal/ Period Emphasis of Matter statements and financial and/or proposed to be
position of the Company taken by the Company

Fiscal 2021 Emphasis of matter Paragraph | Decrease in profit due to | Costs incurred on R&D and
included in the consolidated audited | accelerated  depreciation | product development were
financial Statements amounting to T 10,505.56 | expensed out as a part to

lakhs charged to profit and | implement a uniform policy
“We draw attention to note 4.02* to the | loss statement. of accounting.

consolidated financial statements, in
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Fiscal/ Period

Emphasis of Matter

Impact on the financial
statements and financial
position of the Company

Corrective steps taken
and/or proposed to be
taken by the Company

respect of accelerated depreciation
charged by the Group on intangible
assets held by certain overseas
subsidiaries in accordance with the
management estimates. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter”

“*Note 4.02 The Company has built
robust IP based products which have now

matured and surpassed the phase
requiring heavy investments, costs
incurred on R&D and product

development were expensed out as a part
to implement a uniform policy of
accounting for the product development
costs across all the group companies.
Accordingly, intangibles assets have been
expensed out and depleted from carrying
and accumulated value of Computer
Software block”

Fiscal/
Period

Details of reservation, qualification or adverse remarks

Impact on the
financial
statements and
financial position
of the Company

Corrective steps
taken and/or
proposed to be
taken by the
Company

Fiscal
2023

CARO - Standalone financial statements

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has generally been regular in
depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident
fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax,
wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of excise, value added tax,
cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities
during the year. As regards reporting on balances in arrears as at
the last day of the financial year for a period exceeding six months
from the date they become due, there was GST input tax credit (ITC)
reversal amounting to Rs. 28.99 lakhs. Also, there was interest
thereon amounting to Rs.6.28 lakhs, which has been paid after 31st
March 2023.”

Nil

Subsequently  paid
by the Company

Fiscal
2023

CARO - Consolidated financial statements

“In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given
by the Holding Company and the books of account and records
examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our
knowledge and belief, and based on the consideration of reports of
auditors in respect of subsidiaries, we state that the qualification or
adverse remarks by the respective auditors in their reports on
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 of the companies
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as under

Clause

Sr Nature of nt:rg?e

No. Name CIN Relationshi the

P CARO

Report

1 | Aurionpro U31903DL2011PT | Subsidiary | xvii
Toshi C218013

Automatic

Nil

Nil
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Fiscal/
Period

Details of reservation, qualification or adverse remarks

Impact on the
financial
statements and
financial position
of the Company

Corrective steps
taken and/or
proposed to be
taken by the
Company

Systems
Private
Limited

2 | Aurofidel
Outsourcing
Limited

3. | Aurionpro
Payment
Solutions
Private
Limited

U72900MH2008PL
C179836

Subsidiary | xvii

U72900MH2021PT
C364601

Subsidiary | xvii

Fiscal
2022

CARO - Standalone financial statements

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has generally been regular in
depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident
fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax,
wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of excise, value added tax,
cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities
during the year. As regards reporting on balances in arrears as at
the last day of the financial year for a period exceeding six months
from the date they become due, there was GST input tax credit (ITC)
reversal amounting to Rs.38.41 lakhs. Also, there was interest
thereon amounting to Rs.8.43 lakhs, which has been paid after
31/03/2022.”

Nil

Subsequently  paid
by the Company

Fiscal
2021

CARO - Standalone financial statements

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has generally been regular in
depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident
fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax,
wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of excise, value added tax,
cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities
during the year. The following balances remained in arrears as at
the last day of the financial year for a period exceeding six months
from the date they become due —

Period
Name tg
of the e Amount which Due Date of Remarks,
Statut of ® iz Date Feyiie if any
e Dues amou nt
nt
relates
Goods | GST 60,73,61 |FY Variou | Nil Nil
and input | 2/- 2018- |s Due
Servic | credit 21 Dates*
e Tax|Revers
(GST) |al and
Interest
on GST

*GST due date — 20th of the subsequent months.”

Nil

Subsequently  paid
by the Company
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Fiscal/
Period

Details of reservation, qualification or adverse remarks

Impact on the
financial
statements and
financial position
of the Company

Corrective steps
taken and/or
proposed to be
taken by the
Company

Fiscal
2021

Audit Report on the Standalone Financial Statements

“10(g)(iii) There has been no delay in transferring amounts required
to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by
the Company, except for Rs.2,350/- pertaining to financial year
2011-12 is yet to be transferred to IEPF. The Company has initiated
necessary procedure in this regard for completion of the same.”

Nil

Subsequently
transferred to IEPF

Fiscal
2021

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

“11(h)(iii) There has been no delay in transferring amounts required
to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by
the Company, except for Rs.2,350/- pertaining to financial year
2011-12 is yet to be transferred to IEPF. The Company has initiated
necessary procedure in this regard for completion of the same.”

Nil

Subsequently
transferred to the
IEPF

Fiscal
2020

CARO - Standalone

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has generally been regular in
depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident
fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, goods and service tax,
wealth tax, service tax, custom duty, duty of excise, value added tax,
cess and any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities
during the year, except that in certain instances there have been
delays. The following balances remained in arrears as at the last day
of the financial year for a period exceeding six months from the date
they become due -

Perio
dto
which
of the e of Amou the Due of
Statut D nt(¥ | amou | Date | Paym
ues

e nt ent
relate
S
2018- | Vario | Nil Nil
2020 us

Due
Dates”

Name Date

Rema
rks, if
any

Natur

Goods
and

GST
input
Servic | credit
e Tax | Rever
(GST) | sal
and
Intere
st on
GST
*GST due date — 20th of the subsequent months.”

35,10,
986/-

Nil

Subsequently  paid
by the Company

Fiscal
2020

Audit Report on Standalone Financial Statements

“10(h)(iii) There has been no delay in transferring amounts required
to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by
the Company, except for Rs.2,350/- pertaining to financial year
2011-12 is yet to be transferred to IEPF. The Company has initiated
necessary procedure in this regard for completion of the same.”

Nil

Subsequently
transferred to IEPF

Fiscal
2020

Audit Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

“10(g)(iii) There has been no delay in transferring amounts required
to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by
the Company, except for Rs.2,350/- pertaining to financial year

Nil

Subsequently
transferred to IEPF
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Impact on the Corrective steps

Fiscall financial taken and/or
Period Details of reservation, qualification or adverse remarks statements and proposed to be
financial position taken by the
of the Company Company
2011-12 is yet to be transferred to IEPF. The Company has initiated
necessary procedure in this regard for completion of the same.”
Fiscal | CARO - Standalone Financial Statements Nil Nil
2019

“vii(a): In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the Company has generally been regular in
depositing applicable undisputed statutory dues, including provident
fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, sales tax, wealth tax,
service tax, custom duty, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and
any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities during the
year, except that in certain instances there have been delays.”

UNUSUAL OR INFREQUENT EVENTS OR TRANSACTIONS

Except as described in this Preliminary Placement Document, there have been no unusual or infrequent events or
transactions that have in the past or may in the future affect our business operations or future financial performance.

KNOWN TRENDS OR UNCERTAINTIES

Our business has been subject, and we expect it to continue to be subject, to significant economic changes arising
from the trends identified above in “—Significant Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations” and the uncertainties
described in “Risk Factors” on pages 99 and 47, respectively. Except as discussed in this Preliminary Placement
Document, there are no known trends or uncertainties that have or had or are expected to have a material adverse
impact on our revenues or income.

SIGNIFICANT ECONOMIC CHANGES THAT MATERIALLY AFFECT OR ARE LIKELY TO AFFECT
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATION

Our business has been subject, and we expect it to continue to be subject, to significant economic changes that
materially affect or are likely to affect income from continuing operations identified above in “—Significant Factors
Affecting Our Results of Operations” and the uncertainties described in “Risk Factors” on pages 99 and 47,
respectively.

NEW PRODUCTS OR BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Except as described in this Preliminary Placement Document, we have not publicly announced any new products or
business segments nor have there been any material increases in our revenues due to increased disbursements and
the introduction of new products.

FUTURE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COST AND INCOME

Other than as described elsewhere in the sections “Risk Factors”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 47, 145 and 97, respectively, there are no
known factors that will have a material adverse impact on our operations and financial condition.

SIGNIFICANT DEPENDENCE ON A SINGLE OR FEW CUSTOMERS OR SUPPLIERS

We are dependent on a few customers. See, “Risk Factors — We generate a significant portion of our revenues from
our top 10 customers, and any loss or reduction of business from these customers could reduce our revenues and
adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. ” on page 48.
SEASONALITY/ CYCLICALITY OF BUSINESS

Our business is not seasonable or cyclical in nature.

SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS AFTER DECEMBER 31, 2023
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The Board of Directors of the Company has, pursuant to its resolution dated February 12, 2024, and approval of
shareholders of the Company vide extraordinary general resolution dated March 7, 2024, approved the preferential
allotment and allotted 9,02,935 fully paid-up Equity Shares at a price of % 2,215 per Equity Share, aggregating to 2
20,000.01 lakhs on March 28, 2024, to certain identified investors. Our Company has filed the applications for
obtaining the listing approvals from BSE and NSE on April 2, 2024, and are yet to receive the listing approval. Post
receipt of the listing approval, our Company will apply for trading approvals from BSE and NSE, accordingly. For
further details, see “Capital Structure - Equity Share capital history of our Company” on page 90.

Except as disclosed above and elsewhere in this Preliminary Placement Document, our Company is not aware of
any circumstances that have arisen since December 31, 2023 that have a material adverse effect on, or are likely to
affect, our operations or profitability, the value of our assets or our ability to pay our material liabilities within the
next 12 months.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from derived from the
report titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis
Research, report titled “Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028 " prepared and issued by Netscribes
(India) Private Limited, report titled “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” prepared and issued by
Global Mass Transit Research and report titled “Global Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis,
Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031 prepared and issued by Coherent Market Insights. Unless
otherwise indicated, financial, operational, industry and other related information derived from the aforesaid
industry reports and included herein with respect to any particular calendar year/ Fiscal refers to such information
for the relevant calendar year/ Fiscal.

Industry sources and publications are also prepared based on information as of specific dates and may no longer
be current or reflect current trends. Industry sources and publications may also base their information on estimates,
projections, forecasts and assumptions that may prove to be incorrect. Accordingly, investors must rely on their
independent examination of, and should not place undue reliance on, or base their investment decision solely on
this information. The recipient should not construe any of the contents of the aforesaid reports as advice relating to
business, financial, legal, taxation or investment matters and are advised to consult their own business, financial,
legal, taxation, and other advisors concerning the transaction.

For more information, see “Risk Factors - Certain sections of this Preliminary Placement Document disclose
information from the reports titled *““Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape”, “Cloud
Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028”, “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” and “Global
Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031 and
any reliance on such information for making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks.” on
page 67. Also see, “Presentation of Financial and Other Financial Information” on page 12.

1. CREDIT LENDING OPERATIONS

The below information has been derived from the “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor
Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis Research,

Market landscape - The credit lending market: an overview

Commercial and corporate banking is a complex (and sizable) area of business for financial institutions, and covers
four main categories of product offering: credit lending, cash management, trade finance and supply chain
management. (Equally, significant elements of these activities are nhow conducted by non-banks.) Each product
category contains multiple sub-products to satisfy the needs of corporate clients, based on their requirements and
business models. This report covers the credit lending area within the commercial and corporate banking landscape,
with a focus on the areas of loan origination, collateral management and limits management. In due course we will
consider other aspects of credit intermediation by other types of firms, such as credit funds, insurance companies,
private equity houses and corporates (with credit exposures as part of their trading business or across their supply
chain activities).

The commercial and corporate lending market has expanded over the years with the inclusion of different types of
products, simple and complex, with different terms and conditions, regulatory guidelines and target markets.
Increasingly, process optimization and cost control are becoming central elements.

Key market dynamics

Requirements around credit operations have been evolving rapidly, driven by growing product differentiation, the
broader availability of data, structural changes in the finance and control units of banks, new accounting standards
(International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS") 9 and Current Expected Credit Losses (“CECL")), regulatory
shifts (greater requirements for monitoring, for example) and demand for new and more innovative products.
Aspects of the broader competitive landscape (including the large number of new players and new sources of capital)
have also played a role in the structural changes.

Overall, the key drivers of change are:

e The increasing availability of varied data, including a wide range of alternative data types.
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The growing use of new mathematical models, including novel statistical methods such as machine learning
(“ML”). These methods have proved very successful, particularly in retail credit, and are now finding wider
applications in wholesale credit. Generally, their impact has been most dramatic in the areas of data
management and data consolidation.

Credit portfolio management is taking center stage.

Collateral management is becoming an increasingly critical function.

The credit cycle is coming to an end, impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitical shifts.

Overall, ‘shadow’ and non-banks are becoming more central to the overall credit cycle.

The interaction between traded and banking book credit is growing.

The impact of accounting standards for credit risk goes beyond mere reporting — they have triggered a
fundamental restructuring of credit modeling.

Assessment criteria for vendors of credit lending operations, 2022

Completeness of offering Market potential

# Platform capabilities * Customer satisfaction

-

* Product capahilities Market presence

L
-

LOS/ICMS/LMS processing Growth strategy

Business maodel

Waorkflow management

Adoption of emerging technologies * Financials

L

Coverage for credit risk processing,
analytics and portfolio management

RiskTech Quadrant®for loan origination solutions, 2022
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MARKET POTENTIAL

COMPLETENESS OF OFFERING '

Source: Chartis Research
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Vendor capabilities for loan origination solutions, 2022

Workflow
management  Adoption of
and i

Platform Product LOS emerging

Vendor capabilities capabilities  processing integration technologies

A.bﬂ.gﬂ *EE EZ 22 *RE *ES xS EES 3
Braadridga'ﬂcu:kﬂil EE S 22 LS X EERXE EREE A HER
CubeLl}git: tEr E 2 3 L2 EREE LE L HER
F‘S #EEH ARES #*EAR ERAE 2 Lk 22
fwadﬁgfﬁﬂs XS 22 EE 3 2t #E4 #E% 23

ln‘Bnge(hnD.iDgfes L 22 2 #EEE #ESE hEE hEE Fae
I“te“ect Dasign EE *RER *EEE *EH ¥ EE a0
Kuliza *EE 4% *EE #E4 ERRFE EE2 2
LUXDI'I EEER HHES EEER EREF EREF Fa®
Mﬂﬂdv-s Anﬂh’tics E2 2 22 *HES #EEE EREF EEE R HEEE
nCi'r‘lD *EEH RN *EEE LR L 2] EE L b EEE 2
Oradﬁ #EEH #EER #EXR EREF EARFE RER
Pmmmia #EEH HEES #EEE EREF EHEF EE 23
TurnKE\! LEI'IdEr EEH EEER ‘EEE LE 2 2] L2 2 EE 22

Kep: ***® = Bostn-class capabilines, *** = Advenced capebilities, 7 = Meerz industry requiremenis, * = Farial coveragedcomponent capabiity
Seource: Chartis Research

Vendor capabilities for collateral management solutions, 2022

Platform Product

Vendor capabilities  capabilities processing

Broadridge/Rockall TR ER R HEXS EEE THaE Frees
Cubelogic s ] #EE EXETS #ER LS
FIS EEEE sHER EEEH #En EuAE E s
five*degrees #EaE e R TS #ER ExS
Integro Technologies HErE a4 #ras sase rane P
Intellect Design B e e xS Ty e
Kuliza ErT w4 L Han EXT TS L
Loxon EEEE B EEaE R BT TS B
Moody's Analytics EEEH EEEE E wEs Fasw FRER
nCino EEER HRER EERE #EE *ER FaE
Oracle EEEH HRER #ERE LS EaAE EEEe s
Prometeia ErdE #HeE EEAE i E s P
TurnKey Lender ErdE e EEAE *EE FEEE P

Koy **** = Bopstan-class capabiines, *** = Agvanced capebilities, ** = Meets industry raquirements, * = Partls! coverane/componant capability

Source: Charhis Resesrch
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Vendor capabilities for limits management solutions, 2022

Workflow
management Adoption of
Platform Product LMS and emerging
capabiliies  capabilities  processing integration technologies Coverage

Broadndgefﬁncka!l L2 2 2 EEN R EHEE EFHEE *EES
CuheLugic HEE EREX EEEE EXRE EE *EEE
F*S rEEE EEEN R EE EFXEE RS
f'we“deg rees EEE E 2 2 rE L3 EE s

hﬂeng@nnJogi&E HEEE REE HERE EHEE EFHEE £ 2 2
Inteliac’t Design *EE EER Ex = e £ER =4
KI.I!IZZ £ X2 -4 e x *hes L 2]
LOKDI'I EEE EE 22 2 EERR EE REE L 2
Moudy'sﬁ\nalvtic:s HEEE RER B xR R 2 HEER
I'Ici]"lﬂ wEEE *hER HERY H*ER EFEEE 2 2
Orﬂdﬁ HEEE *hEN HEEH £ 2 3 EREE HEER
Prumetaia EEER HEEN HEXW *EE EFHEFE E 2 2]
TIJTI'IKE\! Lender HEEE HEER HEEW *EE FHEE 2 2]

Kay: **** = Bagtin-cl iities, *** = ] capabilites, ** = Meets industry requirements, ® = Parfial coversge/companent capabiiy

Source: Chartis Researeh

2. GLOBAL CREDIT RISK ASSESSMENT MARKET

The below information has been derived from the report titled “Global Credit Risk Management Market — Market
Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031~ prepared and issued by Coherent Market
Insights

Global credit risk assessment market was valued at USD 7,176.9 million in 2023 and is expected to exhibit a
CAGR of 9.3% over the forecast period to reach USD 14,415.1 million in 2031. The following are the drivers:

e Rising adoption of technologies like Al and big data analytics

e Rising volumes of banking transactions globally

2031 F
2024 E
Market
Value
g 9.3% 14,415.1
Million) el

CAGR (2024-2031)

133



Global Credit Risk Assessment Market Value (USD Million) Analysis, 2019-2031

9.3% - CAGR (2024-2031)

7,755.6

6.201.0

2015H 2020H 2021H 2022 H 013 A 2024 € 2025 F 2026 F 2027F 2028F 2029 F 2030F 2031 F

Global Credit Risk Assessment Market is expected to witness significant growth during the forecast period (2024-
2031).

Drivers - Rising adoption of technologies like Al and big data analytics

e The rising usage of artificial intelligence and big data analytics across industries has opened new opportunities
for assessing credit risk in a more effective and efficient manner. These technologies allow analyzing massive
amounts of data from multiple internal and external sources to identify hidden patterns and make predictions
about customers’ creditworthiness. This data-driven approach to credit risk assessment provides meaningful
insights into customers' financial behavior and likelihood of default over time. Many banks and financial
institutions have started implementing Al and big data-powered solutions to automate decision making around
lending, detect fraud, monitor accounts for malpractices, and optimize portfolio management.

e As technology progresses, enhancing the infrastructure for credit reporting as well as the predictive and
monitoring capacities of institutions, it is anticipated that there will be a growing reliance on advanced digital
solutions. This will drive higher spending on advanced risk management systems, thereby accelerating the
growth path of the global credit risk assessment market over the coming years. For instance, in May 2023, Fitch
Solutions, a prominent provider of insights, data, and analytics, introduced Fitch XGS Credit Ratings Data.
This data offering presents Fitch Ratings bank ratings that do not include government support, specifically
tailored for adherence to Basel 111 final reforms.

Drivers - Rising volumes of banking transactions globally

e The ever-increasing numbers of banking transactions taking place globally each year has significantly
contributed to the ongoing expansion of the global credit risk assessment market. As digital technologies have
revolutionized the financial industry and new pathways for digital transactions have made money transfer more
convenient and accessible than ever before, the total volume of banking activity occurring across international
borders and between institutions has skyrocketed dramatically in recent times.

e The growing volumes of cross-border banking transactions in recent years as highlighted by Bank for

International Settlements (“BIS”) and World Bank data underscores how elevated levels of international
financial activity necessitate more rigorous credit risk screening for banks and other organizations. This driving
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factor has been a major contributor to the ongoing expansion of the global credit risk assessment market.
Developments like greater digitization and technological innovation in risk analysis are also poised to further
strengthen the market growth patterns.

In December 2023, according to the World Bank’s latest Migration and Development Brief released, there was
a reported growth of approximately 3.8% in remittances to low- and middle-income countries (“LMICs”) for
the year 2023.

Market Opportunities — Growth in digital lending practices

The increasing adoption of digital lending practices through advanced technologies presents a huge opportunity
for growth in the global credit risk assessment market. As more financial transactions move online and digital
adoption accelerates worldwide, especially after the pandemic, the need for robust digital lending platforms
with embedded credit risk analytics has risen exponentially.

This transition towards digital lending is forecast to continue and even accelerate in the coming years. The
International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) estimates global digital payments increased by over 25% during the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Furthermore, in conclusion, the growth of digital lending and rising adoption of advanced technology in
underwriting processes presents immense opportunities for the global credit risk assessment market to scale up
in the coming years and boost financial inclusion on a global scale. Governments and international
organizations are also increasingly supporting these efforts.

Market Opportunities — Partnerships with fintech companies to gain access to new customer segments

Partnerships with Fintech companies can provide great opportunities for players in the global credit risk
assessment market to access new customer segments. With the rise of digital lending platforms and online credit
solutions, many Fintech players have amassed large datasets on various customer segments that traditional
banks lack visibility into. By collaborating with Fintechs, credit risk assessment firms can tap into these
alternative data sources to analyze new types of borrowers and small businesses. This will help expand the
overall addressable market for credit risk solutions.

For instance, in October 2022, the IMF published the findings of the 13™ Annual Financial Access Survey
(“FAS”) [1], unveiling data for the year 2021. The report emphasized a significant increase in the adoption of
digital financial services, surpassing levels seen before the pandemic. Additionally, the survey indicates a
reduction in outstanding loan balances for small and medium-sized enterprises (“SMESs”) and persistent gender
disparities in financial access across various economies. Notably, microfinance institutions played a crucial role
in certain economies by fostering inclusion among unserved and underserved populations, particularly through
the distribution of pandemic-related support.

Market Attractiveness Analysis

Market Attractiveness, by region, (2024-2031)
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Segment Overview

Services segment is expected to exhibit high growth over the forecast period.
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Global Credit Risk Assessment Market Value (USD Million), by Component, 2023 & 2031

8,443.9
5.971.2
4,619.7
I 2,557.2
Software Services

2023 m2031

On the basis of component, the global credit risk assessment market is segmented into software and services.
Software segment accounted for the largest share in 2023. The segment was valued at USD4,619.7 million in 2023
and is expected to generate a revenue of USD8,443.9 million by 2031. This segment is expected to exhibit a CAGR
of 8.0% over the forecast period (2024 to 2031). Services segment is expected to exhibit a CAGR of 11.3% over the
forecast period. This segment was valued at USD2,557.2 million in 2023 and is expected to generate a revenue of
USD5,971.2 million by 2031.

Segment Overview

Services segment is expected to witness the highest growth over the forecast period

Global Credit Risk Assessment Market Value (USD Million) Analysis and Forecast, by Component, 2019-

2031
Component 2022 H 2004 2025F 2031 F |2n§:3:31]
Software 37236 | 38484 | 40712 | 43301 | 46197 | 4,406 | 52967 | 56920 | 61312 | 66187 | 71570 77413 84433 0%
services 18937 | L9583 | 21298 | 23297 | 2557.2 | 28150 | 31076 | 34905 | 38199 | 42533 | 47450 5,299.0 59712 1.3%
Total 55673 | 58067 | 62010 | 66598 | 71769 | 7755.6 | 84083 | 81325 | 99511 | 108730 | 11,9020 | 130403 | 144151 93%

Regional Overview
North America is expected to exhibit the highest growth over the forecast period.

Global Credit Risk Assessment Market Value (USD Million), by Region, 2023 & 2031
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On the basis of region, the global credit risk assessment market is segmented into North America, Europe, Asia
Pacific, Latin America, and Middle East & Africa. North America accounted for the largest share in the global credit
risk s assessment market and was valued at USD2,340.7 million in 2023, and it is expected to generate USD4,483.1
Million by 2031. Moreover, Asia Pacific is expected to exhibit a CAGR of 11.0% over the forecast period.
Regional Overview

Asia Pacific is expected to witness the highest growth over the forecast period.

Global Credit Risk Assessment Market Value (USD Million) Analysis and Forecast, by Region, 2019-2031

021H NBA  0ME  0BE  2006F 2028F  2029F  2030F  2031F

North America 18595 | 18279 | 20466 | 21851 | 23607 | 25145 | 27087 | 29253 | 31683 | 34024 | 37458 | 40797 | 44831 | 8.6%

Europe 11246 | 11839 | 12761 | 13833 | 15046 | 16811 | 17949 | 19686 | 21651 | 238707 | 26380 | 29173 | 32549 | 103%
Asia Pacific 13584 | 14397 | 15622 | 17048 | 18668 | 20499 | 22571 | 24922 | 27593 | 30635 | 34075 | 37936 | 42611 | 11.0%
Latin America £90.3 78 1431 7845 83L1 a3 9405 | L0047 | 10762 | L1560 | 12435 | 13398 | 14559 | 74%

Middle East & Africa 5345 5474 5730 6021 6337 BET3 7031 7411 7812 8134 8667 9099 80,0 5.3%

Total 55673 | 58067 | 62000 | 66598 | 71769 | 7,7556 | 84043 | 91325 | 99511 | 10,8730 | 11,9020 | 13,0403 | 144151 | 9.3%

Asia Pacific Credit Risk Assessment Market Forecast
The Asia Pacific credit risk assessment market generated a revenue of USD 1,866.8 million in 2023.

Asia Pacific Credit Risk Assessment Market Value (USD Million) Analysis and Forecast
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The Asia Pacific credit risk assessment market is projected growth at a rate of 11.0% between 2024 and 2031. Asia
Pacific credit risk assessment market is expected to be valued at USD4,261.1 Million by 2031, from USD1,866.8
Million in 2023, exhibiting a CAGR of 11.0% over the forecast period. The Asia Pacific region is diverse,
encompassing both developed and emerging markets. Credit risk assessors need to understand the unique challenges
and opportunities presented by the different economic landscapes in countries across the region.

The economic conditions in the Asia Pacific region, including factors like GDP growth, interest rates, and
employment rates, play a crucial role in credit risk assessment. Rapidly growing economies may present both
opportunities and challenges for assessing credit risk. Various countries in the Asia Pacific region have diverse
regulatory environments. Changes in regulations related to data protection, financial services, and credit reporting
can impact the credit risk assessment industry. The incorporation of technologies like artificial intelligence, machine
learning, and digital platforms is expected to play a pivotal role in shaping the industry, particularly in nations
recognized for their technological innovation, impacting the credit risk assessment market.

3. CLOUD INFRASTRUCTURE MARKET IN INDIA

The below information has been derived from the report titled “Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028~
prepared and issued by Netscribes (India) Private Limited

The cloud infrastructure market in India was valued at X 356.19 billion in 2022 and is expected to reach %1,621.10
billion by 2028, expanding at a CAGR of 27.49%, during the 2023 to 2028.

Improved operational efficiency among small and medium-sized businesses (including educational technology
companies, financial technology companies, cooperative banks, as well as the public sector) and the government
sector's adoption of cloud infrastructure solutions have both contributed to the market's recent growth in an upward
direction. The following are the drivers:

Digital transformation
Data localization
Startup ecosystem
E-commerce and retail

Market Definition and Structure

e Cloud computing involves the delivery of computing services such as servers, storage, software, databases,
networking, and analytics to the customer over the internet (generally referred as “the Cloud”).

e In a Cloud computing model, Cloud infrastructure refers to the software and hardware components including

servers, software, network devices, ethernet switches, storage, among other resources that support the entire
computing requirement.
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e Cloud infrastructure is present in all Cloud computing deployment models namely: private Cloud, public Cloud,
and hybrid Cloud.

o In a private Cloud, a company typically owns the components of Cloud infrastructure and operates
them within its own data center.

o  Similarly, in a public Cloud model, the entire Cloud infrastructure is owned and managed by a third-
party Cloud provider.

o A hybrid Cloud model includes a combination of private and public Cloud offerings.
e The Cloud infrastructure market can be segmented based on their type, end-user vertical, and deployment type.

o On basis of type, the market has been categorized as Infrastructure-as-a-Service (“laaS”), Software-
as-a-Service (“SaaS”), and Platform-as-a Service (“PaaS”).

o By end-user vertical, the market has been divided as IT/ITES, E-commerce, communication and
media, telecom, manufacturing, government, transport and logistics, retail (excluding e-commerce),

BFSI, and others.
Information Technology (IT)
Industry

oo

¥,

Cloud Infrastructure Market
Software-as-a- 'Pla_tfann-u-a-
Sarvice (SaaS Service (Paas)
Focus of the report

Cloud Infrastructure Market in India — An Overview

Infrastructure-as-a-

Service (1aas)

In 2022, the cloud infrastructure market in India was valued at ¥356.19 billion. It is expected to reach ¥1,621.10
billion by 2028, expanding at a CAGR of 27.49%, during the 2023 to 2028.

Market size and growth forecast based on value (2020 - 2028e)
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Cloud infrastructure in India is adopted mainly by sectors such as IT, e-commerce, communication and media,
telecom, manufacturing, government, transport and logistics, and retail (excluding e-commerce). The adoption of
cloud infrastructure solutions by the government sector, as well as improved operational efficiency among small
and medium-sized businesses (including ed techs, fintech, cooperative banks, as well as the public sector), have
contributed to the market’s recent expansion in an upward direction. End-user companies are opting for multi-cloud
deployment from more than one service provider to ensure flexibility, and data sovereignty in the increased work-
from-home scenarios post-Covid-19 pandemic. The trend has expanded the potential customer base for the cloud
infrastructure providers.
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The expected infrastructural saturation of Tier 1 cities such as Delhi, Bangalore, Mumbai, Chennai, and Hyderabad,
has also led to cloud infrastructure providers investing in IT/ITeS infrastructure in Tier 2 and Tier 3 cities. Because
of the expected volatility in the economies, the market may be influenced as businesses consider spending on new
cloud services.

Market Drivers

Digital transformation

Indian businesses across various sectors recognized that adopting digital technologies was essential to remain
competitive in the global market. Cloud infrastructure provides the foundation for digital transformation by
offering scalable and flexible computing resources, data storage, and services.

Many organizations in India were burdened with legacy IT systems and processes that hindered agility and
innovation. Cloud platforms allowed them to modernize their IT environments rapidly, enabling the adoption
of new technologies such as artificial intelligence (“Al”), machine learning (“ML”), and loT.

Cloud-based solutions enabled businesses to improve customer experiences through digital channels. E-
commerce platforms, mobile apps, and online customer support systems became more accessible and efficient,
driving customer satisfaction and loyalty.

Cloud infrastructure reduced capital expenses associated with maintaining and upgrading on-premises data
centers. Organizations could shift from a CapEx to an OpEx model, paying only for the resources they used,
leading to cost savings.

Data localization

Data localization refers to regulations that require certain types of data to be stored and processed within the
borders of a specific country. In India, data localization regulations were a significant driver for local cloud
infrastructure services.

To comply with data localization regulations, businesses needed cloud providers with data centers and
infrastructure within India's borders. This created demand for local cloud services and data center facilities.

Data localization addressed concerns about data sovereignty and control. Indian businesses and government
entities felt more secure knowing that their data was stored and processed within the country, reducing the risk
of data breaches or unauthorized access by foreign entities.

Global cloud providers such as AWS, Microsoft Azure, and Google Cloud expanded their presence in India by
opening data centers in various regions. This expansion aimed to meet the demand for localized cloud services
and support compliance requirements.

Startup ecosystem

India's thriving startup ecosystem contributed significantly to the cloud infrastructure market.

Startups often have limited capital and require cost-effective solutions for scaling their operations. Cloud
infrastructure allowed startups to access resources as needed without substantial upfront costs.

Cloud services enabled startups to iterate quickly and experiment with new products and services. This agility
was crucial for innovation and growth.

Startups leveraged cloud-based Al, machine learning, and big data tools to develop innovative solutions in
various domains, including e-commerce, fintech, health tech, etc.

Many startups in India adopted digital business models that relied on cloud services for hosting applications,
websites, and databases.

E-commerce and retail
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e The growth of e-commerce and the retail sector in India had a significant impact on the cloud infrastructure
market.

e E-commerce businesses require scalable infrastructure to handle fluctuations in traffic, especially during peak
seasons. Cloud infrastructure provided the necessary scalability without the need for heavy capital investments.

e Cloud-based supply chain management solutions allowed retailers to streamline their operations, track
inventory in real-time, and enhance logistics and order fulfillment.

e The growth of digital payments and mobile wallets in India relied on cloud infrastructure for secure and efficient
transaction processing.

e E-commerce companies used cloud-based data analytics tools to gain insights into customer behavior, enabling
personalized marketing and product recommendations.

4. AUTOMATED FARE COLLECTION (“AFC”)

The below information has been derived from the report titled “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection
Report” prepared and issued by Global Mass Transit Research.

It is estimated that the AFC market size will increase from USD 11.19 billion in 2022 to nearly USD 17.87 billion
in 2029.

Market Size of AFC Segment
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Market Size for the year 2022 by Sub-Segments (USD million)
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AFC Market Size by Region
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Key Growth Drivers

o  Simplifed fare systems: Simplifying and unifying the fare structure is a key prerequisite for implementing AFC.
Complex fare structure such as network wise, zone wise, or area wise lead to complexity in revenue sharing.

e  Political will: Political will is necessary to implement enabling policy environment. Integration and
interoperability are essential in implementing a seamless ticketing system.

e Availability of support technology: Automated fare system need high speed internet to ensure minimum

friction and fast transaction. Without the support infrastructure, the system cannot provide seamless service to
the customers.

e Institutional integration: Existence of a city-wide or national transit authority aids in ease of implementation
as fare structure, contracting model, risk sharing can be unified across all operators.
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e  Potential for national interoperability: The case of London and Korea highlight that a national policy and
agency responsible for interoperability and nation-wide implementation of AFC system is critical in fast and
wide-spread adoption of the technology. There needs to be a central body willing to own and drive the
specification and oversee the implementation of the ticketing solution including leveraging economies of scale,
for example in back office.

Case Studies

Korea’s first smartcard ticketing system was introduced in Seoul in 1996. However, the system had several problems
such as increasing costs due to technology monopoly by operators, lack of interoperability with other systems, and
operators’ refusal to disclose relevant technological information. Due to these problems, the city government faced
difficulties in operating and maintaining the system as well as utilizing smartcard transaction data needed for
developing transport policies. In 2004, a new smartcard, named T-money, was introduced. T-money is managed by
Korea Smart Card Co., Ltd, a joint venture between Seoul Metropolitan Government and LG Group. To make T-
money work, the Korean government has put a significant effort to develop a national standard for automatic fare
collection. This approach is based on existing international standards, while adapting them for the Korean national
market and creating a national capability in AFC to develop an international market. It took them 1 year to develop
technical specifications and 1 year to develop solution including smartcard, terminal, center systems and etc., and 6
months to build and operate the testing model. By 2009, smartcard usage has reached 96% in Seoul, while average
usage in other cities of about 80%.

Growth in AFC Market by 2029

AFC Market Size Market Size for the year 2029 by Sub-Segments (USD million)
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OUR BUSINESS

Some of the information in this section, including information with respect to our business plans and strategies,
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read “Forward-Looking
Statements” on page 16 for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties related to those statements and “Risk
Factors”, “Financial Information” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” on pages 47, 225 and 97, respectively, for a discussion of certain factors that may affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Our actual results may differ materially from those
expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year. Accordingly, references to a “Fiscal” year are to the 12-month
period ended March 31 of the relevant year. Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, the
financial information included in this section for Fiscal 2021, Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2023 has been derived from
the respective Audited Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-38. The financial information
included in this section for the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 has been derived from our Interim
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1. See, “Financial Information” on page 225.
The Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of our Company are not indicative of our Company’s
annual performance and are not comparable with the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Unless otherwise
stated or the content otherwise requires, references in this section to “our Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”
(including in the context of any financial or operational information) are to us, our Subsidiaries and our Joint
Venture on a consolidated basis. Also, see “Definitions and Abbreviations” on page 21 for certain terms used in
this section.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from the (1) report titled
“Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis Research, (2)
report titled ““Cloud Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028 prepared and issued by Netscribes (India) Private
Limited, (3) report titled “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” prepared and issued by Global Mass
Transit Research and (4) report titled “Global Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends
and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031 ” prepared and issued by Coherent Market Insights. The data included herein
includes excerpts from the aforesaid reports and may have been re-ordered by us for the purposes of presentation.
Unless otherwise indicated, financial, operational, industry and other related information derived from the
aforesaid reports and included herein with respect to any particular calendar year or Fiscal refers to such
information for the relevant calendar year or Fiscal. For more details, see “Industry Overview” on page 128. For
further information, see “Risk Factors - Certain sections of this Preliminary Placement Document disclose
information from the reports titled ““Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape”, “Cloud
Infrastructure Market in India 2023 - 2028”7, “Global Transit Ticketing & Fare Collection Report” and “Global
Credit Risk Management Market — Market Analysis, Insights, Trends and Opportunity Analysis 2024- 2031” and
any reliance on such information for making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks.” on
page 67. Also see “Industry and Market Data” on page 15.

Overview

We are an IT transformation services player in the Asian banking and fintech industry with around 25 years of
experience. With a diversified portfolio of solutions, our focus is on improving operational processes and automating
manual activities to enable enterprises to build better customer experiences. Our solutions cater to retail and
wholesale banking, treasury and capital markets, and payments. In addition, we focus on other areas of technology
innovation including smart mobility and data centre solutions, hybrid cloud services and smart city initiatives. In
Fiscal 2023, our revenue from operations from banking and fintech accounted for 52.13% of our total revenue from
operations, while our revenue from technology innovation accounted for 47.87% of our total revenue from
operations.

Our Subsidiary, Integro Technologies Pte Ltd., has been recognized as a category leader in the Chartis’s RiskTech
Quadrant for loan origination solutions, collateral management solutions, limits management solutions for 2022 in
the report titled “Credit Lending Operations, 2022 — Market and Vendor Landscape” prepared and issued by Chartis
Research. Further, we have received numerous awards over the years, including “Best Transaction Banking
Implementation” at the 5™ IBS Intelligence Global FinTech Innovation Awards in 2023, “Best Technology Brand”
by Economic Times under the Best Tech Brands category in 2022, and “Technology Excellence Award” in the digital
technology category at the Asian Technology Excellence Awards 2022 for our automatic fare collection system.
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We cater to a diverse customer base, spanning various industries such as banking and financial services,
telecommunications, IT, data centers, capital markets, public sector units, government undertakings and transit. As
of December 31, 2023, we have served more than 200 customers and have long-standing relationships with our top
10 customers (in terms of revenue from operations in the nine months ended December 31, 2023), averaging over
eight years. Further, our revenue base is geographically diversified. As of December 31, 2023, we have served
customers in over 30 countries including Singapore, USA, Thailand and UAE. In Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023 and
the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, our revenue from operations from customers located outside
India was X 21,453.06 lakhs, ¥ 25,255.19 lakhs, ¥ 28,546.67 lakhs, X 21,995.36 lakhs and X 27,777.59 lakhs,
respectively, representing 57.36%, 50.01%, 43.30%, 46.93% and 43.36% of our revenue from operations during
such years/ periods, respectively.

Over the years, we have expanded our presence and capabilities through strategic partnerships. For instance, in the
banking space, we have formed a partnership to offer our “SmartLender” trade limits solution alongside our partner’s
trade innovation solution. Similarly in the transit business, we have formed strategic partnerships with technology
companies to develop contactless smart transit solution for transit agencies and operators and open-loop ticketing
and payments systems for transport operators across India. In addition to the partnerships in the transit space, we
have also developed capabilities to cater to customers in the data centre industry.

We prioritise innovation and research and development (“R&D”) through multiple initiatives, through a
combination of solutions we design as responses to customer requests, as well as proactive efforts to identify
marketable solutions. In the past, we launched several solutions as a result of our R&D activities. For instance, we
launched EMV Card Type Payment Terminal (ECR-one), which is capable of accepting both RuPay open loop cards
and EMV global payment cards. In Fiscal 2021, 2022, and 2023 and the nine months ended December 31, 2022 and
2023, our total expenditure on R&D activities amounted to X 1,904.22 lakhs, X 2,758.17 lakhs, X 4,534.48 lakhs, X
2,944.35 lakhs, and X 4,643.30 lakhs, respectively, representing 5.09%, 5.46%, 6.88%, 6.28% and 7.25% of our
revenue from operations, respectively.

We have strong execution capabilities, encompassing our ability to effectively plan, implement, and deliver
solutions to our customers. Our execution capabilities are led by team of professionals, comprising 2,295 employees
and 57 consultants, as of December 31, 2023, who possess domain expertise, technical skills, and industry
knowledge, enabling us to understand customer requirements and execute projects efficiently. We prioritize
innovation in our execution processes, constantly adapting to changing customer needs and market dynamics. As of
December 31, 2023, we had 2,295 employees, with varied levels of experience. We place a strong emphasis on
fostering a positive and inclusive work culture and we have been certified as a Great Place to Work organization.

We are led by our Promoter and Chairman and Managing Director, Paresh Chandulal Zaveri who has several years
of experience in general management and strategic planning. Our other Promoter and Co-Chairman and the Non-
executive Non Independent Director, Amit Rameshchandra Sheth has experience in the technology industry. We
believe that the strength of our Board and management team and their experience has enabled us to take advantage
of market opportunities and to better serve our customers.

We believe that we have established operational drivers that have helped deliver us growth in terms of revenue and
profitability. Our revenue from operations has increased from X 37,401.77 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to % 65,933.16 lakhs
in Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 32.77% whereas our EBITDA has increased from % 8,376.50 lakhs in Fiscal 2021 to
14,461.07 lakhs in Fiscal 2023 at a CAGR of 31.39%. Further, our diversified offerings and customer base built
over the years, have led to our order book growing from X 72,601.00 lakhs as of March 31, 2021 to X 91,122.31
lakhs, as of March 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we had an order book of ¥ 87,185.64 lakhs and
92,604.13 lakhs. This demonstrates our ability to meet customer demands and the scalable nature of our business.

Strengths

IT transformation services player in the Asian banking and fintech industry with a diversified portfolio of
solutions

We offer advanced technology solutions that enable enterprises to drive digital innovation securely and efficiently.
Our solutions are designed to improve operational processes and automate manual activities, helping enterprises
build better experiences for their customers. Our solutions cater to retail and wholesale banking, treasury and cap